'/ Yee Hop Holdings Limited

N REERBRQFE
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RESREEMAZNERAA)

Stock Code BRDMXSR : 1662

- g
NN 8

ANNUAL
REPORT

2024/25
& %




CONTENTS E %

2
4

18
39
47
70
77

Corporate Information 78 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
NAIER e BRI &

Chairman’s Statement 80 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FRERE maknEER

Management Discussion and Analysis 81 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EIRE MO melengx

Corporate Governance Report 83 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
hEERWmE ima IR M

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management 1 89 Five Year Financial Summary
EERARERERE T FEMBEHRE

Report of Directors 1 90 Glossary

Exg®wE ERAE
Independent Auditor’s Report
J8 N A% BRI R

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

FeEBmEMEEKER



Corporate Information

DNEEF

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin (Chairman)

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming (Vice-chairman)

Mr. YAN Chi Tat (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick

Non-executive Director:
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (Chairman)
Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. YU Hon Kwan (Chairman)

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel (appointed on 27 June 2025)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. YU Hon Kwan (Chairman)

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHONG Man Hung Jeffrey

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. YAN Chi Tat
Mr. CHONG Man Hung Jeffrey

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 AR A7)

HE

BITES:
EREEE (X
REBAKRE (BIEFE)
B ESE (TR
RIESTE

FHITESE:
FRAXL

BYFHITES !
FHkEE
REMTE
ITEEkE

BREEY
I ()
T

By Pt

REZE®

FOEH A (EFE)

TEREE

TRk EE

ZBEEL+ (20256 427 B EET)

FMESS
RE % (ER)
RRBE A
THBEL
=Rk

DNEME
FESOH L

RENAR
WAL
ST A

B BEN
EKRA (B8 B EHHAARAA



Corporate Information

QREEHR

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman

KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Units 1104-06

Nan Fung Commercial Centre

19 Lam Lok Street

Kowloon Bay

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman

KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.yee-hop.com.hk

STOCK CODE
01662

FEHESEMBER
Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman

KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

EEANRTELERME

B
nEEH
5195
EELELIN
1104-06%

FEREROVBFETHARE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman

KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

EREROBFETTRE

HIEBEAEELAR AR
B

B RBE165%
BRSSP OTIE

FEERRIT
PEERRT(EMN ROBERAF
ERRIT(FE)BRAA
ERIRIT(BB)BERAA
BELBESRITARDA
BARTARAT

ANGIEEN

www.yee-hop.com.hk

B AR AR

01662

Annual Report 2024/25 ik 03



04

Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the provision of foundation
(including the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel
H-piles and driven steel H piles) and other civil works (including site
formation works, and road and pavement works) and tunneling
works (including pipe jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-cover
tunnel works) in Hong Kong and overseas, and (ii) premises
revitalisation and enhancement business in the PRC.

The Group has also invested in an associate for the purpose of the
development of the Birmingham Property Project. The Birmingham
Property Project consists of 304 residential apartments situated at
the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the United Kingdom. As at 31
March 2025, about 96.7% of the apartments have been sold.

RESULT SUMMARY

During the 2025 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$1,108.5 million, representing an
increase of 33.2% from the 2024 Corresponding Year. Gross
profit of the Group amounted to HK$137.0 million, an increase of
47.0% from the 2024 Corresponding Year. Profit attributable to
owners of Company amounted to HK$39.8 million representing an
increase 80.5% as compared to that in the 2024 Corresponding
Year. Earnings per share was HK$0.08 for the 2025 Financial Year
comparing with HK$0.04 for the 2024 Corresponding Year. The
Group maintains healthy financial position with net current assets of
HK$225.1 million and net cash position at the financial year end.

With the dedicated support of our staff and customers, the Group
has been awarded 11 contracts with original contract sums of
totalling HK$3,049.6 million and the outstanding contract value
(based on the original contract value) as at 31 March 2025
amounted to approximately HK$4,715.3 million.

OUTLOOK

The Group’s dedicated focus on connecting core scientific and
innovative research with universities in Hong Kong underscores its
commitment to driving progress and improving quality of life. By
consistently developing valuable and innovative technologies, the
Group aims to not only advance green industries but also contribute
to the low-carbon transformation of Hong Kong and the Greater
Bay Area.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

To support re-industrialization in Hong Kong, the Group built the
world’s first Wisepura Aquapura smart micro factory in collaboration
with APEL and the Productivity Council, which was officially launched
in June 2025. In promoting the process of “Industry 4.0,” the
APEL Wisepura Aquapura smart micro factory integrates advanced
technologies such as artificial intelligence, the Internet of Things, and
big data into the manufacturing process. This integration enables
intelligent monitoring and automated management, enhancing
overall operational efficiency and product quality. To address the
impact of sudden temperature increases during the mixing process
on the structure and performance of smart silicon microcapsules,
the factory has installed a customized intelligent temperature control
system driven by Physical Al, ensuring product quality stability.

Additionally, the factory is equipped with a Human-Machine
Interface (HMI), Programmable Logic Controllers (PLC), and
Clean-In-Place (CIP) systems to improve production efficiency and
flexibility. An Industrial Internet of Things (lloT) monitoring system
is also implemented to monitor electricity consumption in real time,
effectively optimizing energy management. Furthermore, the use of
Just-In-Time (JIT) production applications helps reduce warehouse
backlog and resource waste, fully promoting efficient operations in
smart manufacturing.

Through the concepts of lean management and intelligent
manufacturing, APEL's first Wisepura Aquapura smart micro factory
has successfully integrated customized production technologies,
mechanical automation, and data visualization in a limited space.
This enables flexible small-batch custom production and achieves
“Industry 4.0's 1i maturity level,” paving the way for the application
of Physical Al. Though the continuous development, artificial
intelligence and computing power will be used to analyze and
predict production data, to further optimise production lines to
achieve the goal of Industry 4.0.

Looking ahead, the Group recognizes the importance of strategic
preparations for the commercialization of its R&D technologies. The
Group plans to actively recruit outstanding talents in the areas of
commercial sales, research and development, and manufacturing.
This strategic talent acquisition will equip the Group with the
necessary expertise and capabilities to effectively translate its
innovative research and development into tangible, market-ready
solutions.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

APPRECIATION

I would like to this opportunity to express my heartfelt appreciation
to the Board members, management team and staff for their
dedication and their valuable contributions.

| would also like to thank our customers, subcontractors and
suppliers, other business partners and, most importantly, our
Shareholders of their continue support to the Group for the past
years.

Jim Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a long established contractor in Hong Kong and is
principally engaged in the provision of foundation works (including
the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel H-piles and driven
steel H piles, and other civil work, including site formation works,
and road and pavement works) and tunneling works (including pipe
jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-over tunnel works) in Hong
Kong and overseas.

In late March 2021, the Group has diversified and expanded to
premises revitalisation and enhancement business by entering into
two cooperation agreements which relate to premises situated in
Guangzhou, a first-tier city in the PRC. As at 31 March 2025, the
Group has entered into four cooperation agreements which relate
to premises situated in Guangzhou and the aggregate estimated
gross leasable areas after renovation and enhancement works is
approximately 79,000 square meters.

The Group has also invested in an associate company for the
purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property Project. The
Birmingham Property Project consists of 304 residential apartments
situated at the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the United Kingdom.
As at 31 March 2025, 96.4% of the apartments have been sold and
the share of loss from the Birmingham Property Project for the 2025
Financial Year was approximately HK$838,000.

The Group has entered into a framework agreement with The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology (the “"HKUST") for the
establishment of a joint laboratory bearing the name “HKUST-AP
EnviroSci Ltd. Joint Laboratory on Health and Environmental
Innovations” (the “Joint Lab”) for a period of five years from
October 2023. During the term of the framework agreement, the
Group will provide funding in support of a sponsored research
project, a mix-funding research project and research-related events
and student sponsorship, covering the following research topics: (i)
environmental hygiene and sanitation; (ii) air and water purifications;
(iii) net-zero, circular resource utilization; and (iv) energy-saving
decarbonization processes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNWR D

In March 2024, the Group also launched the “APEL Biomedical
Technology Innovation and Translational Commercial Laboratory”
(the “Comm Lab"”) in the Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks
(the "HKSTP”). The establishment of the Comm Lab represents
the first phase of APEL's strategic plan to set up a presence within
the Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks (HKSTP) ecosystem.
This initiative aligns with the Group’s vision to position the Comm
Lab as a central hub that will integrate its biomedical and new
materials businesses, facilitate research and development activities,
drive the transformation of applications, and ultimately, enable
the commercialisation of its R&D endeavors. By leveraging the
resources and collaborative opportunities available within the HKSTP
environment, the Group is poised to amplify its impact, accelerate
its business diversification, and solidify its position as a leader in the
biomedical and new materials technology sectors.

In light of the sluggish market conditions and financial
underperformance of the mining industry in the Philippines,
we made the strategic decision to dispose of our operations in
Philippines. This divestment, which resulted in a gain of disposal
of subsidiaries of approximately HK$4.2 million during the 2025
financial year, allows us to reallocate resources more effectively
and focus on more profitable markets. This decision was driven by
the need to enhance operational efficiency, adapt to regulatory
challenges, and align with our broader strategic goals of optimizing
our portfolio and strengthening our financial position.

In contrast, 2025 was marked by several key events that reinforced
our health and environmental innovations business through our
subsidiary, Absolute Pure EnviroSci Limited (“APEL"). In February
2025, APEL participated in the 2025 Pet Show, the largest pet
exhibition in Hong Kong, showcasing its innovative pet care
products alongside over 1,000 exhibitors. APEL also ventured into
international markets by attending the Pet Fair South East Asia
2024 in Bangkok, Thailand, marking its first overseas exhibition and
opening doors to new opportunities. Furthermore, APEL participated
in the Osaka World Expo, starting in April 2025, as a platform to
showcase its advanced technologies on an international scale,
further solidifying its global presence.

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &A% H R A A
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE Wk

APEL achieved significant progress in product and technology
development during 2025, particularly in the pet care and household
segments. In addition to launching “The Pet Care Trio” (deodorizer,
itch relief, and skin healer) by GERMAGIC™ PET, APEL introduced
additional products such as antibacterial wipes, cleaning gloves,
a bed bug repellent, an antimicrobial floor cleaner, and ear rinse,
addressing diverse consumer needs. The Group also launched
new electrical appliances for pets, including a Cat Litter House,
Air Purifier, and Pet Deodorizer, further broadening its product
offerings. In December 2024, APEL secured a supply contract worth
approximately HK$3.5 million with the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. According to this contract, APEL will
supply the University with our innovative products, “Wisepura
Aquapura,” which are controlled-release fragrance and disinfection
products intended to enhance and protect environmental health
through water sanitation and air purification in drainage supply and
treatment facilities and/or networks at different districts in Hong
Kong. These products target multiple water quality and air quality
parameters, particularly addressing odors and microorganisms in the
water supply infrastructure (including toilet cisterns and drainage
treatment networks and their connections). They are designed with
durability in mind, featuring a smart release mechanism that can last
for at least 30 days.

For the 2025 Financial Year, the revenue of the Group increased
to approximately HK$1,108.5 million (2024 Corresponding Year:
HK$832.1 million), an increase of 33.2%.

During the 2025 Financial Year, the Group has been awarded 11
contracts with original contract sums of approximately HK$3,049.6
million of which 8 contracts are for foundation and other civil works
and 3 contracts are for tunneling works in the sum of approximately
HK$1,942.5 million and HK$1,107.1 million respectively. Among
the contracts awarded, there are two construction projects with
aggregate estimated contract sum of approximately HK$2,000
million with a contract period of eight years.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 28 major contracts
on hands with the outstanding contract value in Hong Kong
(based on the original contract value) amounted to approximately
HK$4,715.3 million (as at 31 March 2024: HK$1,423.3 million) to be
completed.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNWR D

SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
The Group has placed strong emphasis on its quality assurance
systems. We have strong commitment to works' quality, safety,
occupational health and environmental management to ensure
delivery of quality works to the customers on a timely basis.

The Group has implemented a stringent management system to
regulate its works’ quality, safety and environmental management
standards, which complies with international standards. The
Group has met the requirements of I1SO 9001, ISO 14001, I1SO
45001 and ISO 50001 accreditation for our quality management
system, environmental management system, energy management
system and occupational safety and health management system
respectively.

Same as previous years, the Group has maintained accident rates at
the construction sites lower than the industry average.

KEY AWARDS

During the 2025 Financial Year, the Group received several
prestigious awards from Hong Kong government departments,
public utility companies, and industry organizations, recognising its
unwavering commitment to upholding the highest standards of site
safety. The accolades include:

- Certificate of Appreciation - Pioneering Worker
Appreciation by Construction Industry Council

- Certificate of Appreciation — Caring Company Appreciation
by Construction Industry Council

- Workplace Corporate Creativity Awards 2024 by The Lok
Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon, Smoking Cessation
Program in Workplace

Leveraging the Group’s unparalleled leadership team, its
commitment to innovation has garnered recognition from both
local and international organisations. This success highlights the
Company’s exceptional research capabilities and its readiness to
tackle global challenges with advanced technologies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE Wk

Pioneering Breakthroughs Shine at 49th International
Exhibition of Inventions Geneva:

o Gold Medal - Low-carbon Multi-purpose Silica Encapsulating
Technology

o Gold Medal - Light-based Devices for Disinfection and
Deodorization

° Bronze Medal - Safe and Environmentally Friendly Multilevel
Antimicrobial & Pest-Repellent Formulated Products

Other Recognitions:

- Gold Award in Carbon in Neutrality and Sustainable
Development Award from Hong Kong Inheritage Foundation

- Environmental Protection, Energy Saving and New
Energy, New Materials Award in Greater Bay Area New
Quality Productive Force Enterprise Award from Hong Kong
International Family Office Association

- New Industrialization Award - Bronze from The Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers — Manufacturing, Industrial &
Systems Industry Award 2024-2025

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the 2025 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$1,108.5 million, an increase of
approximately 33.2% when compared with the revenue of
approximately HK$832.1 million for the 2024 Corresponding
Year. The increase in revenue is mainly due to the increase in the
revenue of foundation and other civil works by approximately
HK$262.9 million, and rental income and management fee income
of approximately HK$12.8 million recognised for the 2025 Financial
Year.

Revenue from the foundation and other civil works segment
increased from approximately HK$670.6 million for the 2024
Corresponding Year to approximately HK$933.5 million for the 2025
Financial Year, an increase of approximately 39.2%. The increase
in the revenue of the foundation works was primarily due to the
increase in the number of projects tendered and commenced and
also the full swing of several projects during the 2025 Financial Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNWR D

Revenue from the tunneling works segment for the 2025 Financial
Year amounted to approximately HK$144.9 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 1.0% from the 2024 Corresponding Year.
The decrease in revenue from tunneling works is due to the decrease
in the number of ongoing projects during the 2025 Financial Year.

Rental income and management fee income under premises
revitalization and enhancement business increased from
approximately HK$15.1 million for the 2024 Corresponding Year
to approximately HK$28.0 million for the 2025 Financial Year,
representing an increase of approximately 84.9%. Following the
reopening of borders of the PRC in January 2023 and the better
economic environment expected, the overall occupancy rate
increased from approximately 51.4% for the 2024 Corresponding
Year to approximately 79.0% for the 2025 Financial Year.

Revenue of approximately HK$2.1 million derived from the health
and environmental innovations business during the 2025 Financial
Year, which included under the “other segment.” Continued
investment in research and development has reinforced our position
as a leader in sustainable and innovative technologies, ensuring
long-term growth and competitiveness in the global market.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The overall gross profit of the Group increased from approximately
HK$93.2 million for the 2024 Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$137.0 million for the 2025 Financial Year, representing an
increase of approximately 47.6%.

The gross profit in relation to the foundation and other civil works
increased by approximately HK$57.7 million from approximately
HK$55.8 million for the 2024 Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$113.5 million for the 2025 Financial Year. The increase of gross
profit is mainly due to increase in revenue as the full swing of several
projects during the year which lead to the increase in gross profit.

Gross profit in relation to tunneling works decreased by
approximately HK$20.7 million from approximately HK$44.5 million
for the 2024 Corresponding Year to approximately HK$23.8 million
for the 2025 Financial Year. The decrease in gross profits is mainly
due to the increased costs for the pre-tunneling work for the new
projects such as design and preparation work incurred during the
2025 Financial Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE Wk

The gross loss in relation to the premises revitalization and
enhancement decreased by approximately HK$5.7 million from
approximately HK$7.5 million for the 2024 Corresponding Year
to approximately HK$1.8 million for the 2025 Financial Year. The
decrease in gross loss was mainly due to the increase in rental
income and management fee income of approximately HK$12.8
million and other operation costs.

The gross profit under the health and environmental innovations
was approximately HK$1.5 million for the 2025 Financial Year,
with a gross profit margin of approximately 72.8%. The gross
profit primarily derived from the sales of pet care products and
Wisepura Aquapura products. These results reflect the successful
commercialization of our innovative product offerings, supported
by effective cost management and a strong focus on high-margin
product segments.

Other income and gain

Other income and gain for the 2025 Financial Year amounted to
HK$18.2 million, comparing with that of HK$20.1 million for the
2024 Corresponding Year. The increase in other income and gain
is mainly due to combined effect of a gain on termination of lease
agreement of approximately HK$3.7 million recognised in the 2025
Financial Year, and a decrease in sales of materials of approximately
HK$7.2 million and service income received from joint operations
and an associate of approximately HK$888,000.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the 2025 Financial Year
amounted to HK$3.7 million, comparing with that of HK$1.5 million
for the 2024 Corresponding Year. The selling and distribution
expenses consist mainly marketing and promotion expenses incurred
by the premises revitalisation and enhancement business, and health
and Environmental Innovations business.

Administrative and other expenses

Administrative and other expenses for the 2025 Financial Year
amounted to HK$95.1 million, comparing with that of HK$76.2
million for the 2024 Corresponding Year. The increase in
administrative and other expenses is mainly attributable to the
increase in research and development expenses of approximately
of HK$4.4 million incurred for our health and environmental
innovations business, the increase in staff costs of approximately
HK$5.4 million as our increase in headcounts, the increase in
depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$4.5 million and other general corporate expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNWR D

Research and development expenses for the 2025 Financial Year
amounted to approximately HK$6.5 million, comparing with that
of approximately HK$2.1 million for the 2024 corresponding Year.
The research and development expenses consist mainly laboratory
testing expenses and upfront and milestone payments made to the
Joint Lab with the HKUST.

Finance costs

Finance cost of the Group for the 2025 Financial Year is
approximately HK$17.2 million, compared to approximately
HK$14.4 million for the 2024 Corresponding Year. The increase
in finance cost is mainly attributable to the increase in interests on
lease liabilities from the premises revitalisation and enhancement
business during the 2025 Financial Year.

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of an associate relates to the Group’s 40% interest in
an associate for the purpose of developing the Birmingham Property
Project. The Group’s share of loss of an associate for the 2025
Financial Year is approximately HK$838,000.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expense for the 2025 Financial Year is approximately
HK$13.6 million (2024 Corresponding Year: approximately HK$8.0
million). The change is mainly due to the increase in the assessable
profits and the decrease in the deferred tax assets recognized in the
2025 Financial Year.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company

The consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$39.8 million for the 2025 Financial
Year when compared to approximately HK$22.1 million for the
2024 Corresponding Year, an increase of 80.5%.

Return on total assets for the 2025 Financial Year increased to
4.0%, from 2.1% for the 2024 Corresponding Year. The increase is
due to the increase in profits for the year. Return on equity for the
2025 Financial Year is 8.3% when compared to 4.4% for the 2024
Corresponding Year. The increase is due to the increase in profits
attributable to the owners of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE Wk

Capital expenditure

The Group incurred capital expenditure, primarily on buildings,
investment properties, machinery and equipment and motor
vehicles, of approximately HK$14.2 million for the 2025 Financial
Year, (2024 Corresponding Year: approximately HK$29.6 million)
which was financed by internal resources and borrowings.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$151.0 million (as at 31 March 2024: HK$166.7
million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$92.4 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$96.9 million) out of which approximately HK$89.1 million (as
at 31 March 2024: HK$57.8 million) were classified as current
liabilities.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had lease liabilities of
approximately HK$255.3 million (as at 31 March 2024: HK$293.2
million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$225.1 million (as at 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$266.8 million).

The Group's current ratio (which is calculated on the basis of current
assets over current liabilities) as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024 was approximately 1.7 times and 2.0 times respectively. The
gearing ratio (which is calculated on the basis of total debt over total
equity. Total debt includes bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024
was approximately 78.0% and 81.4% respectively.

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s capital commitments relating
to the renovation work of investment properties and purchase of
machinery and equipment was approximately HK$13.4 million (as at
31 March 2024: HK$33.2 million).

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has pledged to other financial
institutions deposits of approximately in total HK$39.1 million
(31 March 2024: HK$39.3 million) to secure the banking facilities
granted to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNWR D

Segmental information
Details of segmental information are set out in the note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Significant Investment

The Group’s significant investment comprised interest in an associate
for the purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property
Project. The Group’s interest in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method and the
carrying amount of the interest in an associate represented 6.5%
of the Group's total assets as at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024:
6.2%).

Investment Strategy

The Birmingham Property Project is developed for the purpose of
participating in the property related business in the United Kingdom.
As at 31 March 2025, 96.4% of the apartments of the Birmingham
Property Project have been sold and the Group intends to dispose
the remaining apartments in the near future.

Foreign exchange risk management

Apart from the interest in an associate of which the underlining
functional currency is GBP, and the subsidiaries in the Philippines
and the PRC of which the underling functional currencies are PHP
and RMB respectively, the revenue, expenses, monetary assets and
liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar
(which is the presentation currency of the financial information),
same as the functional currency of the Group.

For the 2025 Financial Year, apart from the interest in an associate
in the United Kingdom and subsidiaries in the Philippines and the
PRC, there was no significant exposure to the foreign currency
rate fluctuations from the operations of the Group. The Group
did not maintain any hedging policy against foreign currency risk.
The management will closely monitor the exposure to the foreign
currency risk and will consider hedging significant currency exposure
should the need arise.

Contingent liabilities

Details of contingent liabilities are set out in the note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE Wk

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has 354 employees in Hong
Kong (as at 31 March 2024: 354), 0 employees in the Philippines
(as at 31 March 2024: 30) and 38 employees in PRC (as at 31
March 2024: 44). The remuneration package of the Group for
its employees includes salary, bonuses, other cash subsidies and
allowances. In general, employee salaries are determined based on
each employee’s qualifications, experience and capability and the
market remuneration rate. The Group has an annual review system
to assess the performance of our employees, which forms the
basis with respect to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions.
Some in-house site staff are employed as daily workers and their
remuneration package includes salary and overtime allowances.
The employee remuneration expense and Directors’ emoluments
(including salaries, other benefits and retirement benefit costs)
amounted to approximately HK$189.8 million (2024 Corresponding
Year: HK$176.5 million) for the 2025 Financial Year.

In addition, to provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests
of the Group, the Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme
and a Share Award Plan on 25 November 2015 and 17 April 2024,
respectively. The objectives of these two schemes are to recognise
and reward the contribution of eligible participants to the growth
and development of the Group and to give incentives to eligible
participants in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group, and to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends has been paid by the Group during the 2025

Financial Year (2024 Corresponding Year: Nil).

A special dividend of HK$0.10 per share has been paid by the Group
during the 2025 Financial Year (2024 Corresponding Year: Nil).
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Corporate Governance Report
SEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and senior management of the Company is committed to
achieve a high standard of corporate governance, to formulate good
corporate governance practice for improvement of accountability
and transparency in operations, and to strengthen the internal
control and risk management systems from time to time so as
to ensure to protect the rights of the shareholders and enhance
shareholder value.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG
Code under Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the code provision of the CG Code during the 2025
Financial Year.

CULTURES AND VALUES

The Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive
culture with the following core principles and to ensure that the
Company’s vision, values and business strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities and
operations. The Directors, management and staff are all
required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the
required standards and norms are explicitly set out in the
training materials for all new staff and embedded in various
policies such as the Group’s Employee Handbook (including
therein the Group’s code of conduct), the Anti-corruption
Policy and the Whistleblowing Policy of the Group. Trainings
are conducted from time to time to reinforce the required
standards in respect of ethics and integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to
workforce development, workplace safety and health,
diversity, and sustainability is one where people have a feeling
of commitment and emotional engagement with the Group’s
mission. This sets the tone for a strong, productive workforce
that attracts, develops, and retains the best talent and
produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the Company’s
strategy in the business development and management are
to achieve long-term, steady and sustainable growth, while
having due considerations from environment, social and
governance aspects.
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERHRE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiries
with all the Directors and all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the standards required by the Model Code
during the 2025 Financial Year (the “CG Reporting Period”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging its
corporate accountability. The Directors, individually and collectively,
must act in good faith in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders and fulfill their fiduciary duties by applying the required
level of skills, care and diligence to a standard in accordance with
the statutory requirements.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating Group policies and business
directions, and monitoring internal controls and performances. The
management has been delegated the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the operations of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees,
namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance with the Model Code, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Composition of the Board

As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprises eight members who
include four Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and
three Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report
EXRERHRE

The current Board members are:
Name Present position

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin
Director

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Director

Executive Director

Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

The composition of the Board has a balance and diverse skill,
experience and professional knowledge in construction business, as
well as finance, accounting and legal expertise appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Group.

The biographies details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report. Save as those disclosed in this annual report, there is
no family relationship among the Directors.

As permitted under the Articles, the Company has arranged
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance in respect of any legal
actions which may be taken against Directors and management in
execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirement of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
Board and with at least one Independent Non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Board is headed by Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin, the chairman with
the assistance of Mr. Chui Mo Ming, the Vice chairman. The roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Yan Chi Tat, are
segregated and not exercised by the same individual.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective running
of the Board and ensuring that all material issues are discussed by
the Board in a timely and constructive manner. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for the management of the Group’s business
and the implementation of the approved strategies of the Group. In
addition, each Executive Director is responsible for the management
of the different functions of the business of the Group.
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With the support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman ensures
that all the Directors are properly briefed on issues arising from
Board meetings and be provided with adequate information in a
timely manner.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three Independent Non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board. These Independent Non-executive Directors
are individuals from diversified backgrounds and industries and
one member has appropriate accounting and related financial
management expertise.

The Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role in
the Board as they bring an impartial view on the Group’s strategies,
performance and control, as well as ensure that the interests of
all shareholders are considered. All Independent Non-executive
Directors possess appropriate academic, professional qualifications or
related financial management experience. None of the Independent
Non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are made available to the
Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are committed
to assess the Directors’ independence annually with regards to all
relevant factors related to the Independent Non-executive Directors
including the following:

o required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability
to fulfill their roles;

° time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

° firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

o declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as Independent
Non-executive Directors;

o no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor
in any relationship or circumstances which would affect the
exercise of their independent judgement; and

o the Chairman meets with the Independent Non-executive
Directors regularly without the presence of the Executive
Directors.

The Board has conducted an annual review on these mechanisms
and considered they are in place and are effective.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers such Directors to be independent in accordance
with the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
or letter of appointment with the Company with a fixed term,
subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles
of the Company.

According to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
re-election. Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement or
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years,
subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with Articles of
the Company.

Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors may terminate his/her appointment by giving a
three-month/one-month prior written notice to the Company
or in accordance with the terms set out in the respective service
agreement or letter of appointment.

Article 112 of the Articles of the Company provides that any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the existing Board in the Board shall hold office until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting.

To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an
Independent Non-executive Director who has served the Board for
more than nine years will be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by shareholders. We will state in the related circular
and notice of the AGM the reason why we consider the relevant
Independent Non-executive Director is still independent and our
recommendation to shareholders to vote in favour of the re-election
of such Independent Non-executive Director. During the year ended
31 March 2025, Mr. Yu Hon Kwan, Mr. Wong Chi Keung Johnny
and Mr. Lee Luk Shiu, current Independent Non-executive Directors,
have served the Board for more than nine years.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee for overseeing specific
aspects of the Company’s affair under its defined scope of duties
and term of reference. The terms of reference of each of the Board
Committees are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Details of each committee are discussed below.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. A
revised terms of reference has been adopted on 30 December 2022
to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised terms of
reference of the Audit Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are, among other things, to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control and risk management
systems of the Group.

As at 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee consists of three
members who are the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, Mr. YU Hon Kwan and Mr. WONG Chi Keung
Johnny. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. LEE Luk Shiu.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had held
three meetings and performed following work:

o Reviewed the Group’s audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2024 in conjunction with the Auditor and the
unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2024,

o Reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 which
are set out in the annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2024;

o Reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

o Reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function
performed by independent professional adviser;

o Reviewed the risk assessment and internal control report and
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
system,;

o Reviewed the continuing connected transactions conducted by
the Group; and

o Considered and made recommendations on the
re-appointment of the Auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.

The External Auditors have been invited to attend Audit Committee
meetings without the presence of the Executive Directors to discuss
with the Audit Committee issues arising from the audit and financial
reporting matters. There is no disagreement between the Board and
the Audit Committee regarding the re-appointment of the External
Auditors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee pursuant
to a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
A revised terms of reference has been adopted on 30 December
2022 to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are, among other things,
to review and to determine the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and
senior management, including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment and to review and/or
approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee consists of
four members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has
held six meetings. The major work performed by the Remuneration
Committee include reviewing the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management with reference to the remuneration level
of comparable companies, and responsibilities, performance and
contributions of Directors and senior management. No Director is
allowed to take part in any discussion about his own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee has also reviewed the share award
plan adopted by the Company on 17 April 2024 and the purchase
of shares by trustee for the purpose of share award plan during the
CG Reporting Period.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and the five highest
paid employees are set out in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of remuneration of the members of senior management by
band for the 2025 Financial Year are set out below:
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. A
revised term of reference has been adopted on 30 December 2022
to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary function of
the Nomination Committee is to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and the
management of the Board succession. It also oversees the diversity
policy of the Group.

As at 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee consists of four
members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Nomination Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
held one meeting. The major work performed by the Nomination
Committee include assessing the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, reviewing the rotation of the Directors for
the re-election at the AGM and reviewing the composition, the size
and the diversity of the Board in accordance with the Board Diversity
Policy adopted by the Company.

Pursuant to the CG Code, a separate ordinary resolution will be
proposed at the 2025 AGM for Shareholders to consider and
approve the re-election of the retiring Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy (the "Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. While
all Board appointments will continue to the made on a merit basis,
the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of
the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on
the Company’s Board Nomination Policy and a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise),
ethnicity, skills and knowledge and length of service.
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In terms of the overall capability and professionalism, the Board
achieved a balance among operational judgment and management
capabilities, accounting and financial analytical capabilities, crisis
management capabilities, industry knowledge, leadership, and
decision-making capabilities. As of the date of this annual report,
the Board has one female Director out of eight Directors. The Board
will maintain at the least the current level of female representation
on the Board, and in any event not less than the requirements
under the Listing Rules. The Board is committed to further enhance
gender diversity as and when suitable candidates are identified.
The Board will ensure that an appropriate balance of gender
diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices. Similar
considerations shall also be applied for selecting potential candidate
of the senior management team from time to time.

As of 31 March 2025, 12.0% of our colleagues are female. The
Board considers that the gender ratio of the workforce of the
Group, including the Senior Management, is appropriate for the
operations of the Group and will strive to maintain this ratio. Same
as the gender diversity of the Board, the Company targets to avoid
a single gender senior workforce and will timely review the gender
diversity of the senior workforce in accordance with the business
development of the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
Directors. The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the
Board members as of the date of this annual report:
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Name of Directors BEEHR 50 -595% 6057 & Ak
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin BRI A v
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming HRB L E Vv
Mr. YAN Chi Tat BEERE v
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick S v
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel FEFEZT v
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FREIR A vV
Mr. YU Hon Kwan A e o A vV
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FE®EE Vv
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TEERBE
Professional Experience
CE 04
Business
Engineering management
and Accounting and
construction Law and Finance development
Name of Directors BEpg IRRESE pixed B RBE EBEEREE
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERBEE |
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming BRALE |
Mr. YAN Chi Tat mEELE V
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RlER A v
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel FRERL |
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRkiE |
Mr. YU Hon Kwan RESLE V
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny ok ke |

The Board and the Nomination Committee have reviewed the
Board Diversity Policy and considered it to be effective for the 2025
Financial Year.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Nomination Policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations
to Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or
appointment as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria
The factors listed below will be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

1. reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment and experience in the business in which the
Group is engaged in;

3. commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

4. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
professional experience, talents, skills, knowledge, length of
service experience and other qualities;

5. qualifications which include professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;
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6.  the number of existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

7. requirement for the Board to have Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and
3.13 of the Listing Rules;

8. Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for
achieving diversity on the Board; and

9.  such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

Director Nomination Procedure

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of the Company and the
Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need for an additional
Director or a member of senior management, the following
procedure will be followed:

1. The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify potential
candidates based on the criteria as set out in the selection
criteria, possibly with assistance from external agencies and/or
advisors;

2. The Nomination Committee and/or the Company Secretary of
the Company will then provide the Board with the biographical
details and details of the relationship between the candidate
and the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills
and experience, other positions which involve significant time
commitment and any other particulars required by the Listing
Rules, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and other
regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment to
the Board;

3. The Nomination Committee would then make
recommendation to the Board on the proposed candidate(s)
and the terms and conditions of the appointment;

4. The Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board;
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5. In the case of the appointment of an Independent
Non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should obtain all information in relation to the
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess the
independence of the Director in accordance with the factors
set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock
Exchange from time to time; and

6.  The Board will then deliberate and decide on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company generally convenes four regular Board meetings per
year or more meetings when necessary. During the CG Reporting
Period, 15 Board meetings have been held, to consider and approve,
inter alia, the matters recommended by the Board Committees,
which include the interim report and annual report, the continuing
connected transactions, the adoption of a share award plan and
approval of the purchase of shares by trustee for the purpose of
share award plan, to review and discuss the financial operation of
the Group and the appointment of an Executive Director. The table
below sets out the attendance of each Director at the AGM and the
meetings of the Board and other Board committees held during the
2025 Financial Year:
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Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick 24 S 4 4 111 15/15 NARER NATER NAR &R
Non-executive Director FHTES
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel FESATL 1 15/15 NATNE R N/ANEF NATE B
Independent Non-executive BYHTES
Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu EX9S it 11 15/15 3R 6/6 10
Mr. YU Hon Kwan REHTE 11 15/15 31 6/6 10
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny TERTE 1n 15/15 33 6/6 n
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Formal notices of Board meeting will be given to all Directors at least
14 days before the meeting, or at a reasonable time period. Notices
and agenda of the Board meeting are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman. All Directors are given
opportunity to include (in the agenda of Board meetings) matters
which they believe to be appropriate.

Agenda and relevant information of a Board meeting with adequate
background information and supporting analysis will be made
available to the Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of
the Board meeting. All Directors are given separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for further information
and enquiries. The Company Secretary and senior management
will attend all the meetings of the Board and Board Committees to
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance and financial
matters.

Any material matters that would have conflict of interest between
the Directors/substantial shareholders and the Company will be dealt
with in a Board meeting. A Director is not entitled to vote on (nor
is counted in the quorum) any resolution of the Board in respect of
any contract or arrangement or any other proposal whatsoever in
which he or she or any of his or her associates (including any person
who would be deemed to be an “associate” of the Directors under
the Listing Rules) has any material interest, except in certain special
circumstances. The Chairman of the Board meeting is required
to ensure that each Director is aware of such requirement at the
commencement of each Board meeting and declaration of interest is
properly made in the Board meeting where conflicts of interest arise.

Directors have access to the advices and services of the Company
Secretary and key officers of the Company in relation to the
Board procedures. Draft minutes of the Board/Board Committee
meetings are recorded in sufficient details. The matters considered
by participants of such meetings and decisions reached will be
forwarded to participants for comments within a reasonable time
after the meetings and the final versions of the minutes of Board
meetings and meetings of Board Committee are kept by the
Company Secretary, which are open for inspection by any Directors
at any reasonable time on reasonable notice.

Board members are provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow the Directors to fulfill their duties properly.
Directors may seek independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense, if necessary, with the approval of the Board.
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During the CG Reporting Period, the Chairman has held a private
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to keep abreast of their responsibilities
as a Director and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company from time to time updates the
Directors on the latest regulatory and governance developments.

Directors are encouraged to participate in professional development
courses and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills relating to the roles, functions and duties of a Director
of a listed company. Directors are regularly updated on the latest
development on the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure their contributions to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors have
participated in the following trainings:

FERRSHE - TFEIBILIFNTT
HEHEMHTESRENRLTET—

EENRIIRERER

ARRSBABESERTIEFRESTNE
T YEARBWRT EHEBRER
Wik - ARBFHRAEFRESAORE
RERBERNEMESR -

ARRIHEEF2HEXERORE L
e UBEREEFHEHEEERS LT AR
SRR  BE LB MB LG -
EETHEBELTRANEMEREER
EZRIER  MEREHESSELM
BB ER -

HE2025F3A31BIEFE - EE2 4 H
T35

Types of training

R
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERA A A B
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming R A A B
Mr. YAN Chi Tat BEESE A B
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RIER T A A B
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel Bt A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu IR KA A B
Mr. YU Hon Kwan FREME A A, B
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FEBESE A B
A:  attending in-house training sessions. Ar ZEARIREEIIRE -
B: reading newspapers, journals and updates distributed by the Group relating B: MEAEERTHERLCE BmEREER

to the economy, general business and regulatory matters.

DIEVRAR - MEE R E R o
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in preparing the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
a true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and cash
flows and in accordance with the relevant accounting standards and
principles and the disclosure requirements under applicable laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2025, the generally accepted accounting principles
in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards are adopted, with consistent use of
appropriate accounting policies, for making reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates. The consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2025 have been prepared on a going
concern basis. The reporting responsibilities of the Auditors are set
out in the Independent Auditors’ Report in this annual report.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy, pursuant to which

the Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Memorandum and
Articles of the Company and the applicable laws and regulations of
Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands, any other laws and regulations
applicable to the Company and the factors set out in the Dividend
Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the actual and expected
operation and the financial performance of the Group; the retained
earnings and the distributable reserves of the Company; the
expected working capital requirement, the economic outlook for
business strategy and the future expansion plan of the Group; the
financial and liquidity position of the Group; the financial covenants
and restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the lenders of the Group; the statutory and regulatory restrictions
and taxation implications; the general economic conditions and
other internal and external factors that may have an impact on
the business of the Group; and other factors that the Board may
consider relevant when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends.

The Board will continue to review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no
way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems and for reviewing
their effectiveness, particularly in respect of controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets.

The internal control and risk management systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The systems aim
to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Company does not establish an internal audit function. The
Group has engaged an external internal control consultant to review
various aspects of the internal control and risk management systems
of the Group and no significant deficiency has been identified during
the course of review. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
has reviewed the result of the work of the external internal control
consultant in relation to the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group, including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function. The Audit Committee
oversees the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group and reports any material issues to the Board.

Based on the result of the reviews as mentioned above, the Board
considered that proper and adequate internal control and risk
management systems are in place and implemented effectively.

The Group has yet to establish its internal audit function during the
2025 Financial Year as required under code provision D.2.5 of the
CG Code due to the size of the Group and for cost effectiveness
consideration. The Audit Committee and the Board have considered
the internal control review performed by the external internal control
consultant and communications with the Company’s external
auditors in respect of any control deficiencies identified during the
course of the financial statement audit to form the basis to review
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. As such, the Audit Committee and the
Board considered that the present approach of engaging external
internal control consultant is sufficient without the need to establish
an internal audit function for now. The Audit Committee and the
Board will continue to review the need for an internal audit function
on an annual basis.
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The Group has implemented the management and quality assurance
standards in accordance with the standards of International
Organisation for Standardisation in respect of ISO 9001 (quality
management systems), ISO 14001 (environmental management
system) and ISO 50001 (energy management system). In addition,
the Group has implemented the occupational health and safety
management system in accordance with the requirements of I1SO
45001 (Occupational Health and Safety). The Group has met the
requirements of the annual review conducted by the external
consultants.

The Group has engaged Registered Safety Auditors to conduct
independent safety and health audit in relation to the effectiveness,
efficiency and reliability of safety and health management systems
in accordance with the requirements under the Code of Practice on
Safety Management for various construction sites during the CG
Reporting Period. Improvements had been implemented according
to the recommendations of the Registered Safety Auditors.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to avoid any future competition between the Group and
the Controlling Shareholders, each of the Controlling Shareholders
has executed a deed of non-competition dated 25 November 2015
(the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company.
Pursuant to the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition, each of
the Controlling Shareholders has undertaken, among others, in
favour of the Company that he/it will not and will procure his/its
close associates not to engage in any business which may be in
competition with the business carried on by the Group from time to
time. The Independent Non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the status of compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders
with the Deed of Non-Competition and as far as the Independent
Non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no breach of any of
the Deed of Non-Competition.
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AUDITORS' REMUNERATION
The remuneration paid or payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

and its affiliated company in respect of the audit services and

ZEENEN €
HE2025F3A31H I FEMBERE &

FEZRB AN RENE KT M (FE)

non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2025 are as follows: SRRV EBAR QR R EEE A & 8B
ST
Fee paid/
payables
g ENER
HK$'000
Nature of Services RIS BB T
Audit services E R
— consolidated financial statements of the Group  — ZAR&E E2025F B I EE 454 B 15
for the 2025 Financial Year #|E 1,040
Non-audit services IEBAZ IR
— Agreed upon procedures on interim report for  — % F & 78 B 15 i & #E 81| 5544005k
the period ended 30 September 2024 HTBBEZ2024F9A30H 1k
under HKFRS 4400 BRI T R ENIE T 170

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is the primary contact person of the Board for all
matters relating to corporate governance and Board procedures.
All Directors have access to the Company Secretary to ensure that
Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. During the CG Reporting Period, he had taken relevant
professional trainings as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. The details of the biographical information of the Company
Secretary are set out on page 44 of this annual report.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 in Part 2 of the CG Code,
the Board adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing
Policy”) on 30 March 2022 which provides formal channels and
guidance to facilitate the raising of matters of concern by employees
of the Group (the "Employee”) and those who deal with the
Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) (the “Third
Parties”, each a “Whistleblower”), in confidence, without
fear of reprisals. Procedures have been formulated to enable the
Whistleblower to report to the Group directly (addressed to the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group) suspected improprieties.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.7 in Part 2 of the CG Code,
the Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption
Policy”) on 30 March 2022 which sets out the guidelines and
responsibilities of the Employees, the Third Parties and those acting
in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group. The Group
Is committed to maintaining a high standard of integrity, openness
and discipline in its business operations. The Anti-corruption Policy
forms an integral part of the framework, including the CG Code
and Whistleblowing Policy, outline the Group’s expectations and
requirement of business ethics, as well as the investigation and
reporting mechanism of suspected corruption practices.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Group also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
enables Shareholders and investors to make appropriate investment
decisions.

All the members of the Board and Board committees and the
Auditor have attended the 2024 AGM to answer Shareholders’
questions. Circular and notice of the 2024 AGM have been
distributed to all Shareholders before the 2024 AGM in accordance
with the timeline requirement as laid down in the Listing Rules and
the Articles. All the resolutions proposed to be approved at the 2024
AGM have been taken by poll and poll voting results have been
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
after the 2024 AGM.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website where information on the Company’s
announcements, financial information and other information
are posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with any
enquiries.

A revised Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted on

28 March 2024 to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The
revised Policy is currently made available on the Company’s website.
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The Board has carried out an annual review on the above policy
regarding shareholders' communication, and considered that such
policy has been properly implemented during the 2025 Financial Year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

1

2)

3)

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“"EGM")

Pursuant to the Article 64 of the Articles of the Company,
an extraordinary general meeting may be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth (10%) of
the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the capital
of the Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board and adding resolutions to the agenda of
the meeting for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Procedures for proposing a person for election as a
Director

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of the Company,
no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for
election to the office of Director at any general meeting,
unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director signed by a Shareholder and
notice in writing signed by that person of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office of the Company. The period for lodgement
of the notices required will commence no earlier than the
day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days prior
to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length
of the period during which such notices to the Company may
be given will be at least 7 days.
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4) Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns together
with their names and contact information to the Board by
addressing them to the head office in Hong Kong at Units
1104-1106, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong by post or email to
info@yee-hop.com.hk for the attention of the Chairman of the
Board. The Board will reply the enquiries and concerns as soon
as possible.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice and
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the Second Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of the Company (the “Constitutional
Documents”) on 22 August 2022.

A copy of the Company’s updated Constitutional Documents is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there is no change to the
Constitutional Documents.

The Board proposed to amend the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company in order to (i) bring the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association in line with the latest
regulatory requirements in relation to the expanded paperless listing
regime and the relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules; (ii)
provide the Company with more flexibility in the manner of holding
general meeting by allowing general meetings to be convened
and held by way of physical meetings, hybrid meetings or solely
by electronic means; (iii) allow the Company to hold repurchased
shares as treasury shares for future resale; and (iv) make some
housekeeping amendments.

The proposed adoption of the Third Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association is subject to the approval
of the Shareholders by way of a special resolution at the 2025
annual general meeting.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin (&3##¥), aged 63, an Executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board, a member of both the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr. Jim is one of the founders of the Group. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Jim has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Jim is responsible for formulating
corporate strategies and planning the business development of
the Group. Mr. Jim graduated from the University of Reading with
a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying and holds a
Master’s Degree of Business Administration in Management from
the Brighton University.

Mr. Chui Mo Ming (#REHi), aged 72, an Executive Director and
the Vice-chairman of the Board. Mr. Chui is one of the founders of
the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Chui has over 45 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Chui is responsible for the formulating the
corporate strategies of the Group. Mr. Chui has been a construction
supervisor member of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction
Managers since August 2003.

Mr. Yan Chi Tat (alias: Andrew) (E&#Z), aged 58, an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Yan
joined the Group in October 2010. He is also a director of Yee Hop
Engineering.

Mr. Yan has over 25 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Yan is responsible for formulating
corporate and business strategies and operations of the Group.
Mr. Yan graduated from the South Bank University with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is an associate of The
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and a professional associate of
The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. He has been a Registered
Professional Surveyor since July 2004.
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Mr. Leung Hung Kwong Derrick (R#3#), aged 56, an Executive
Director. Mr. Leung joined the Group in August 2008. He is also a
director of Yee Hop Engineering.

Mr. Leung has been the Technical Director of Yee Hop Engineering
for its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor
and Registered Specialist Contractor in the foundation works
category with the Buildings Department since 2008 and 2011
respectively. He has over 25 years of experience in the engineering
and construction industry. Mr. Leung is responsible for formulating
the corporate business strategies. Mr. Leung graduated from the
National Taiwan University with a Bachelor's Degree of Science in
Engineering. He holds a Master’s Degree of Philosophy in Civil &
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
& Technology. He is currently a Registered Professional Engineer
(Geotechnical, Structural). He is a member of the Institution of
Structural Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr. Derrick Leung is an Independent Non-executive Director of Chi
Ho Development Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 8423), the shares of
which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. The principal
business of Chi Ho Development Holdings Ltd is the provision of
renovation, maintenance and fitting-out works.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Lee Sze Wing Mabel (Z258), aged 55, a Non-Executive
Director. Ms. Lee joined the Group in 2023 and was appointed as
a Non-Executive Director on 31 May 2023 and a member of the
Nomination Committee on 27 June 2025.

Ms. Lee has more than 15 years of experience in various fields of
business management and development, such as administration,
human resources and sales and marketing. Ms. Lee has been the
sales and marketing manager of Fullrich Financial Services (Asia)
Limited (= =M% (2M) BRAF) since 2014.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Luk Shiu (alias: Vincent) (Z=3%JK), aged 67, an
Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee has about 30 years of experience in commercial accounting
and corporate finance. Mr. Lee is currently a member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and was a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
for more than 20 years. He graduated from the Hong Kong Shue
Yan College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) with
a Diploma in Business Administration. Mr. Lee has worked in the
Stock Exchange for around 15 years where his duties included
regulating and monitoring Hong Kong listed companies in relation
to their compliance with the Listing Rules and processing new
listing applications. His last position with the Stock Exchange was
an Assistant Vice President of the Listing Division. Mr. Lee was
also a senior consultant of an investment bank for 5 years. He is
an Independent Non-executive Director of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 336) and Hin Sang Group
(International) Holding Co. Ltd (stock code: 6893), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

BYFHITES

TRk L 675 ABUNFNTES
ARABREEEEIRURREZEER
FHMERGRE -

FREGCHESHAROCERETEERLD
0FRS - FAERRBEGHASE
ENBRABFHFAREHAMAGERS
B0 - REXNBEHCER CRA
FEREMCKRE) BEIREEXE -F
FAERE R PT TIEANSF  IBE BHER
EREERFE LM ARAREST LR
MBI BRI HT E T AR o TR BB X P
AIER ETRIBIRRIAEE - FRENEGIE
E-RRERITERERESF - WEFE
BERRERBRAR (BRI 336) &
TS E (B ZiRAR A E (B 5% :
6893) KB FMITESR  HROHNBR
PREMR L™ -

Annual Report 2024/25 ik

41



42

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEEEE

Mr. Yu Hon Kwan (alias: Randy) (R#3#), aged 62, an
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Yu graduated from the University of Reading with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is a Member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Mr. Yu is the General
Manager (Community Relations) of Henderson Land Development
Company Limited. Mr. Yu was a lecturer (non-clinical) in the
Department of Real Estate and Construction of the University of
Hong Kong.

Mr. Yu is a Justice of the Peace of Hong Kong and also a New
Territories Justices of the Peace. He has dedicated a significant
proportion of his time in community service. Mr. Yu is currently a
member of the Islands District Council, a member of the Agriculture,
Fisheries and Conservation Department’s Country and Marine Parks
Board, a member of Community Investment & Inclusion Fund and
a member of the Independent Police Complaints Council of the
Hong Kong SAR. He was awarded a Medal of Honour in July 2015
in recognition of his long and dedicated public and community
services.

Mr. Yu is a Board Director of the Business Environment Council since
April 2016 (formerly also a Director of the same Board from June
2011 to February 2015). He also serves as a Director of the Hong
Kong Green Building Council.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung Johnny (E&3&), aged 66, an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of London with a
Bachelor's Degree of Laws with Honours and holds a Master’s
Degree of Laws from the University of London. He is a solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong, a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of England & Wales and a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme
Court of the Australia Capital Territory, Australia. He is currently a
partner of Messrs. Lo, Wong & Tsui, Solicitors, handling general and
commercial litigations, conveyancing works, land acquisition and
land exchange, real estate development and financing.
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Mr. Wong has served as a member of the Provisional Regional
Council from 1997 to 1999, a member of the Tai Po District Council
from 1999 to 2003, a member of the Liquor Licensing Board
from January 2000 to January 2004, and a member of the Appeal
Tribunal Panel under the Buildings Ordinance from December 2000
to December 2004. He obtained the HKSAR Medal of Honour in
October 2002. Mr. Wong was also an appointed member of the
Yuen Long District Council from January 2008 to December 2011.
He was an Independent Non- executive Director of SkyOcean
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as Allied Overseas
Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 593)
for the period from June 1993 to August 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Chung Wai Keung David (#{&38), aged 59, chairman of
Absolute Pure EnviroSci Limited, a subsidiary of the Group which
principally engages in the business of distribution, research and
development of specialty biochemical and biomedical products. Dr.
Chung joined the Group in July 2023.

Dr. Chung is also the founder and chief impact officer of ImpactD
Limited, and an adjunct professor in the Department of Computer
Science and Academy of Innovation at the City University of Hong
Kong. He previously served as the Under Secretary for Innovation
and Technology Bureau of the HKSAR for two terms.

Dr David Chung is a seasoned technologist, entrepreneur, and
policymaker with over 30 years of experience. He is a strong
advocate for impact investment and has held senior management
positions in leading multinational, Hong Kong, and mainland
enterprises such as Cyberport, Microsoft, and Jardine Pacific. He
has also led the expansion of several technology startups into
international markets. In recognition of his contributions to the field,
he was awarded the Iconic Star - IFTA FinTech and Innovation Award
2021/22 and was named Top CIO of Greater China by CEOQ/CIO
magazine in 2013.

Dr Chung is actively involved in various high-level advisory
committees in the academic, professional, and community arenas.
He has served as a member of the Consumer Council and Expert
Group on Cloud Computing Services and Standards.

Dr Chung holds a Doctorate Degree in Engineering Management
from the City University of Hong Kong, an MBA from the
Metropolitan University of Hong Kong, a Postgraduate Diploma in
Business Management from the Chinese University of Hong Kong,
and a Bachelor of Science (Engineering) in Computer Science from
the Imperial College London.
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Mr. Chan King Yip (alias: Kelvin) (BR#% ), aged 51, Project
Director of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group in April 2006.
Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in handling engineering
and construction projects. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall
project management. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science.

Mr. Wai Aoting (alias: Paul) (E{##), aged 46, directors and
legal representatives of certain subsidiaries in the PRC and the chief
operating officer of the premises revitalisation and enhancement
business of the Group. Mr. Wai joined the Group in March 2021.

Mr. Wai has over 18 years of experience in real estate development
and revitalizing historic buildings. Mr. Wai graduated from the Sun
Yat-sen University (71 KX2%) with a Bachelor's Degree of Business
Administration in Marketing.

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (3£338), aged 47, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Chong joined
the Group in November 2019.

Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration in
Accounting and holds a Master’s Degree of Business Administration
from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chong is currently
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Chong has over 20 years of experience in audit and finance and
is responsible for the financial management, internal control and
company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Chong is currently
also serving as the company secretary of China Partytime Culture
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1532) since May 2015 and an Independent
Non-executive Director of Taung Gold International Limited (stock
code: 621) listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Ms. Wong Lok Man Vicko (E&#), aged 44, Environmental
and Safety Manager of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group in
November 2007.

Ms. Wong has over 17 years of experience in industrial safety
industry. Ms. Wong holds a Professional Diploma of Legal Executive
from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education, a Diploma
in Occupational Health & Safety from the Hong Kong Metropolitan
University (formerly known as the Open University of Hong
Kong) and a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Environmental and
Occupational Safety & Health from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a registered safety officer under the Factories and
Industrial Undertakings (Safety Officers and Safety Supervisors)
Regulations and a safety auditor. She is currently a chartered
building engineer of the Chartered Association of Building Engineer
and a full member of the International Institute of Risk and Safety
Management.

Ms. Wong has also obtained other relevant certificates such as
the Occupational Health and Safety Council Certificate for Safety
& Health Supervisor (Construction) in July 2002, the Certificate
of Occupational Safety and Health Trainer in February 2004, the
Occupational Health and Safety Council Combined Certificate for
Safety, Health & Environmental Supervisor (Construction) in June
2005, the Certificate of Site Audit Inspection Standards (Safety &
Roadwork Obligations) Course — Highways Department in 2010, the
Certificate of Occupational Health and Safety Council Fire Prevention
(Construction Industry) in March 2010, the Certificate of Supervision
of Tree Works Course in June 2011, the Certificate of Continuing
Professional Development for 1SO14001:2004 Environmental
Management System Introduction and Internal Auditing in October
2012, the Certificate for 1ISO45001:2016 Lead Auditor in October
2018.

Mr. Chui Heung Wing (#[1%¥), aged 66, Project Director of the
Group. Mr. Chui Heung Wing served the Group from September
1997 to August 2016 and re-joined the Group in April 2019.
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He is currently the Authorised Signatory of Yee Hop Engineering
under its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor and
a Registered Specialist Contractor in the foundation works category
with the Buildings Department. He has over 45 years of experience
in the construction industry. Mr. Chui holds a Diploma in Structural
Engineering and a Higher Certificate in Structural Engineering from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic) and a Bachelor’s Degree of Civil Engineering
from the Washington InterContinental University and a Master of
Science Degree in Civil Engineering and Construction Management
from the Heriot-Watt University. He is a chartered building engineer
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers. He has also
been one of the Authorised Signatories of the Registered General
Buildings Contractors and the Registered Specialist Contractors in
the foundation works category of the Buildings Department since
May 2008 and March 2013 respectively. He is a fellow member
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers, a member of
the Australian Institute of Building, a chartered environmentalist
of the Society for the Environment. He has also obtained the I1SO
14001:2004 Environmental Management System Internal Auditor
Training at the Hong Kong Certification Services Ltd from September
to December 2005. He has completed the Lead Assessor course of
Quality Assurance from BSI Quality Assurance in June 1993 and a
visiting lecturer of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Institute
for Enterprise in July 2003.

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (alias: Douglas) (# K #£), aged 67, the
Senior Vice President of the Company. Mr. Wu joined the Group in
October 2014 as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary and
re-designated as Senior Vice President in November 2019. Mr. Wu
has over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance.

Mr. Wu graduated from the University of Bolton (formerly known as
the Bolton Institute of Higher Education) with a Bachelor’'s Degree
of Arts in Accountancy and holds a Master's Degree of Business
Administration from the University of Newcastle, Australia. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
an associate of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an associate of
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (£ 3X8), the Company Secretary
of the Company. Details of his biography are set out in the
paragraph headed “Senior management” in this section. Mr. Chong
was appointed as the Company Secretary in November 2019.
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Report of Directors

ESEWRE

The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries comprise (i) provision of foundation and
other civil works and tunneling works in Hong Kong and overseas,;
and (i) premises revitalisation and enhancement in the PRC. The
principal activities of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note
41 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND RESERVES

The results of the Group for the 2025 Financial Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 77 in this annual report.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the 2025 Financial Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 40(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends was paid by the Group during the 2025
Financial Year (2024: Corresponding Year: nil).

A special dividend of HK$0.10 per share was paid by the Group
during the 2025 Financial Year (2024: Corresponding Year: nil).

The Board does not recommend a payment of final dividend to the
shareholders of the Company for the 2025 Financial Year (2024
Corresponding Year: nil).

RELIEF OF TAXATION
The Company is not aware of any relief of taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the 2025 Financial
Year is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 7 to 17 of this annual report.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operation, financial conditions, business and prospect
are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. The following
principal risks and uncertainties have been identified by the Group.
In addition, there may be other risks and uncertainties which are not
known to the Group or may not be material for the time being but
could be turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

1. The provision of foundation and other civil works and
tunnelling works are on project basis and non-recurring basis.
The future growth in revenue and financial results depend
on, among others, the success to secure new tenders and
contracts awarded.

2. The operations of the Group mainly focus in Hong Kong,
which are affected by various factors which include, inter
alia, the general economic conditions in Hong Kong, general
property market in Hong Kong and government policies on
the infrastructure and property development and planning.

3. The demand of tunnelling services in Hong Kong is dominated
by a relatively small number of customers, mainly the Hong
Kong SAR Government, public utilities companies and MTR
Corporation Limited. Though the Group has established long
and stable business relationships with the two electricity
suppliers in Hong Kong, it is uncertain that our existing
customers will continue to provide us new contracts and the
Group will be able to secure contracts from new customers.

4. The financial performance of each project is subject to the risk
of underestimation of the project cost and the complexity as
well as the length of the projects.

5. The Group is required to obtain or maintain certain registration
and/or certificates under the laws in jurisdictions in which
it operates in order to carry on the business. It is uncertain
that all the required registrations, certificates or licences can
be maintained or renewed in a timely manner. Any changes
to the existing policies by government authorities may have
significant impact on the ability of the Group to carry on the
existing business.
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Tenders were awarded to the Group based on the estimated
project costs (which include mainly wages and construction
material cost). The financial results of the Group is subject to
the risk of price fluctuation of material price and the availability
of the quality of construction materials will always meet the
required standards.

The construction business by nature is subject to the claims
and disputes with customers, subcontractors, workers in
relation to the substandard of works, completion of works in
time, labour compensations or personal injuries. Regardless of
the merits of the claims, the disputes and litigation will affect
the reputation of the Group in the industry it operates and
in turn, adversely affect the business operations and financial
results of the Group.

The inherent risk of the foundation and tunnelling business is
subject to unforeseen ground conditions. The actual ground
condition may be different from the information provided by
the customers. The Group may be exposed to the risk of cost
overrun if the customers disagree to compensate the Group
for the additional cost incurred as a result of the unforeseen
ground conditions.

The Group is subject to environmental regulations and
guidelines in the jurisdictions in which it operates, such as
Hong Kong, the PRC, the United Kingdom and the Philippines.
Any changes in such regulations and guidelines may have
adverse impact on the operations and the financial results.

The results of the Group are affected by the trends in the
industries in which it operates, including the construction
(which includes the foundation and other civil works and
tunnelling works) and the premises revitalisation and
enhancement business. The change in government budgets
and spending in infrastructures as well as the changes in
customer tastes and preference may have adverse impact on
the revenue and operation results of the Group.

The success and the growth of the Group is, to a large extent,
attributable to the continued commitment of the Directors
and senior management team. Profile of Directors and senior
management is set out on pages 39 to 46 of this annual
report. Any unanticipated departure of the Directors and
senior management team without appropriate replacement
may have a material adverse impact on our business operations
and profitability.
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12.

The subsidiaries of the Group operating in the PRC are
exposed to the following risks conducting business in the PRC:

. Under PRC laws and regulations, the Group’s subsidiaries
in the PRC are subject to various dividend policies.
Limitations on the ability of the operating subsidiaries in
the PRC to pay dividends to the Group and/or subject
to higher withholding tax rate could have a material
adverse effect on the ability of the Group to conduct
business;

o The PRC government’'s control over foreign currency
conversion and fluctuations in exchange rates may have
restriction on the PRC subsidiaries of the Group to access
to foreign currency to pay dividends in foreign currencies
to the Shareholders and to obtain foreign exchange for
capital expenditure for the PRC subsidiaries.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 or any other natural disasters
or infectious diseases may severely affect and restrict the level
of economic activity in Hong Kong and the PRC which may
in turn have a material and adverse effect on the Group's
business, financial position and results of operations.

14. The Group's premises revitalization and enhancement business

is subject to the regulatory environment and measures affecting
the property related industries in the PRC. In particular, the
Group's business performance primarily depends on the total
contracted and revenue-bearing gross leasable area and the
number of properties the Group manages, but the Group's
business growth is, and will likely continue to be, affected by
the PRC government regulations relating to the industries in
which the Group operates.

A subsidiary of the Group is engaged in the business of health
and environmental innovations and is investing heavily on
research and development. Such investment may negatively
impact our profitability and operating cash flow in the short
term and may not generate the results we expect to achieve.
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Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to various financial risks, including interest rate,
liquidity and credit risks. Details of financial risks are set out in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Joint Venture Partner Risk

The Group conducts some of its business through an associated
company/joint operations in which it shares control with the joint
venture partner. There are uncertainties that the joint venture
partner will continue its relationship with the Group in the future
or their goals or strategies are in line with those of the Group.
Furthermore, the joint venture partner in the associated company/
joint operations may undergo a change of control or financial
difficulties which may have adverse impact on the Group’s financial
conditions and operation results of the Group.

Likely development in the Group’s business

The likely development of the Group is disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Outlook” in the “Chairman's Statement" section in this
annual report.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators
The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the business
of the Group are set out in the “Business Review” and “Financial
Review” section in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the 2025 Financial Year

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent
to 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this annual report.

Environmental policies and performance

Environment protection is critical to the long term development
of the Group. The Group places importance in the management
practice so as to prevent pollution, reduce waste and enhance waste
recycling. The Group has adopted environmental management
practices in accordance with ISO14001 (Environmental management
system) and I1SO50001 (Energy management system). The Group
promotes environment-friendly construction worksites and
implements appropriate facilities to improve the environments of the
construction worksites.

During the 2025 Financial Year, we did not identify any material
non-compliance with or breach of relevant laws, rules or regulations
in relation to environmental protection.
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Relationships with employees, customers, and suppliers
The Group maintain a good relationship with its employees and has
not experienced any significant disruptions to its operation due to
labour dispute. The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy
workplace for the staff and have arranged an annual safety conference
for staff of all levels to enhance their knowledge on site safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contact with the customers
and has conducted regular reviews of the requirements of the
customers and complaints. The Group will conduct appraisal of the
performance of suppliers on regular basis.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and risks of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group has on-going review of new enacted laws and
regulations which may affect the operations of the Group. During
the 2024/25 Financial Year, there is no incidence of non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact
on the business of the Group.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 189.

DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the 2025 Financial

Year amounted to approximately HK$81,700 (2024 Corresponding
Year: approximately HK$29,540).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the 2025 Financial Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movement in investment properties of the Group during
the 2025 Financial Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the 2025
Financial Year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. There were no movements in share capital during the
2025 Financial Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the 2025 Financial Year, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed
securities of the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act amounted to approximately HK$128.0 million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the 2025 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 61.2% (2024 Corresponding
Year: approximately 49.4%) of the total revenue of the Group and
the largest customer included therein accounted for approximately
40.1% (2024 Corresponding Year: approximately 13.0%).

For the 2025 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 26.5% (2024 Corresponding
Year: approximately 12.14%) of the total costs of revenue of the
Group and the largest supplier included therein accounted for
approximately 7.9% (2024 Corresponding Year: approximately
4.26%).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors of the Company own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five
largest suppliers or customers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the 2025 Financial Year and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick

Non-executive Director
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

In accordance with the Second Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”), at each general meeting one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation provide that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment
and be subject to re-election at such annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 39 to 46 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from the date of Listing and has renewed for a further
three years and shall be automatically renewed for such further
period after expiry of renewal term.

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 AR A7)

B=
RAFR2025F W RFEREEARFHRA
HIENESA:

BITES
REALE
RUESTE

FHITES
FRMALXLE

BYFHTES
FHIkEE
REMEE
ITEEkE

RIFARRE ZREEFTREFTNEREX
mEkERA[ (AR  REBAERAE
EER=ZD—Z2EF(ERHEFTARY
H=H =B ARREIBTEE=
D—E)EABERT REBNES (B
BRECHERIE) AZLB=F&HE
BE-R-RIEZAERBEET-

NEEFER T AEBEFERIUERE
FEZGMERBZENEST 2 ERES
HEZERARABEERRBFAELL
MAERESANZBERBFRNEG LHEE
o

ARBICWESBUIFATESRIELD
MAIE3 NGB E B & 00 1F O RERR
ARBIRBR - BRI IFNTESHES
AL

EENREEENBEFE

AEEEERRRAEEENBEFBHEN
REHRFIIEA6H °

EERBESL
&HITHFC AR AT RB WA - )
SEEASHE LHEMed AH=4F A
EEM=F TRERHRERLEDE
BET—HR -



Report of Directors

EEEWRE

Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 31
May 2023, which may be terminated in accordance with the terms
of the letter of appointment.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into
a service agreement with the Company under which each of them
is appointed for a period of one year commencing from the date of
the Listing and has renewed for a further three years and shall be
automatically renewed for such further period after expiry of the
renewal term.

The service agreement entered into with each of the Executive
Directors may be terminated by either party thereto giving at least
three months’ written notice. The letter of appointment entered into
with Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel may be terminated by either party
thereto giving at least three months’ written notice. The service
agreement entered into with each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors may be terminated by either party thereto giving at least
one months’ written notice.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS'/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there is no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies was a party and in
which a Director or Controlling Shareholder of the Company and
Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the 2025 Financial Year.

REMUNERATION FOR DIRECTORS
In compliance with the CG Code, the Company has established

a Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies.
Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee and the
performance and results of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Company’s Directors are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices or trusts.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company has executed a Deed of Non-competition dated
25 November 2015 in favour of the Company, which contains
certain non-competition undertakings given in favour of the Group.
Particulars of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in the
Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders have provided a confirmation to the
Company confirming of their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition during the 2025 Financial Year. The Independent
Non-executive Directors have also reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders with the Deed
of Non-competition and as far as the Independent Non-executive
Directors can ascertain, there is no breach of any of the Deed of
Non-competition.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group under the applicable accounting standards during
the 2025 Financial Year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of the related party transactions disclosed in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable non-
exempted connected transactions or non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Group under the Listing Rules. To
the extent of the related party transactions constituted connected
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had
complied with relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has the following connected transaction during the
year and the Company has fully complied with the announcement,
reporting and/or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (where applicable):

(i)

The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) has entered
into a lease agreement dated 27 March 2024 (the “Lease
Agreement”) with Pioneer National Development Limited (as
landlord) (“Pioneer National”) to lease the premises at "Units
1104-1107, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong" for office use for a term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2024 at a monthly
rental of HK$82,000 (exclusive of rates, Government rent and
management fee payable by the tenant).

Pioneer National is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50% by
Mr. Chui, both are the Executive Directors and the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules,
Pioneer National is a connected person and transactions
contemplated under the Lease Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule.

ANNUAL REVIEW ON CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the continuing
connected transaction set out in the previous page have been
reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who have
confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected transaction has
been were entered into:

(M

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

on normal commercial terms or better; and

in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
Auditor, SHINEWING CPA (HK) Limited (“SHINEWING"), has been
engaged to report on this continuing connected transaction in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. SHINEWING
has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and conclusions
in respect of this continuing connected transaction accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSURE UNDER LISTING RULE 13.21

On 18 February 2019, Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop
Construction, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a
facility letter issued by a bank making available a facility of HK$20
million to both Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop Construction and
an aggregate of HK$250.61 million to Yee Hop Engineering only and
later revised to HK$15 million to the borrowers and an aggregate of
HK$35 million to Yee Hop Engineering only on 6 November 2020.
Pursuant to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves the overriding
right to modify and/or cancel the facility and the terms/conditions
thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon
demand made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 18 February 2019 and 6
November 2020.

On 27 March 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as the borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank making available
a credit facility up to an aggregate amount not exceeding HK$20.88
million and later revised to HK$37.63 million on 10 February 2020.
Pursuant to the terms of the facility, which has no tenor, the bank
reserves the overriding right to immediately modify, terminate, cancel
or suspend the facility and the terms/conditions thereof at anytime
at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon demand made by the
bank. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 27 March 2019 and 10 February 2020.

On 7 July 2020, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank offering a term
loan facility in an amount up to HK$15 million and later revised to
HK$30.0 million on 30 April 2024. Pursuant to the terms of the
facility, the bank shall have the overriding right at any time and at its
sole discretion to terminate all or any part of, or reduce or decrease,
the facility by prior notice to the borrower. The facility shall be repaid
in full within 12 months from the relevant date of facility drawdown.
Details of the transaction are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 7 July 2020 and 30 April 2024.
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On 20 May 2022, Yee Hop Engineering and YH Qing Chuang
Limited, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a facility
letter issued by a bank making available credit facilities for an
aggregated amount not exceeding HK$100 million. Pursuant to
the terms of the facility, which has no tenor, the bank shall have an
unrestricted discretion to reduce, cancel or suspend, or determine
whether or not to permit drawings in relations to, the facility. The
facility are subject to review at any time and also subject to the
bank’s overriding right of repayment on demand including the right
to all call for cash cover on demand for prospective and contingent
liabilities. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 20 May 2022 and 24 May 2022.

On 24 April 2024, Yee Hop Engineering, as the borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank making available
credit facilities up to an aggregate amount not exceeding HK$160.0
million. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, which has no tenor,
the bank shall have an unrestricted discretion to reduce, cancel
or suspend, or determine whether or not to permit drawings in
relation to the facilities. The facility are subject to (i) review at any
time and (i) the Bank’s overriding right of demand for repayment
including the right to call for cash cover on demand for prospective
and contingent liabilities. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 24 April 2024.

As one of the conditions of the facilities set out above, the
Company has undertaken to the banks, among others that Mr. Jim
and Mr. Chui should, directly or indirectly, own no less than 51%
shareholdings in the Company or the Company shall maintain
ultimately controlled by Mr. Jim and Mr. Chui.

At the date of this annual report, JJ1318 and Mr. Chui hold 40.25%
and 29.75% in the Shares of the Company respectively. JJ1318 is
100% beneficially owned by Mr. Jim.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other
disclosure obligations under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

(@) Long position in Shares

25F3A31H EERETETHASR
E/\Zliix\jﬁ/ﬁ;ﬁ HF/fl(}tEg:Eﬁ %&Hﬂ
BB EXVED) B A% 5 SR IR () sk E
o BAEARRRBRLENEEEEANEE
GBI ZE32EBFEMELMA - HRIE
ZESFA BTG RN A MR AT ER
/A)'EQDT:

%K
N
o

(a) RERUOWEFE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of Shares interests of the

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company

BHEEREN JTiES NN

EEHR B HEntE BB E BREHSAES T

Mr. Jim Interest in a controlled 201,250,000 Shares 40.25%
oA corporation (Note 1) 201,250,0008%

EHIEE S (A1)

Mr. Chui Beneficial owner 148,750,000 Shares 29.75%

HotE BEREAA 148,750,0000%

Ms. Lee Sze Wing Interest of spouse 201,250,000 Shares 40.25%
Mabel (Note 2) B (S 4 2 201,250,0000%

FRAALL (Hi2)

(b) Long position in JJ1318, an associated corporation
of the Company

(b) RADQATEEQATNIZISHNEFR

Percentage of
the issued share

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest capital of JJ1318
Fi{&111318
EEp B HntE ERTREAESL
Mr. Jim Beneficial owner (Note 1) 100%
ErE EmlEAANMGZE)
Notes: Biat -

1. 1)1318 is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Jim. Accordingly,
Mr. Jim is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by JJ1318
under the SFO.

2. Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel is the spouse of Mr. Jim and is deemed, or

taken to be, interested in Shares in which Mr. Jim has interest under
the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Chief Executives
of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of part XV of the SFO) as at 31 March 2025
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following person (other than the Directors and Chief Executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to
be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company:

Number of Shares

Br b aft B3R R & SN - 7020259F3A31H ¢
MEARRESE FETHAE R SH
EEEMEMBHEATRERRRSEEM
HEEE (EE R BFH K EE KA EXVER)
REMERD  HERD REST HEAE
RERIBIERSR KA EEDIZE352{68 E
AGFENELMARIRIBEEETRSTA
GARRNR RERZTH A ERIORE -

FERRRADQA K EMBEE
Bk - HEROREZFH

BmlXR

M2025F3A318 " BEEMA - THA
T (BEENARBEBITHRAERIN R
RARMRD RABBEKRG T - e ARE
BE S HAEIEHI EEXVERSE2 K30 SR A€ A
naEl RBRGTRIRIEES RBEEGE
36 FENECMAERSSAE -

RARB RN REBERONETR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interests of the

Name Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company

FEEEN KRB RE
=1 54 ntE RHEE FEBOES
1J1318 Beneficial owner 201,250,000 40.25%

111318 BamlA A

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the 2025
Financial Year was the Company, its holding companies, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
Eligible Participants (as defined below) have made or may make to
the Group so as to motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and attract,
retain or otherwise maintain ongoing business relationship with the
Eligible Participants whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on 25 November 2015, after which no
further options will be issued. The total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not in aggregate
exceed 50,000,000 Shares (10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of Listing), unless approved by the shareholders in general meeting
(the maximum number of Shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time). No
option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if exercised
in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to be granted
to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant exceeding 1% in
aggregate of the Shares in issue as at the date of such grant. The
offer of a grant of share options shall be accepted when the offer
letter has been duly signed and a consideration of HK$1 in total has
been paid by the grantee within 21 days. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determinable by the Directors and ends on
a date which is not later than ten years from the date of the offer of
share options.
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Eligible Participants include: (i) any Eligible Employees. “Eligible
Employees” means any employee (whether full time or part time,
including any Executive Director but excluding any Non- executive
Director) of the Company, any subsidiary or any entity in which the
Group holds at least 20% of its issued share capital (“Invested
Entity”); (i) any Non-executive Director (including Independent
Non-executive Directors) of the Company, any subsidiary or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vi) any shareholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of
any securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (vii) any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and (viii) any other group or classes
of participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group, and, for the purposes of
the Share Option Scheme, options may be granted to any company
wholly owned by one or more Eligible Participants.

The exercise price of options shares shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities (a “Trading Day"); (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five Trading Days immediately preceding
the offer date of the relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the offer date.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant
options to the Directors and the employees of the Group and other
eligible participants to subscribe for Shares not exceeding 10% of
the Shares in issue, i.e. 50,000,000 Shares.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme and no
option has been exercised during 2025 Financial Year. There is no option
under the Share Option Scheme outstanding as of 31 March 2025.

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of the share options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 50,000,000 Shares as at 1 April 2024,
31 March 2025 and at the date of this annual report, representing
10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at 1 April 2024, 31
March 2025 and at the date of this annual report.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately one
year and five months as of the date of this annual report.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Company has adopted a Share Award Plan on 17 April 2024.
The Board has instructed Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited, the
trustee of the trust of the Share Award Plan (the “Trustee”) to
purchase a certain number of existing Shares on the Stock Exchange
at the market trading price as and when appropriate in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations and the rules relating to the
Share Award Plan (the “Share Award Plan Rules”) as the awarded
Shares for the Share Award Plan. The remaining life of the Share
Award Scheme is approximately eight years and nine months as of
the date of this annual report.

No Share award has been granted, outstanding, vested, unvested,
cancelled or lapsed since the adoption date of the Share Award Plam
and up to the date of this annual report. As at each of the Share
Award Plan adoption date and the date of this annual report, (i) the
maximum number of Shares in respect of which Share awards may
be granted under the Share Award Plan is 50,000,000, accounting
for approximately 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at
the date of this annual report; (i) within such plan mandate limit,
the maximum number of Shares in respect of which Share awards
may be granted to service providers under the Share Award Plan is
10,000,000, accounting for 2% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of this report.

A summary of the principal terms of the Share Award Plan Rules is
set out as follows:

(@) Purposes and participants

The purposes of the Plan are to recognise and reward the
contribution of eligible participants to the growth and
development of the Group and to give incentives to eligible
participants in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. Eligible
participants include (i) any Director and employee (part-time or
full-time) of the Company or the Group; (ii) any director and
employee (part-time or full-time) of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company;
and (iii) any contractor, adviser (professional or otherwise),
consultant or expert in any area of business or business
development of any member of the Group, who provided
its services to any member of the Group on a continuing
and recurring basis, excluding placing agents or financial
advisers providing advisory services for fundraising, mergers
or acquisitions of the Company or its Subsidiaries, and service
providers who provide assurance or are required to perform
their services with impartiality and objectivity.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Duration

Subject to any early termination as determined by the Board
pursuant to the Share Award Plan, the Share Award Plan shall
be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing
from the adoption date (i.e. 17 April 2024), after the expiry of
which no further Share Award may be made.

Administration

The Share Award Plan shall be subject to the administration of
the Board and the Trustee in accordance with the terms of the
Share Award Plan and the Trust Deed.

Vesting and lapse

Unless otherwise determined by the Board or the committee of
the Share Award Plan at its discretion, the number of Shares
awards held by the Trustee on Trust and which are entitled by
a Share Award Grantee shall be vested to that Share Award
Grantee in accordance with the Share Award Plan Rules and
any specific conditions as determined by the Board or the
committee of the Share Award Plan at its absolute discretion.

A Share Award Grantee shall not have any interest or rights
(including the right to receive dividends) in the awarded Shares
prior to the vesting date of the awarded Shares. An Eligible
Participant or Share Award Grantee shall also have no rights
in the residual cash of the Trust or Shares or such other trust
fund or property held by the trust.

Unless the Board determines otherwise at its absolute
discretion and subject as otherwise specified in the Share
Award Plan, an Award (or, as the case may be, the relevant
part of an Award) shall automatically lapse forthwith and
all the Awarded Shares (or, as the case may be, the relevant
Awarded Shares) shall become Returned Shares if (i) a Selected
Participant ceases to be an Eligible Participant; and (i) the
Subsidiary or Related Entity by which a Selected Participant is
employed ceases to be a Subsidiary or Related Entity of the
Company (or of a member of the Group).

Vesting period of awards granted under the Share
Award Plan

The Board may from time to time, at its discretion, determine
the earliest vesting date and other subsequent date(s), if
any, upon which the awarded Shares held by the Trustee of
the trust of the Share Award Plan upon trust and which are
referable to a selected participant shall vest in that selected
participant.

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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The vesting date in respect of any award shall be not less than
12 months from the grant date, provided that for any director
and employee (part-time or full-time) of the Company or the
Group (the "Employee Participant”) and any director and
employee (part-time or full-time) of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company
(the “Related Entity Participant”), the vesting date may be
less than 12 months from the grant date (including on the
grant date) in the following circumstances:

(1

grants of “make whole” awards to new Employee
Participants or Related Entity Participants to replace
share awards such Employee Participants or Related
Entity Participants forfeited when leaving their previous
employers;

grants to an Employee Participant or a Related Entity
Participant whose employment is terminated due to
death or disability or event of force majeure;

grants of awards which are subject to the fulfilment of
performance targets;

grants of awards the timing of which is determined
by administrative or compliance requirements not
connected with the performance of the relevant
Employee Participants or Related Entity Participants, in
which case the vesting date may be adjusted to take
account of the time from which the award would
have been granted if not for such administrative or
compliance requirements;

grants of awards with a mixed vesting schedule such
that the awards vest evenly over a period of 12 months;

grants of awards with a total vesting and holding period
of more than 12 months; or

there is an event of change in control of the Company
by way of a merger, a privatization of the Company by
way of a scheme or by way of an offer, and the Board,
at its sole discretion, determines that the vesting date of
any awards shall be accelerated to an earlier date.
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The amount, if any, payable on application or
acceptance of the award and the period within
which payments or calls must or may be made or
loans for such purposes must be repaid and the basis
of determining the purchase price of shares awarded

According to the Share Award Plan, an Award shall be
deemed to be unconditionally declined in its entirety by a
selected participant unless the selected participant shall within
ten (10) business days after receipt of such notice from the
Board notify the Company in writing that he/she would accept
such award. The Share Award Plan Rules do not prescribe the
amount payable on application or acceptance of the award
and the period within which payments or calls must or may
be made or loans for such purposes must be repaid, which, if
there is any, will form part of the terms and conditions of such
award to be imposed by the Board when making the award,
and therefore the basis of determining the purchase price of
Shares awarded is not applicable under the Share Award Plan.

Plan limit

The aggregate maximum number of Shares (i) to be awarded
to Selected Participants pursuant to the terms of the Share
Award Plan; and (i) to be issued under any other share
schemes adopted or to be adopted by the Company from
time to time, shall not exceed 10% of the total number of
issued Shares (i.e. 50,000,000 Shares) as at the Adoption Date
(i.e. 17 April 2024) or the relevant date of approval of the
refreshment of such plan mandate limit.

Within the plan mandate limit, the aggregate maximum
number of Shares to be awarded to service providers pursuant
to the terms of the Share Award Plan shall not exceed 2%
of the total number of issued Shares as at the adoption date
or the relevant date of approval of the refreshment of such
service provider sub-limit.

Since the Adoption Date of the Share Award Plan and up to
the date of this annual report, the Trustee has been authorized
to purchase 4,960,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange for the
Share Award Plan.

At the adoption of the Share Award Plan and the end of
the 2025 Financial Year, the number of awards available for
grant under the Share Award Plan mandate and any other
share schemes of the Company was 50,000,000 Shares,
within which the number of awards available for grant under
the service provider sublimit was 10,000,000 Shares. The
Company had not granted any award Shares under the Share
Award Plan during the reporting period.
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(h) Maximum entitlement of each participant under

the Share Award Plan

No awarded Shares shall be granted to any eligible participant
if such grant of awarded Shares to such person would result
in the Shares subject to all awards and options granted
(excluding any award shares and share options lapsed) in
accordance with the terms of the Share Award Plan and other
share scheme(s) of the Company (if any) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of Shares in issue at the
date of such grant, unless such grant has been duly approved
by Shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

(i) Voting rights

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of
any Shares held under the trust constituted by the Trust Deed
(including but not limited to any Shares in the Shares Pool, the
Awarded Shares, the Returned Shares, any bonus Shares and
scrip Shares). The Selected Participants shall not have any right
to receive any Awarded Shares set aside for them pursuant
to an Award unless and until the Trustee has transferred and
vested the legal and beneficial ownership of such Awarded
Shares to and in the Selected Participants in accordance with
the terms of the Plan.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules since the Listing.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the 2025 Financial Year.

EQUITY LINK AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to share option
scheme and share award plan, there is no equity-linked agreement
that would or might result in the Company issuing Shares, or that
required the Company to enter into an agreement that would or
might result in the Company issuing Shares has been entered into by
the Company during or subsisted at end of the 2025 Financial Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company has
been entered into or existed during the 2025 Financial Year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The employees and remuneration policies of the Group during the
2025 Financial Year is set out in the subsection headed “Employees
and Remuneration Policies” on page 17 of this annual report. The
content is part of the report of the Directors.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as Auditors of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be held
in September 2025. The closure of the register of members of the
Company for determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM will be set out in the Notice of the annual general meeting
which will be despatched to shareholders of the Company in due
course.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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311 Gloucester Road,

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YEE HOP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
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OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yee Hop
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “"Group”) set out on pages 77 to 188, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &A% A R A 7

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Accounting for construction contracts

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 94.

BAREZEIE
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The key audit matter
HREESEH

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN EFNETREEZER

For construction contracts, there is considerable
judgment in assessing the appropriate contract
revenue, contract cost as well as the recognition of
contract assets and liabilities. Revenue is recognised
over time. The progress towards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on the
basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation by reference to the proportion of the actual
costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.
This involves the assessment of the completeness and
accuracy of contract costs incurred and forecast costs to

complete.
REESOME  RAHEEA NS SRR

BRNEENRBENERRFTEZASHE - s Ik
REER - TNETREAEENERBRLBRERA
FETE - ERR BESEATKEOREMELD
XHHBA (BERRBATRBEORENERA)
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FlEER WS - EFRIUIELER R ARTEHTT
AR EBEE R ERE MGG

Significant judgement is involved in relation to the
assessment of the total outcome and the progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation and is therefore considered as a key audit
matter.
EERBARNRAETEBITRARBONER Y
RERFAE Bt E /AR ERER -

Our audit procedures were designed to test revenue
recognised during the year to ensure the Group’s
accounting policy on construction contracts is in
accordance with the standard.

FAPI RR 5T B AZAE Fr LRI B R F A HE AR B0 Uk & DA
R BERENEESOSTRRERHEER -

We assessed whether the construction costs recognised
were in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy and supported by the evidence through critically
challenged the forecast costs to complete and actual
cost incurred. We assessed reliability of management'’s
assessment in budget costs by considering the
historical actual costs and estimation of budget costs of
completed projects.
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We have assessed progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation under input
method by recalculating the estimate of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation of the construction works based on the latest
budgeted costs and the total actual costs incurred.
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Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
Refer to notes 21 and 23(a) to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on pages 108 to 114.

ESEWRERGHNEERE
BLRGA P IRR W21 23U M E
108E114B 25K »

The key audit matter
HREXEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENE A REZEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had trade receivables

and contract assets of approximately HK$137,320,000
—and-HK$220,048,000 respectively.

F2025%3A31H - ESEMNESEKRIERE L

B E 5 RI498%137,320,0007T &% 220,048,0007T

The expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables
and contract assets are estimated by the management
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience
and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period.
BHORWRERGHNEENTAREEESE (RHBE
EFEBEDHEEERE EEENELEEBEL
S LA R 5 AR RO AT HE 1ML & RHE I {A 5T -

We have identified the impairment of the trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter in
view of the significance of the carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets and the ECL estimation
performed by the management involved significant
judgements and estimates.
ENEFRPRBLANEERAENEENEIAR
EREMETHEREEBERMGFFREXRAE K
et RPEBRETEZRKRRBERENEENRIE
REREZER -

Our audit procedures were designed to assess the
management estimation on ECL of trade receivables
and contract assets and challenge the reasonableness of
the significant judgements and estimates, including use
of significant unobservable inputs adopted in the ECL
estimation by the management.
BANBARTFEENGEREEHE S EERIER
BREENTEREEBEMG  LHERAEH RGE
AN EMREER  EREREEBERHAEE
BRAEGHTRANESTIBEEREARUE -

We have also assessed the appropriateness of the
methodology and reviewed the input data used by
the management with reference to the latest available
general economic data and the cash collection
performance against the Group'’s historical trends and
credit loss experience.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the Corporate Information, Chairman’s Statement,
Management discussion and Analysis, Corporate Governance
Report, Profiles of Directors and Senior Management, Report of
Directors, Five Year Financial Summary, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon,
which we obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report, and the
Management Discussion and Analysis, which is expected to be made
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting standards issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability

74

to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the Group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purpose of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB ENHRE

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Cheung Wang Kei.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Wang Kei
Practising Certificate Number: P07788

Hong Kong
27 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GaeBEakAtEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2025F3A31HIEFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HtaF BT T BT T
Revenue Wz 5 1,108,472 832,054
Cost of revenue W 35 AR 7N (971,428) (738,831)
Gross profit EH 137,044 93,223
Other income and gain H b g A R s 6 18,231 20,133
Administrative and other expenses THREAMES (95,067) (76,231)
Selling and distribution expenses HE R DB (3,742) (1,493)
Reversal of impairment loss of CRLEEREEEED
financial assets 9 998 302
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB QRS 39 4,294 -
Impairment loss on investment wEYERESE
properties 16 (5,930) =
Share of result of an associate A — B E A REE (838) (2,481)
Finance costs & A 7 (17,173) (14,395)
Profit before taxation M F53 B Vs A 37,817 19,058
Income tax expense FriSHif X 8 (13,552) (7,967)
Profit for the year F A8 9 24,265 11,091
Profit (loss) for the year attributable T 5 & I8 FE(G F AR A
to: (B#E) :
— Owners of the Company . WG] Tfﬁfﬁ_/\ 39,846 22,072
- Non-controlling interests — IR (15,581) (10,981)
24,265 11,091
Other comprehensive income Htt2EWKE (FX) :
(expense)
ltems that may be reclassified HigrgsHioEiE
subsequently to profit or loss: té H2ZIEE
Share of exchange reserve of an SiE— M E QR
associate ZEN B (18) 577
Exchange difference arising on BMEBIINEBESE
translation of foreign operations RIE & =% 1,637 (5,325)
1,619 (4,748)
Total comprehensive income FRE2EKZELEE
for the year 25,884 6,343
Total comprehensive income (expense) LATRIEJEtfi AE2H
for the year attributable to: s (F) 4858
— Owners of the Company . VNI Z SN 41,234 18,656
- Non-controlling interests — JEFEAR R B (15,350) (12,313)
25,884 6,343
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Earnings per share BRAT
Basic and diluted AR EE 13 0.08 0.04
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR R

At 31 March 2025 7202593 A31H

78

2025 2024
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 BT T BT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment MIEE - HEER N ERIE 4 46,755 63,049
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 15 6,931 1,751
Investment properties "EME 6 274,292 336,703
Interest in an associate R —EE LR R ED 17 65,526 66,382
Other non-current assets HEMIEmREEE 19 460 460
Long term deposit REIER 24 11,460 12,786
Pledged deposit EHEBER 24 39,056 39,286
Deferred tax assets RETHIEE E 20 7,441 7,445
451,921 527,862
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 22 505 -
Trade receivables B 5 WM FIE 21 137,320 181,006
Amounts due from joint operations  fEUL A & S 508 29 13,576 8,941
Contract assets BREE 23 220,048 160,643
Deposits, prepayments and other Ze  BRAIRER
receivables Hib e siE 24 28,865 24,623
Tax recoverable AU B F I8 534 5,793
Bank balances and cash WITHEB MRS 25 150,992 166,735
551,840 547,741
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and retention payables B RNFIER
FERRE & 26 118,450 105,252
Contract liabilities AHaE 23 42,180 49,126
Accruals and other payables FEFE A KA
FE A 5K IE 27 32,682 34,387
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 31,293 22,567
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 28 89,135 57,767
Amount due to a related e —fEREE R R
company A 29 6,231 4,584
Dividends payable FEAT IR B 12 2,000 -
Tax payable & %118 4,754 7,272
326,725 280,955
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma BRI R

At 31 March 2025 7202593 A31H

2025 2024

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

it BT T BT

Net current assets REBEEFRE 225,115 266,786

Total assets less current liabilities EEZLERMABERE 677,036 794,648
Non-current liabilities kRBEE

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEES 28 3,217 39,124

Long service payment obligations R EARTS & A 30 1,570 1,570

Lease liabilities HEBE 15 223,999 270,675

Deferred tax liabilities EEMRIBEA R 20 2,580 3,933

231,366 315,302

Net assets BEEFE 445,670 479,346
Capital and reserves EXR#E

Share capital P& X 31 5,000 5,000

Reserves G 475,839 494,165

Equity attributable to owners VAN/NETE Z =N

of the Company el 480,839 499,165

Non-controlling interests JEIE R M = (35,169) (19,819)

Total equity B 445,670 479,346

The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 188 were FITEI188E NI E M B MR IHESE
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 202556 5278 #E & & % 4 )2 - I A

June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: THATREESE
Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin Chui Mo Ming
EEE #EH
Director Director
EFE EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATER AR
Shares held Non-
Share Share  Merger Exchange for share Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve awardplan  reserve  profits Total  interests Total
RRARRE
b A
ke ROEE AHEE EXRG Rkt HbRE REER &t FeREs h)
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETn  A¥Tr BT BETR BMTn  BMTn  A¥Tr  EMTn  RETR BRI
(Note d) (Notec)  (Noteb)
(Hita) Wd)  (HE
At 1 April 203 R2023%4A18 5000 112,583 14,808 (3.785) - 1124 350779 480509 (71508) 473,003
Profit (oss) for the year Emat(Bi) = = = - - - nmoom o (10981 11,091
Share of exchange reseneof — HG—EEEATZ
an assodiate EifERE - - - 577 - = = 577 = 577
Bchange differencearisng ~~ BEENERELH
on translation of foreign EiZE
operations - - - (3.993) - - - (3993)  (133) (5325
(Loss) profit and total Eh(5E) R R
comprehensive (expense) (R h&
income for the year 2% - - - (3416) - - 2,012 1865  (12313) 6,343
At 31 March 2024 202438318 5000 112583 14,808 (7.201) - 1124 372851 499165 (19.819) 479,346
Profit oss) for the year EREH () - - = = = - 30846 39846 (15581) 24265
Share of exchange reseneof — AE—EEE AT
an associate [13:-1 = = S (18) - - - (18) - (18)
Bchange differencearisng ~~ BEFNERELH
on translation of foreign EXEE
operations - - - 1406 - - - 1,406 31 1637
(Loss) profit and total EN(EE)ENR
comprehensive (expense) (R 4hE
income for the year it - - - 1,388 - - 39846 41234 (15350 25884
Dividend recognised as ERBERERE
disrbuton (Note 12) (Witn2) - - - - - - (50000 (50,000 - (50000
Purchase of shares under share B TR1) 2R3t E
award scheme (Note 36) BERG W) - - - - (9480 = - - (9484)
Redlassfication upon disposel ~—~ RIEERBAF
of subsidiary (Note 39) ENPE (%) = = = (76) = = = (76) = (76)
At 31 March 2025 2025838318 5000 112583 14,808 (5,889) (9.484) 1124 362697 480839 (35169) 445670

Hiita - B HFEERREBEEEEAMBENERR
MEBTIRAEERRYEZSHE R R
MENREZER -

Note a: Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the issued capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a
group reorganisation over the consideration paid for acquiring these
subsidiaries.

Hiath - HEbfE s E £2016F3A318 L FEAT
W RERT A RSN IR EE SR E R
BEBEI16T 2258 -

Note b: Other reserve represents the difference between the carrying value
of the additional equity interests of the subsidiary acquired and the
consideration paid of HK$116 during the year ended 31 March 2016.

Hietc - BBk G REDF Bl E Z RO IER AR —
HEEKRND ZE BB 2 ADR KD -
FERBERMES

Note c¢: Shares held for share award plan represents the own shares of the
Company repurchased by a trustee for an employees’ share award plan.
Details disclosed in note 31.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

2025 2024
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K EE
Profit before taxation B 56 AT 7 37,817 19,058
Adjustments for: RBATIEBEL A% :
Bank interest income RITH B WA (6,306) (4,908)
Loan interest income BERF EWA - (257)
Provision for long service payment REARRTS & BB = 255
Finance costs & A 17,173 14,395
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEENE 4,567 3,609
Depreciation of investment properties BEMERE 27,650 39,839
Depreciation of property, plant and W B RRENITE
equipment 24,528 26,406
Impairment loss on impairment WA R R EEE
properties 5,930 =
Gain on termination of lease LIFEE S W
agreement (3,695) =
Gain on disposal of plant and B MR KRB NS
equipment (89) (105)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWNB QR (4,294) =
Government subsidies I 4 B (10)
Share of result of an associate o fh— B E A R A 838 2,481
Interest income on pledged deposit BT RAOF E WA (1,237) (1,938)
Reversal of impairment losses of TR A ERRREEE
financial assets (998) (302)
Operating cash flows before movements LEESEBRN
in working capital KEEPRE 101,874 98,533
Increase in inventories FE &M (505) -
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 2 2 W = TE A (1) 44,050 (49,803)
(Increase) decrease in deposits, e EREIEREA
prepayments and other receivables JE W k3B (30 sk 2> (3,669) 353
Increase in trade and retention payables B 5 ENZE R EN
1R E &N 15,595 16,756
Increase in accruals and other payables EETER R EMENFKIE
18 41 3,675 10,997
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EHEECHD) B (6,946) 46,468
Increase in contract assets BHEEEI (59,405) (25,276)
Cash generated from operations KEEBMFIRE 94,669 98,028
Income tax paid EREREH (12,160) (3,455)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ R&EEFASINE FE 82,509 94,573
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEY
Repayment from loan and interest BEEREKERRHE
receivable = 20,593
Interest received 2 BB 6,306 4,908
Interest received on pledged deposit BB HEIRF HUEIF) B2 1,237 1,437
Proceeds from disposal of plant and D EEE KRB TR RIE
equipment 158 512
Net cash outflow on disposal of LEMRBRARMNIEB R
subsidiaries HEE (161) -
Capital expenditures on investment WEYMENERRX
properties (1,598) (17,663)
Purchase of plant and equipment EEMBRREE (12,579) (11,950)
Placement in pledged deposit FABEBFR - (3,272)
Release of long term deposits BEBR R EATE K 1,258 -
Advance to joint operations BRTEEED (4,635) (1,666)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES & JEEFT AR & 558 (10,014) (7,101)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MBS
New bank and other borrowings raised EEEMRTREMEE 39,487 7,848
Advance from a related company BN RIR B 1,647 1,090
Government subsidies received 2 WK T i B 10 -
Dividend paid B E (48,000) -
Repayment of bank and other ERRITRAMES
borrowings (44,898) (30,805)
Interest paid for lease liabilities REEBEZNHFE (12,813) (8,502)
Repayment to lease liabilities BEEHERE (13,735) (12,623)
Interest paid on bank and other BT REMMERZHH
borrowings A (3,422) (4,955)
Shares repurchased by a trustee for an ZEEARE B RD ZEEE
employees’ share award plan [B] & A% 15 (9,484) -
Repayment to a director of a subsidiary BRT—HEHEBARN—%&
EENIE - (279
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING MERDAARSFR
ACTIVITIES (91,208) (48,226)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASHAND R4 MBS B CRd)
CASH EQUIVALENTS BN (18,713) 39,246
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FUNIREERESZEEBY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 166,735 127,196
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SINEE B SR B a5 2 2,970 293
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRNBERIELESEY
END OF THE YEAR, represented by (ARITEBRRIBERT)
bank balances and cash 150,992 166,735
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

1. GENERAL 1. —kR&EH
Yee Hop Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated EAERBERAR ([XAF]) R
as an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in 2015F2 A12B IRIBEHA E B & A0
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 F22F N AE (19614 F3f1 - 4845
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman A RIEF]) RE SRS FEMAL
Islands on 12 February 2015 and its shares are listed on The i E A 9 74201512 H18H £ &
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 December 2015. BERSMABRAR LT H&EHK
Its ultimate controlling parties are Mr. Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin R RERBEERFRRALE
and Mr. Chui Mo Ming (the “Controlling Shareholders”). (MERBRR]) - KRR MHE
The address of the registered office of the Company is Bz #o ik AWindward 3, Regatta Office
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
Cayman, KY1-1108, the Cayman Islands, and its principal KY1-1108, the Cayman Islands + 1 &
place of business is located at Room 1104-06, 11/F., Nan Fung DEEMBUNE BN EERGL
Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street, Kowloon Bay, Hong AR E2/mEFRO1111104-06
Kong. Ee
The Company is an investment holding company while the AAR R —BEEERAR  mE
principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of EMBARIEEREL BB RIER
foundation and other civil works and tunneling works in Hong Bl E R EAM T RTRENAKE
Kong and Philippines, health and environmental innovations BT EEERRAIF A RN S
and premises revitalisation and enhancement in the People’s EARANE ((HE] 2WEREL
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The principal activities of the EAZ - WBARARAMNEZXHHN
subsidiaries are set out in note 42. Bi5E42 o
Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC and the BRANPBRIEEEX Y AIMNE DR
Philippines whose functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB") (gt B8 98 AARE (AR
and Philippine Peso (“PHP”) respectively, the functional W) RIFEERELR ([FFEELE]))
currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is Hong Oh - ARE REAMME QAR EE
Kong dollars (“HK$"). For the purpose of presenting the BE¥RBE(B%]) -H2EE
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its FHmEMEs  ARaRERBA
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) Bl (AT #MEIAEME]) RABBIE
adopted HK$ as its presentation currency. REEZHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTSTOHKFRS 2. ERE B EREENS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS st 2 AERT &
In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, RAFE AEEEBXRXKANT
the following amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards HEASHMAS ((EEEEA
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public B BMmI AR K E2024F481H
Accountants (the “HKICPA") which are effective for the Fie 2 BT B £ 2 BB ®R
Group's financial year beginning on 1 April 2024: HEAGETEAEETA ¢
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BERVBEHRELEL ERMERZ
Leaseback 165 (BT A) HEAR
Amendments to HKAS 1 (note) Classification of Liabilities as ERSTELE1 BEABHEA
Current or Non-current and 55 (1BETAS) (Mt T EN B FE TR &N
the related amendments to =) NREERE
Hong Kong Interpretation EE55% 2 1
5 (2020) Presentation &3] (20204F)
of Financial Statements MBHmERZE
— Classification by the P —fERAEH
Borrower of a Term Loan FIBRENRE
that Contains a Repayment BIERZER
on Demand Clause EFETHE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with ARG ERZE1 MWMHERm Ik
Covenants 5% (1BETA) mENBE
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance BB EFTERE7 HERRMER
HKFRS 7 Arrangements RREBVER B
HEBIETH (&
HEN),
The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting RAFERBEAVMBREEL S
Standards in the current year has had no material effect on the FFEANMESRT AN S AR B KRBT HI R
Group's financial performance and positions for the current RNEE 2 BRI R KL%
and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these SR e M BRI 2 HEFEL
consolidated financial statements. mEARNTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Noncurrent and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”); and Amendments to HKAS 1 -
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification.

The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period.

Upon adoption of the amendments, the Group has reassessed
the terms and conditions of its loan arrangements, the
application of the amendments has no material impact on the
classification of the Group’s liabilities.

EREAMKREEANS
T RIS R A ()
EREBEERE15 (BTA)
BEBIEARBIFERBUR
EEREEST 2 HBEET (2020
F) ([2020F T R]) s REE
S ER B9 (BFTAR)— K&
%E**Z#u.@bﬁ{*@zozzﬂk
HE: )4 2
2020F (B A BB ABEIEAR
@Jj#uwiﬁmfﬁi \L?EL?E/EM
R EE - DA&UE%%“%MME
WEHARGEE BENIETXE
BT HTEEE %‘J%IEE’J%%@; °
ZEBRNRE AERNNUAER
GHEZTABE URRBEA
EREEPNERBEERNRIES
BT AARR  BENERAT
GBS E -
02FERT A E— TR T EER
THEEMABERZOT  REER
PR B HAsk 2 B W4 B B ST R 22 4
Q%%ﬁ%ﬁa‘?@ﬁﬁ/ﬁ@&#ﬁ@
TREERREHRI2EAANKEA
#W&ﬂaxw@mn@ba{;
EHEITRRIMNERE o

RERMZ SIEFT AR $‘§EE
%ﬁnﬂaﬁ% R P 2 AR R ARAE
ﬁ’éﬁﬁ%?ﬁ%{zuT$ﬁT$%@EﬁE%ﬁ
BUBEESEATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs Accounting
Standards issued but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification

and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards —
Volume 112
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing
and HKFRS 7 Nature-dependent Electricity?

W Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
will have no material impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement
are explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group's
returns.

3.

EZSBEREHR

REMBRRNVZBEEGMA
ERMNBFEMBGHREEAGHE
AlfREL - Lo SREMBHRRETE
EEBARFMERABES LT
BT EWRR]) REERAED
Y E R R AR E

REREHAR  HEFHHRERTIIZ
E SRR AR B

FE 52 R 7R — AR R 32 1 6 X PR 7
FfTREMATESE -

ATEATRSRENTE RS
B TR 5 A R S
BEFREN 2B TRRZER
ETEEBRMERETUAS—
BRI FT1S - A TEE 8 HIE
RTS8 & s R R -

EZGERREN T °

REE®E

HEMBERREEBEARFRAAF
P ) B A8 S HL B X A RO BF S R
7 © b B 2 Rl B AUB 5 T 3L AE
ERXPREHRARE M ERERA
KBNS B BREREN
BER AERRKEEMBHRARESH
ZMBARMYBRERIELEEH
B AR S E S EEAT

HASBOE R ENREBRED
(N2 RBEEHREBMESH A
HEmAAERR S EARA &
(T HIREHRITEEETUARE
AEBEMDRESE - RIBUSEEHIRE

Annual Report 2024/25 ik

87



lc;b »

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains

88

control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method. Under the equity method, interest in an
associate is initially recognised at cost. The Group’s share of
the profit or loss and changes in the other comprehensive
income of the associate is recognised in profit or loss and
other comprehensive income respectively after the date of
acquisition. If the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate, which determined
using the equity method together with any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate, the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are provided for, and a liability
is recognised, only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
adjustments are made to make the associate’s accounting
policies conform to those of the Group when the associate’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

After application of the equity method, including recognising
the associate’s losses (if any), the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss
with respect to its interest in an associate. The Group assesses
whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in
an associate may be impaired. When an objective evidence

90

exists, the entire carrying amount of the interest is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount
of the interest in an associate. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount of

the investment subsequently increases.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate are recognised in consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’
interests in the associate that are unrelated to the Group. The
Group’s share in the associate’s gains or losses resulting from

these transactions is eliminated.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of

the parties sharing control.

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 A R A7)

BEEGTHREER @

R—EBE QR & (8)

ERBEDRE  BRERBER
ANER(WA) AKREEERES
FEREAERE AR NS ERE
AEIRERE - XEEFGEEE
BEEBEBRBETIR —MBEQAN
REAREHRBE  HETBER
AR EdEEERES
BEFERFCRIEREREEL
TREMNR  TARKEARKES
B(EREELRDFEREEKAH
BedE) BAREESL - ERCHE
RHREEEBERR —FEE QT
ZHEws Z BREERN — 2D - B R
BEERZEIMBERRZEFRENTK
[B] < B8 HL 1R I8 HNBS T LARERR

AEBREBERRETRIESE
ZWaE R EE EEEZEE QA
VEASEEBEZIREEREDD
BRATREATBEHRRAER - K
SEHEEBERAEXERHEL
Z U as S B IE T LA S 8E o

REEXB o ER
REEBEHAE R AR ARE
PRSI EZLTHERNEE
REBEDRRBENRAERTH
BERH  KAEHRERRELD
1 7 5t K IR % R P KB B9 12 il 4
EREBEBNRARELFLLR
BEHNE T —BRERSFE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Interests in joint operations (Continued)

The Group, as a joint operator, recognises in relation to its
interest in a joint operation:

BEEGTHREER @

A > s ()
ARBERSBERERABER
B2 R

e itsassets, including its share of any assets held jointly; s HEE PEERHERRBED
FRIEERNMDE
e its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred e Hef BFEER /\HFEE'J
jointly; ERBERNHE
e its revenue from the sale of its share of the output e HEEAEEBKELMNMEDN

arising from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by
the joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interests in joint operations in
accordance with the HKFRS accounting standards applicable
to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity enters into a transaction with a joint
operation in which the group entity is a joint operator, the
Group is considered to be conducting the transaction with the
other parties to the joint operation and the Group recognises
gains and losses resulting from such a transaction only to the
extent of the other parties’ interests in the joint operation.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss.
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e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group

uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

92

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the

contract
° Step 3: Determine the transaction price
o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EEESMBERER®W

INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) BEEEHWE (&)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised i fF & AT AR —IHAER] - 26l

over time by reference to the progress towards complete R—EREEANER Mzl 2E

satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of TREABNEC ZCEREN —BRE

the following criteria is met: AR

e The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the o  EFERASKERELORR I
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the MERAEBELYTIRE ZF
Group performs; ol

e The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset e AEBEBABIENMATFER
that the customer controls as the asset is created or BEWMAESMERFIES 2 &
enhanced:; or i Ek

e The Group’s performance does not create an asset e AEBERBEAHLKREEHREH
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group MEEEBERARCEE B
has an enforceable right to payment for performance AEEHEZSEZHEHNN
completed to date. HEB A REIFNITHRER -

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the BRI WEREFPRESAESMNE

customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service. 00 S AR TS 2 HE A B RE AR ©

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the WRBBAEEIRER PS4 TEH

Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer, HEEKDRNRESE HELBHE

excludes sales related taxes. SHEMRRATIA ©

Contract assets and contract liabilities BHEERSHWERE

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration BHEEEASERNREFEEAS

in exchange for goods or services that the Group has B & sk iR 7% AR (B 2 A (1=

transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It R ABEGGE) - NEBERBERBE

is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In 5 2RI ENR T ERE - R 2 -

contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional JEW R TE I A E B E R E 2 E KM

right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required REF) - BIBERFRH R - ENR(E R H

before payment of that consideration is due. 1% B AT YHR A 350

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to BHEERASERSRE P KR

transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group RE MERTFERERIRD

has received consideration from the customer. BEF -

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract MEFPIIYME—GHME - XA

asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple BREEFHEIESHNBEFERY -

contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated MEEEAOMET  THEGLHINE

contracts are not presented on a net basis. HNEEREHNAGBETNFHEEES

Bl o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on
an asset under the control of the customer and therefore the
Group’s construction activities create or enhance an asset
under the customer’s control.

94

Revenue from the contract is recognised over time. The
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation by reference to the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services. When the outcome of the contract cannot
be reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

The Group's construction contracts normally include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the construction
period once milestones are reached. The Group also typically
agrees to a one to two years retention period for 5% to
10% of the contract value. This amount is included in
contract assets until the end of the retention period as the
Group'’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Property management services

For property management services, the Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly basis and
recognises as revenue in the amount to which the Group has a
right to invoice and that corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Service income

Revenue from service income from provision of administrative
services to its joint operations is recognised over time. As a
practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration
from a customer in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice. The service income recognised
in profit or loss is included in the other income and gain line
item.

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods (i.e. sales of health and
environmental innovations product) is recognised at the point
when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers
(generally on delivery goods).

Variable consideration

For the consideration promised in a contract, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods to
a customer.

The Group estimates an amount of variable consideration
by using either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method, depending on which method the Group
expects to better predict the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing
Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

At inception of the contract, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over

the term of the lease.
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HE
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EEBEBEBA
AEEREHERKFIHANEE
BEREHE KREHHEE(EE
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Lease liabilities HEAEF

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability REWBBER AEEIEEHE AL
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid NHEEFRB REFEHERBE
at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the HMEREZHEER S 2 ME/LIR o
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily MAREESHEEZMNE AR EE
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. FRERERSEEFR X -

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease AEHERERMEE CHERE
liability comprise: BIE

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed e [EAFrHEERE(BEEZEETE
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; FIE) AR RN EEEE

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or o HEMENMNNK  ABUAR—IE
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the BESR X YLt EFFH
commencement date; BAtA B HI RO 5 8k FI &

e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under o  FMHARBFSKEBEEREDS
residual value guarantees; EN&EE
e the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is e BWEREMITEE (WEAHEASE

reasonably certain to exercise the options; and BHETEZEREN) &k

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the e KRIMENIFEMNR(UNEE
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 6 R R M 7N S B 1T {5 4 A LA 4%
terminate the lease. HHEE) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is
used).

o a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an

obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under HKAS
37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.
The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless

those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated
over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the

underlying asset.

BEEGTHREER @

HE @

FEEEREBEA (E)
FHEEE
EREEEREEABRHEERE K
Pt BB 2 AR L T & 1 3 I
EENMERRE  REDNEE
BENVLFAE - EXEEELENR
BRRhBHRHEEE REMEBEE
FrESHAGEEEEREEHE
figR SR B AGR 1 P AR TE AR BB O B AR B AE
B SIRIBEE B SR ERIFEI75% [
B KARBBERIAREE] RN
EREB KA AHBEEREEE
FoBREZERADREERFEM
EAERIERIR °

EREEERRAKARRITE
KREEESS UREEAED
ETMEFFEFLAR - ERAEE
ENREERREBEEENAEA
FHAREERE)NE -

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the REBREE M BARRK AR
definition of investment property as a separate line in the EREVEETENEAEEESZS
consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-use REBUIER FEREVMEERD
assets that meet the definition of investment property are EAEEENREMEINZES -
presented within “investment property”.

AEBERELEGFENFEICSRE
EREEEERBEEESSHEAR
B XAREAEBHRERE

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

Lease modification HEBH
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate MR ERFE AT GRE - NEEE
lease if: HEERER—BEENHEEET
BEERE
e the modification increases the scope of the lease by o ZEBUBRIEIGEAR-I/NZ
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; HENEENENERTHEE
and #HE: 8
e the consideration for the lease increases by an amount o FHEREMIGINTEEFTIE NS

BEHOoNEBERREEAN
BRETEEFBRNESER

=
=

commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease modification (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective

date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to some of its machineries and properties. Leases
for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the

consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and

recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,

rather than by reference to the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At

100

the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interest as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over
a joint arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of
a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are reattributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint
arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &A% A R A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BEESTHREER @

Borrowing costs BE R

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the FERERARESBHEERRE
period in which they are incurred. e

Government grants Qg

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service payment
to its employees on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is
the amount of future benefits that the employees have earned
in return for their services in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method,
discounted to its present value.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period
the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

102

other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in an associate, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

BEESTHREER @

BE ()
EXEBAEERAESN S RMEL
Rl WRTHAER RHESR
75048 M) LA e [2 2 5P 25 R 0 B 22 B A
2

BEMAEERBERESREH
RO B ERBEMAORE (R
) HEHENAENEREED
MERBETH -

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects BEEFBEEEREENGT E REIE
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in BASBEREHREHRKE HEE
which the Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, HEELKBEREEBEMESRSAW
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and WEBR -

liabilities.

fisd B TR TTHRE A B PR BD AR 7R
BENEHNHMHBAE  MELT

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes MIBEB R -—REKEBR ZFE
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends MAEM ARKREEEHAFEEE
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis. HHABREBEAEREE BT
HIHRERIEEEEE(E o

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing RAEEERERAELEERIEHAME
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use EAENHEERGFIEEEREM
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first E Zﬁﬁlé%?‘gtﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ_}z
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the BEEDAEMMEHR
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

Eﬁ‘

FRBGERAERBREERE
MEERS AEEREEEE

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the lease liabilities and the A1 25R PRl M 2R 2 FHIE R
related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred REEBBEREHEE - AKE L
tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is R 7T 82 B 15 Be A A 7% AT HE 40 2 B 1
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the =8 XTfﬁ ey EN A E R - R
deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred Eﬁfﬁiﬂﬁﬁ*ﬁ B AR AT 1S fRéE
tax liability for all taxable temporary differences. WA B AR E Rt Z R HRIE
Eﬁlﬁfﬁ% °

BNEA RRE R IE R 1B e HE R o

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,

if any.

104

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between
the leasehold land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values at initial recognition. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,

plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
(including properties under development for such purposes).
Investment properties include leased properties recognised
by the Group as right-of-use asset and leased out under
operating lease.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of investment properties over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method. Costs incurred
for investment properties under construction are capitalised
as part of the carrying amount of the investment properties
under construction. An investment property held by the
Group as a right-of-use asset is measured initially at cost in
accordance with HKFRS 16.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and
demand deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are
short-term (generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents,
as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the first-in,
first-out method. Net realisable value of inventories represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at

106

fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the cost of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. The classification of
financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. The Group’s financial

assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit
impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting
for any loss allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased
or originated credit impaired financial assets, interest
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income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the

gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “Other income and gain” line item (note

6).

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost
and contract assets. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of

money where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BEESTHREER @

Financial instruments (Continued) £@T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) TEEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other financial assets measured at amortised cost, the
Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL,
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the

110

regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) the debt instrument
has a low risk of default, ii) the debtor has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has

an internal rating of ‘performing’.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in

credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either

of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:
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external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BEEGTHREER @

Financial instruments (Continued) E@TE (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE(Z)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
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that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BEESTHREER @

Financial instruments (Continued) £@T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE(Z)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
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contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.

BEESTHREER @

Financial instruments (Continued) SRTIA ()
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued) THEERKEITE (E)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading,
or (3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period,
to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material). When some or all of the economic benefits required
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of
the receivable can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
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suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and investment properties are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or the CGU) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s leasing
transactions and value in use of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

BEESTHREER @

AT EIE
AEATER BAKREMNHEER
%M&%ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ%*%% 1
EREREREEREZERER
M\$%@%F%%m%/A%F
AAERHEESREEERMEE
MEEXRAERH -

BIFERMEEFAFEFER &
AR mE2REARERRRER
BEMBZBEE RS —HARK
RERERERZEAZEEEN
miﬁ//\%ﬂj EZBREEMNREH

AR R
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate K’Elﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁiiﬁﬂ%ﬁ’\ﬁ?ﬂ’%‘\
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are BEZRHEATHFAEQATE

available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics of
inputs, as follow:

EEMAMN EQTEE,T\?J\%I}E?&m

%’i*%@iﬁﬁ THEREARE- A2
CASERBEABUENER

&"ﬁﬁﬁnﬁrg DER/=ERAIEAT :

Level 1 = Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active F—H — REREBESBER
markets for identical assets or liabilities. V& B T 45 ) T 4% R (B
(REFHE)FTE -
Level 2 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest F/ — EREQFEFEMS
level input that is significant to the fair B E AR &ER A
value measurement is directly or indirectly ANEHEESHEE
observable. REHMEE S AR
=
Level 3 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest F=/K — KREYQAFESF=EMS
level input that is significant to the fair value & & R (R AR Bl 5
measurement is unobservable. ANETABRFEHA
HEHETE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines RBEPR  AEEEBREHEE
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value LEaBESENATENE BEER
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair AVEFENEERBENAYE

value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.

ERCHREFERLEHER -

Annual Report 2024/25 ik

117



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

lc;b »

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgement, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses reported and disclosures made in the consolidated
financial statements. The estimates and associated assumptions

118

are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Classification of joint arrangements

Yee Hop-Amain JV, Amain-CW Yee Hop JV and CWBKYH
JV are joint operations as the Group have joint control
of the arrangements and have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangements.
Pursuant to the respective contractual agreements regarding
each of these joint arrangements, all major decisions and
the decisions regarding the relevant activities of these joint
arrangements require the unanimous consent of all parties to
the arrangement. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
concluded that the Group has joint control over the joint
arrangements.

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 A R A7)
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Classification of joint arrangements (Continued)
Judgement is required in determining the joint control, rights
and obligations of parties to the joint arrangements with
reference to the board structure of joint arrangements, the
legal form of the arrangements, the contractual terms agreed
by the parties in the arrangements about relevant activities
and the rights to the assets, liabilities and all profits or losses
arising out of the joint execution.

The directors of the Company concluded that all of the
Group's joint arrangements should be classified as joint
operations under HKFRS 11 as the relevant joint arrangement
document specify that the parties to the joint arrangements
have rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities
relating to the joint arrangements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Accounting for construction contracts

The Group recognises revenue according to the management’s
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well as
the percentage of completion of construction works under
the input method. When determining the total budgeted
costs, management makes reference to information such as
current or recent offers from subcontractors and suppliers and
estimation on material costs, labour costs and other costs for
the completion of the projects provided by its internal quantity
surveyors. Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs for
the construction contract as the contract progresses, the actual
outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue and costs
may be higher or lower than the estimates and this will affect
the revenue, cost and profit recognised.

B % 2 ot ¥ B & £ 5t T 98
BIEZEMNEERIRE

FE 2 et BRR A9 B K 3 i (48)

BEZHH 7B ()
REEHREZEGE a2RERT
MEMNEEER A2EEHaE
RHNEETSHERE  THRERT
A B RZHFARRTT R HE R
BAMERTARKFRTELENEE
BEMMBEDER -

ARBEERA AKEMAENE
ERHBRBEBFEVHHRSERE
BMOBERBERY RESHEBESE
LSRBENMHITARERHE YA
BRI BRNEERABZAER
REE-

CEIROEEETSE 3:0E X2 9
UTRERRKNEEZRR &R
HEMRNEFT TRBARREME
ERR EXEZRBRASHT @
MBRFEANEERBEREER
NERTE °

BREEHZETEE
AEERZEEEEHEB BKRD
it REZERTIRERE D LERA
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT 4. BAREHHE RMEFTTH
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BIRFENEZRIR %)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) st THBEZENEERIR (E)
Impairment loss on trade receivables and contract assets B S EWIER S EE R B EE
A
Impairment for trade receivables and contract assets are based BORKRERENEENRER
on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses judgement in REBHEEBEENRRE A~5EH
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the B4 8 Bl FE U SR IR A R (B B R EUA
impairment calculation, based on the number of days that RAREERmERRNELER R
an individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group's AIEMHER  CRABIEEZER
historical experience and forward-looking information at the FREBEFREFENE ASRE %
end of the reporting period. Changes in these assumptions ZRF KT E LA e H A (L 4
and estimates could materially affect the result of the REEEATE "B LEHIE
assessment and it may be necessary to make additional = E BB ANRY IR E S o 7R20254F
impairment charge to the profit or loss. At 31 March 2025, 3A31H EZRKFERGDNEE
the carrying amounts of trade receivables and contract assets MERMEE D 54 &7 ¥137,320,000
are approximately HK$137,320,000 (2024: HK$181,006,000) 70 (20244 : & #181,006,0007T)
and HK$220,048,000 (2024: HK$160,643,000) respectively, K 76 #220,048,0007T (20244 : i
net of accumulated loss allowance for ECL of approximately #160,643,0007T) F KR FBEEE
HK$49,000 (2024: HK$1,331,000) and HK$135,000 (2024: ERZZ2ABRBEES BIKHNEE
HK$135,000) respectively. 49,0007T (20244 : #%1,331,000
70) K #135,0007T (20244 : H#E
135,0007T) ©
Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment YFE BESRBEIE A ZEHE
-
The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment REBLTRYE - HERFEM
over their estimated useful life and after taking into account AARIsREER  KAERERMAE
of their estimated residual values, using the straight line AEAFEHEYE MR RREE
method. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’ THE -FFAERAFHARKES
estimate of the periods that the Group intends to derive future HEAAREE Y HB KR HEE
economic benefits from the use of the Group’s property, BEHE R TR A7 2 /9 BB B HH A 1
plant and equipment. As at 31 March 2025, the carrying 5o 202593 H31H - W% - # 25
values of property, plant and equipment are approximately F AR BRE B 4 &= 75 846,755,000
HK$46,755,000 (2024: HK$63,049,000). 70 (20244 : 5 %63,049,0007T) °
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

(Continued)
Impairment assessment of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. The Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in: (1)
considering whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) assessing whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount which is the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use; and (3) applying the appropriate key
assumptions in estimating the recoverable amounts including

cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of investment
properties are approximately HK$274,292,000 (2024:
HK$336,703,000) respectively. During the year ended 31
March 2025, impairment loss on investment properties of
HK$5,930,000 (2024: nil) was recognised in profit or loss
statement. Further details about the investment properties are

set out in note 16.

B8 82 = o M T % {5 5t 88
BRZNEERR @)

EET TR E RN EEZRIR (B)

REY¥E 2 BEFIE
REYEL KRR R E RBE
(anE) PIME - NE B AL HE K
EITEE LER-(MWEBEERS
EHERENBERMBRBERARE
TEEEEBE QFMEEREE
ERREMARKE B (AR
RFERHERAREREEME
FHERSE)  RQEMGTREE
HNEREEARER(BERER
BFRAREENIEREK) o

2025638310  HEWENR
E{E 5 5l #) 5 7% #274,292,0007T
(2024% : 8 1336,703,0007T) ° &
F2025F3A31BLEFE  EEWME
B B 188 55,930,000 (20244 :
BEZIL)ERBRRANER - 56
WEYE 2 E— T BEHRHE6
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WmkoIHER
Revenue W &=
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: AEBHFERNREDTAT -
2025 2024
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue from contracts with ERUKREERE155K
customers within the scope of HERNNEFESHWKE
HKFRS 15

Disaggregated by major products or 1%+ BE F sk RIGEH D IF
services lines

— Construction revenue under —EREMERTE
foundation and other civil works H RN ZEEWE 933,473 670,619
— Construction revenue under —BBETRIE N 2EBE
tunneling works e 144,914 146,313
— Management fees income under —MEECRARET
premises revitalisation and ZEBBIRA
enhancement 12,593 5,397
— Other —HAth 2,122 -
1,093,102 822,329
Revenue from other source H A 2R R W &=
— Rental income under premises —-MEECRARETZ
revitalisation and enhancement el A 15,370 9,725
1,108,472 832,054
122 Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 A R A7)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of revenue from contracts
with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment

5. WakoBER @

Wz (48)
TREINKBEEFPHAILANZ
Wa D HEMAREz R H

information. iR o
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E2025F3HA31HLLFE
Segments
2
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other  Tunneling and Other
civil works works enhancement segments Total
WERHAM MEFILR
TAIR BEIR R Hitt 3 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BT
Types of goods or service & m sk IRFSFERY
Construction revenue wEREMLATRE
under foundation and BT 2 RENE
other civil works 933,473 - - - 933,473
Construction revenue BEIRETZ
under tunneling works BEWE - 144,914 - - 144,914
Management fees income )& L RARIAT
under premises ZEBEKRA
revitalisation and
enhancement - - 12,593 - 12,593
Other Hith = - - 2,122 2,122
Total revenue from BEFMIVAY
contracts with customers 2 #fi5s 933,473 144,914 12,593 2,122 1,093,102
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaEkoiHER @
(Continued)
Revenue (Continued) Wz (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE2024F3A31HIEFE
Segments
Vak=il
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement Total
MEREAM MmEE R
TARTHE BETE FR @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT AT BT

Types of goods or service Em R ER

Construction revenue under WEREMTATRET

foundation and other civil LREW S

works 670,619 - - 670,619
Construction revenue under BB TR 2 BE S

tunneling works - 146,313 - 146,313
Management fees income under 12 E (L RFHRIET 2

premises revitalisation and ERBIA

enhancement = = 5,397 5,397

Total revenue from contracts with B FEFEI A4 2
customers Fellges 670,619 146,313 5,397 822,329
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WmkoEER @

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued) Wz ()

Disaggregation of revenue by timing of recognition B [ 7 58 1Y W 25 5 HF
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Over time 4 B 1,090,980 822,329
Point in time P — R 1 B 2,122 -
1,093,102 822,329

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with
customers

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of transaction
price allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$2,078
million (2024: HK$1,423 million). The amount represents
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
construction contracts. The Group will recognise this revenue
as the relevant performance obligation on the construction
contract is satisfied, which is expected to occur over the next
1-59 months (2024: 1-22) months.

Segment information

Information reported to the chief executive officer (“CEQ"),
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods sold and services provided. The
directors of the Company have chosen to organise the Group
around differences in goods and services. No operating
segments identified by the chief operating decision maker
have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:
1. Foundation and other civil works;
2. Tunneling works;

3. Premises revitalisation and enhancement.

RENEFIRERTENER
ZRZERE

2025638318 D EEEXRETT
(IHDARBIT) 2BHNEE RS
EREREAXEE2,078A & 7T (2024
F B 4238 T) c ZeEE
TEEAR % B EEA N R W o
AEBBRBBEEEONENE
FiEK R (FBRFR AR R1E59E A
(20245 - 1Z222{8 R) AEE) #R

M o

2EEFR

FITERAR (TBAR] - EEE
BRRE) MEAEEIRD B MFHAE
DEMRERENERZRRAE
M E m R EH )RR - ANA A
EZCRERTRAE MR R AR
AEE T BERERRECEEHL
SENAER BRLESTREH
RIEEEZ D HB o

1. HENHEMEARTRE:
2. BREIR:

3. MERCRIE-
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoIBER @)
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) DERE R (E)
In addition to the operating segments described above, each Br Ealige & 5 o - & o B IR
of which constitutes a reportable segment, the Group has ENH AEBHEES —HLED
another operating segment which represented health and BB RERIBRINER % E
environmental innovations business. The segment meets DEREERE D B H—I*L Fl £ fa
none of quantitative thresholds for determining reportable BHEEKR A L EH
segments. Accordingly, the above operating segment is ERATEAM] -
presented as “Others”.
Segment revenues and results i) “Bﬂﬁlié)ii%ﬁa
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results NTRZAIERkEEDEE DB
by reportable and operating segments. ARE B R e &%Z DHT ©
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E2025F3A31HLLFE
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other ~ Tunneling and
civil works works enhancement Others Total
i ERH A WEELR
TAIR BEIR big 't Hith @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
REVENUE S
External segment IR 5 Uz
revenue 933,473 144,914 27,963 2,122 1,108,472
Segment profit (loss) AR (FE) 113,456 23,811 (1,768) 1,545 137,044
Share of result of an b —EE D F]
associate E3 (838)
Unallocated income AHEWA 23,523
Unallocated expenses KOBEY (104,739)
Unallocated finance costs %) Bt gB & Al AR (17,173)
Profit before taxation BB AR T 37,817
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024

5. WgkoBER @

DEBU I R A (
#H Z2024F3 A31 EI Jtﬁﬁé*

Premises

Foundation revitalisation

and other Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement Total

MEREM MmEELK
TARIE BriE T2 & @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT

REVENUE I

External segment revenue ONER S PR 670,619 146,313 15,122 832,054
Segment profit (loss) DEREF (F1B) 55,783 44,515 (7,456) 92,842
Share of result of an associate SME—EBE R REE (2,481)
Unallocated income APEWA 20,133
Unallocated expenses APERX (77,041)
Unallocated finance costs ROMEE R A (14,395)
Profit before taxation B AR T 19,058
The accounting policies of the operating segments are 4 A o 3200y < 24 TP 5 B B £ 3 T B AN
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in EEeHKERR o 5ImF (EFiE)

note 3. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned
by (loss incurred from) each segment without allocation of
administrative and other expenses, selling and distribution
expenses, directors’ salaries, finance costs, reversal of
impairment loss of financial assets, impairment loss on
investment properties, gain on disposal of subsidiaries, share
of result of an associate and other income and gain. This is
the measure reported to the CEO for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

B 9 B E I & 5 B 17 B K H i 5
X HERDHAX EFHS
BMEXAE - eHEERERRBERD
REMEREEE LHEWEBRAA
Wz~ Db B QR A AR E A
WA B s a5 601850 S P ik B B g A
(ﬁ:’ REBE) - B EETER

7 & IR AT AR 2 R
B J30% ©
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERkDAER ®)
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

THEERER
THRAEERZTT2HREE DR
EPMBEERABON :

128

Segment assets T EHEE
2025 2024
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Foundation and other civil works EREMEARTIE 274,194 297,460
Tunneling works fxiE T2 93,190 68,486
Premises revitalisation and MEFRFR
enhancement 328,591 390,582
Others HAith 6,614 -
Total segment assets DEPEE AR 702,589 756,528
Corporate and other unallocated NElREMRDEEE
assets 301,172 319,075
Total assets BEBTE 1,003,761 1,075,603
Segment liabilities DEEE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Foundation and other civil works WENKEMTARTIE 160,519 153,863
Tunneling works BxiE T2 18,402 18,474
Premises revitalisation and Y TEC R
enhancement 259,882 298,523
Others HAith 5,010 -
Total segment liabilities DE BB 443,813 470,860
Corporate and other unallocated pEalkEMROEEE
liabilities 114,278 125,397
Total liabilities BEEE 558,091 596,257
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaEkoIBER @)
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PHEERAR(E)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and RERSDHBERRERSHEDEE
allocating resources between segments: REMME -

1. All assets are allocated to operating segments, other
than interest in an associate, amounts due from
joint operations, certain plant and equipment, other
non-current assets, bank balance and cash, tax
recoverable, certain deposits, prepayments and other
receivables, right-of-use assets and deferred tax assets.
Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated
on the basis of the revenues earned by individual
reportable segments; and

2. All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other
than certain accrual and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, tax payable, long service payment
obligations, amount due to a related company, certain
lease liabilities, dividends payable and deferred tax
liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable segments are
jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment
assets.

MRS NAEDE  ERAE
EBHRE - E TSR R
HMIFRBEE RITHEHK
kBE - AIRERE &HTE
& B BOE K& A b 8 R
B EREEENRELENRRE
ES EEESNETHEE
7 EB o A 2 ¥ # R L A A
BERRE R R 2% 7 & HRE
B E DB - M

& TR &R R EA R R
HORITREMES  BAKR
B RYRESAE BN
ERRRA ETHERE
FERT BB FAREF IR A A S
FMERBHIETELDH -
BRI 2|y AMHARAENEE
BROMEEMNLLHI D -
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(Continued)

Wk oBER @

Other segment information Hith 7 8 & ¥
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
andother ~ Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement Other  Unallocated Total
WERE NEELR
IRIR BEIE #& At ELY @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT EBT T EBT T ART T ARTT AET T
Year ended 31 March 2025 BEBFIANALER
Amounts induded in the measure @ ES HRA
of segment profitor segment  AHEEMLE:
assets:
Depreciation & 15,039 3,450 21,102 55 10,499 56,745
Impairment loss on investment REMEHERR
properties - - - - 5,930 5,930
Reversal of impairment loss of SREEAEREER
financial assets 988 - - - - 998
Additions to non-current assets REFRDEE 9,188 3,109 21,781 82 9747 44,107
Amounts regularly providedto ~ EHBIELERFEE
the chief operating decision REEFaEERE
makerbutnotindudedinthe  APRAHIHEE
measure of segment profit or MeE:
segment assets;
Bank interest income RIINEMA - - - = (6:306) (6:306)
Government subsidies (gL - - - - (10) (10)
Interest income on pledged BERRFOHHEMA
deposit - - - - (1,237) (1,237)
Gain on disposal of plant and HERERRXENE
equipment, net et - = = = (89) (89)
Share of loss of an associate HE-BERERAESR - - - - 838 838
Finance costs BEWK - - - - 171713 17173
Income tax expense FSHRL - - - - 13,552 13,552
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoIBER @)
(Continued)
Other segment information (Continued) Hitb o BER (8)
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
aivil works works  enhancement  Unallocated Total
HWEREM mEER
IATE BETE 8 AR 83

HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKFO0D  HK$000
AETT  B%Tn BBt BBTn A%Tn

Year ended 31 March 2024 BEWMEIANBLEE

Amounts included in the measure of AREHEADERD
segment profit or segment assets: PHEENEE:
Depreciation e 17,013 3,901 39,889 9,051 69,854
Additions to non-current assets REERDERE 7970 2,6% 17,663 3441 31,770

Amounts regularly provided to the chief ~ EHEFELERRERH
operating decision maker but notinduded BRI HHES R

in the measure of segment profit or AREENSE:

segment assets:

Bank interest income RANEMA - - - (4,908) (4,908)
Loan interest income EHMEMA - - = (257) (257)
Interest income on pledged deposit BERRFHTSMA - - - (1,938) (1,938)
Government subsidlies BR&EH - - - (105) (105)
Gain on disposal of plent and equipment, net ~ HERERFEZUE  FE - - - 2481 2481

Share of profit of an associate pox =G WAV = = = 14,39 14,39

Finance costs BEKA - - = (7,967) (7.967)
Income tax credit FEHEs - - = (4.908) (4,908)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

Geographical information

Wz KkoEHER &)
HibhpEER (8)

LK

AEERED  TELFREEE -

The Group'’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the PRC
and the Philippines.

BRAAKBXREIINSELPMKREE
RN ELREMER - FALE
BIERDEENEHNDREENM

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets

is presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

BUEZE®R -

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
B ZE2025%F HZ=2024F
3A31BLEFE 3A31BILEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue from external customers K BAINEEE Uk S

Hong Kong BB 1,080,047 816,381
The PRC =2 27,963 15,122
The Philippines JFEE 462 551
Total Bt 1,108,472 832,054

Non-current assets*

EREBEE*
At 31 March At 31 March
2025 2024
A20255F 20244
3A31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Hong Kong BB 119,186 121,320
The PRC A 274,318 336,781
The Philippines JFEE - 9,784
393,504 467,885
* Non-current assets exclude other non-current assets, long term S FRBDEETBEEMERDEE

EHER - BB ER R B RIEE
RIREE -

deposit, pledged deposits and deferred tax assets.

132 Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 A R A7)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year

FEEXFHNESR

Wz KkoHER &)

RIAEFESASE A WS ARE

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are BI0%HEPWESIAT
as follows:

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Company A’ NG 478,854 N/AZ i 32
Company B’ NGIEY 71,293 N/A 35 F2
Company C' NGIlel N/ATIE F? 107,783
Company D' AR]D! N/AT 3B F? 107,410

KEEREMEARTIESD B RE
BIRD AP S -

! Revenue from both foundation and other civil works and tunneling L
works segments.

REREHHARBZELH KR ZE D
RAEEBWZER10% ©

2 The revenue from that customer was less than 10% of the total 2
revenue of the Group during the respective reporting period.

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 6. Hthlh AR liss
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Bank interest income RITHEHA 6,306 4,908
Gain on disposal of plant and HE#EE R
equipment B LrE 89 105
Gain on termination of lease RS ER
agreement (Note 15 (i) (Bt 3£ 15(i) 3,695 -
Insurance claim REREEE 31 202
Sundry income FIFBA 4,581 2,342
Sales of materials HeEMR 22 7,233
Interest income on pledged deposit B IRF A B A 1,237 1,938
Loan interest income BERF B WA - 257
Government subsidies (note) BT #EBh (K7 aE) 10 =
Service income received from joint B EEB R E N T
operations and an associate (Note 37a)  BRIEW A (#7i£37a) 2,260 3,148
18,231 20,133
Note: oz

HZE2025F3A31HIEFE - AEEGH S
BT REA M E R ERR T LB
10,0007T & P I fE A A AR AR 1 ©

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised government
grant of approximately HK$10,000 in respect of local governments’ offer
for employment incentives with no unfulfilled conditions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BMERAK
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Interests on: B
— bank borrowings —RITEE 1,962 2,205
— other borrowings —HMEE 2,398 3,688
— lease liabilities —fEaE 12,813 8,502
17,173 14,395
8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. FrEHAX
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Current year taxation REFEHIA
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEANIEH 14,901 11,390
Deferred taxation (Note 20) RAEBIIE (K75220) (1,349) (3,423)
13,552 7,967
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 RRBR-_QFNERMEHE - 5 &K
million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed TEHNEBE2EE Ua M MR E
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed & /£8.25%  EBRAM2E & TH
at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, N EY RS B A R16.5% c BLE
Hong Kong profits tax of the qualified entity of the Group is 20254 K2024F3A31H EFE -
calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates AEEEERBTENEEMNEEHR
regime. The profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong B_ANEGBHBEEHNEFTE - T/
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will BEBAEHREHENAREERE
continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%. BEREME S8 5 A i 4 B R R

16.5% H) 8 — B KT o

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise BIEFRZEARLMBECERESHE
Income Tax (the “EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation (¥R EBHZE) NOCEMBHZE
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for EHIEG AEMEB AT MEFE
both years. Accordingly, provision for PRC Enterprise Income BB 2 /25% o B UL - BE A BB
Tax (“EIT") for the PRC subsidiaries is calculated at 25% on NAIMPBECEMESHR ((RERE
the estimated assessable profit for the year. No PRC EIT has Bl BERF ARG ERT R &
been provided for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 25%5T & © B E=2025%F &2024F3 8
as the assessable profits are absorbed by unrecognised tax NBIEFE ARERTEFNE B
losses. AERBIIEE B R - S EEHR
R B {h S PTIS T B E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 8.
Under the Philippines National Tax Law, the tax rate of the
Philippines subsidiary is 30%. Accordingly, provision for the
Philippines Corporate Tax for the Philippines subsidiary is
calculated at 30% on the estimated assessable profit for the

year.

No Philippines Corporate Tax has been provided for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 as the Philippines subsidiary
did not have any assessable profits subject to Philippines
Corporate Tax. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the

Philippines subsidiary have been disposed.

The tax charge (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FrE®iMx @)

RIEERERAREE SERENE
AFHBE B30% - HIt - EEE
WEBARMIERE R A EE DR
4 R T FE SR B R H30%EH & -

HRIERENE QR ETRAM
NERELEBNERDGEF -
It 8 £2024F K2025F3HA318 1k
FREIBARIFEELER -#HE
2025F3A31HILFE  EHEFER
EMEAR -

AEEHREAMX (KR) BES1RE
Ko B b 2 T Wi et 5% P K B 5 AT s )
HERMT

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok v
Profit before taxation R 56 AT g 7 37,817 19,058
Tax calculated at the domestic income 2 & # FT 155 £ 16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% STEETIR 6,240 3,145
Tax effect on share of result of an i —EBE AR EEZ
associate MG 138 409
Tax effect of income not taxable for i EHBERREBAZ
tax purposes Mg E (1,943) (946)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible {75 5 -/~ Al 136 % H 2
for tax purposes Mg & 6,487 5,958
Utilisation of tax loss previously not A BERERH
recognised MIEE 18 - (20)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised ~ REERHIBEBHENHBFE 5,866 2,815
Effect of two-tiers profits tax rates MRFIS TR K G E R 2
regime (165) (165)
Effect of different tax rates of REM AR LS 2 B
subsidiaries operating in other RNAIRIEETEREG 2
jurisdictions or subsidiary subject to MEARTRBE 2
statutory tax rate (3,066) (3,220)
Effect of tax exemption granted (note) ERFIFEE R 2 F L (H1:1) (5) 9)
Income tax expense for the year RNERZFBHAX 13,552 7,967

Note: Tax exemption represents a reduction of Hong Kong Profits Tax
for the years of assessments 2024/2025 and 2023/2024 by 100%,
subject to a ceiling of HK$1,500 (2024: HK$3,000).

Biat - BEIEER % BN 2024%5/20254F %2023
FRO24F R FER100%E 7 F)
B LR AB¥1,5007T (20244F -
FH3,0007T) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. FERF

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

£ [ 5 FI 04830 (BEA) 58 18
EH

136

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Staff costs B TR
— Salaries and other benefits — e REMBET 170,193 157,875
— Retirement benefit scheme —RIKEFIGH IR
contributions 7,335 7,059
— Provision for long service payment ~ — & EAfR % & B & - 255
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ B TAAR A (ZEE&
remuneration (note 10)) (Bt5%10) BRHIN) 177,528 165,189
(Reversal of impairment losses) TREE CREBBRD)
impairment losses of financial BEEE
assets:
— loan and interest receivable —EWE SR RFIE - (595)
— trade receivables —E ZRWFIE (364) 247
— contract assets —EHEE = 135
— other receivables — H ith FEUGRIR (634) (89)
Total reversal of impairment losses of 4 & & 2 (8 &5 18
financial assets e EECE (998) (302)
Depreciation of property, plant and M R REREBINE
equipment 24,528 26,406
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREEENE 4,567 3,609
Depreciation of investment properties & E&#EITE 27,650 39,839
Total depreciation eEBsE 56,745 69,854
Research and development expenses A 255 5% 6,462 2,081
Amount of inventories recognised as R AR EFEES S
an expense 400 =
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR BN & 1,040 1,040
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERITHAT TN
EMOLUMENTS

Bk AR R J\ALL (20244F : S
) EBENMITHBHOFMOT

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight (2024:
nine) directors and the CEO of the Company were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2025 B E2025F3A31HLFE
Non-
executive
Executive directors (6:0] Independent non-executive directors ~ director
gz et BUFHTEE FHES
Mr. Jim Mr. Leung Mr. Wong Ms. Lee
YinKwan, ~ Mr.Chui HungKwong,  Mr.Yan Mr. Lee Mr.Yu  ChiKeung,  Sze Wing,
Jackin -~ Mo Ming Derrick ChiTat  LukShiu  HonKwan Johnny Mabel Total
BARLE BEMAE RPEEE FEERE FRARE REMAE  IZEAE FREat &t
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
E¥Tn  EBTn  EETn E¥Tn E%Tn ¥t ¥t ERTn E¥TR
(note (v))
(&)
Emolumentspaidor ~ SEBALHAL A
receivableinrespect  EWBARTEES
of aperson's senices B SENEH
as a director, whether
of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking
Fees He = - - - 240 240 240 240 960
Other emoluments: ~ E 3 :
Salaries 58 3,010 1,950 1,446 1,850 = - - - 8,256
Discretionary bonus ~~ BfETEAL 600 400 250 600 - - - - 1,850
Retirement RANRRIEBIER
benefit scheme
contributions L} 157 98 166 - - - - 663
Total & 3,852 2,507 1,794 2,616 240 240 240 240 11,729
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10.

EERTHRAEGTM @

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZE20246F3A31B1LFE
Non-executive
Erecutve directors (t0 Independent non-executive directors directors
EGEE fings BUNES HinEs
Mr.Jim Mr. Leung Mr. Wong . Lee
Yin Kiwan, Mr.Chui Hung Kwong, Mr. Yan Mr. Lee MrYu  Chieung, — MrWang — SzeWing,
Jakin-~ MoMing Derrick ChiTat LukShiu~ Hon Kwan Johnny Jan Nabel Total
EREEE  BAMEE  BEREE  EEERE BRARE  REMEE  ITERE  IBRE  2RENL &
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS1000 HK$1000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
M Wi E%Tn BETn BBTr BETn Mt BT BT BETn
(note ) (note )
(k) ()
Emoluments pad or REBALIEATS
recehabl n respect ENBAAEES
of 3 person's sences B
a4 director, Whether
of the Company or it
subsidiary undertaking
Fees %3 = = = = 10 U0 10 - 200 LA
Other emoluments: i
Salaries i 2940 1920 1440 1800 - - - - - 8100
Discretonarybons~—~ BETEAL 500 40 2% 50 - - - - - 1,650
Retrement beneft R REAE BT
scheme contrbutions bEf) 15 9 163 - - - - - (]
Total it 3671 2474 1787 2463 U0 U0 10 - 200 131
Notes: Bt
(i) The discretionary bonus is based on the individual performance of (i) BBEANBEEEZAAREAR

the directors and the Group's performance and profitability and the
prevailing market conditions.

(i) Mr. Yan Chi Tat is also the CEO of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the chief executive.

(iii) Neither the CEO nor any of the directors waived any emoluments
for both years.

(iv)  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors and CEO
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years.

(v) Mr. Wang Jian has resigned as non-executive director on 31 May
2023 and Ms. Lee Sze Wing, Mabel has appointed as non-executive
director on 31 May 2023.
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11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST M. EEHFMAL
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEEBREGESHFMALH  Hi
Group, four (2024: four) of them were directors or the CEO POA (20244 : (U AN) AR QB EE
of the Company whose emoluments are included in note 10 TR - RENFT 2 HER
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2024: one) E XK 10 o F R — B A+ (2024
individual were as follows: F - AN)WEFMOT :
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Salaries, allowances and other benefits %4 - 285 & H {th 18 1,264 1,260
Contributions to retirement benefits 3R RTE FIET 2 2k
scheme 74 66
1,338 1,326
His emoluments were within the following band %2 HH TR R A T EE
2025 2024
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEHA EE#E
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7 #51,000,001T &
75 #1,500,0007T 1 1
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board approved to B ZE2025F3A31RIEFE  EFE
declare a special dividend of HK$0.10 per share, amounting # O Ik 3 5 1% #50.107T &9 R Bl iR
to HK$50,000,000, and approximately HK$48,000,000 B 4858 57 #50,000,0007T © E A
of dividend was paid and remaining balances included in #97% #48,000,0007T K A% B (B IEFT
dividends payable. Up to the report date, the outstanding AERRBMER) BT - B ER
amount have been fully settled. HEEH - REEPHEBHES °
During the year ended 31 March 2024, no interim and final HZE2024%3A310 L FE © B ER
dividend has been proposed nor paid. IR Bk AT B R R EAAR B o
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RARER AEMENERER RS
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the SERF IR T BIEETE

following data:

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Earnings b=
Earnings for the purpose of basic ARETEERELRRFT
earnings per share ) & F 39,846 22,072
‘000 ‘000
T K& F A%
Number of shares RO EE
Weighted average number of ordinary B st EFAIREREF
shares for the purpose of basic B INHE 5 L mARE B
earnings per share 500,000 500,000
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - HBERKRE
Ownership
interests in Machinery
leasehold land Leasehold and Motor
and buildings  improvement equipment vehicles Total
HELHER
BFH
FrEggs HENEEE  BHRERE "E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BRI BB BT BB
osT KA
At 1 April 2023 1202354 A1H 16,679 - 286,685 38,839 342,203
Additions NE - 1,284 7,114 3,552 11,950
Disposals He - - (1,405) (1,531) (2,936)
Exchange realignment B 3% - - (181) 3) (184)
At 31 March 2024 12024%3A318 16,679 1,284 292,213 40,857 351,033
Additions NE 2,800 248 8,058 1,473 12,579
Disposals HE = - - (399) (399)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 39) £ &M B A R (4239 - - (39,241) (724) (39,965)
Exchange realignment 5 R = = @) = @)
At 31 March 2025 12025634318 19,479 1,532 261,028 41,207 323,246
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ E:tHERFIE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4A1H 333 - 236,891 26,926 264,150
Charge for the year FRK 334 159 20,898 5,015 26,406
Eliminated on disposals HERYH - = (1,405) (1,124) (2,529)
Exchange realignment [ i % - - @1 @) (43)
At 31 March 2024 12024%3A31H 667 159 256,343 30,815 287,984
Charge for the year FRNG 392 476 19,131 4529 24528
Eliminated on disposals HER Y = = = (330) (330)
Eliminated on disposals of B M B R 4
subsidiaries (note 39) (H17#39) = = (34,993) (697) (35,690)
Exchange realignment X - = (1 = (1)
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A318 1,059 635 240,480 34317 276,491
NET CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 March 2025 12025434318 18,420 897 20,548 6,890 46,755
At 31 March 2024 20244634318 16,012 1,125 35,870 10,042 63,049
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BB|ERRKRE @
(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Ly ERREZEER DEA
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into account ERECHREGHFBREEER
of their estimated residual values, over their estimated useful BT EEERERAITE :

lives as follows:

Ownership interest in leasehold 2% per annum MEL W REFTH FF2%
land and buildings HHEER
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the term HEMEEB I EF
of lease or 3 years —FEIREE
Machinery and equipment 20% - 33.33% per annum R N 5% BF20%%E
33.33%
Motor vehicles 20% — 25% per annum RE HF20%E25%
15. LEASES 15. HE
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) BFAEEE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Buildings gF 6,931 1,751
The Group has lease arrangements for office properties, AEBEHBAEYE B
site offices and storage area. The lease terms are RERGFHREHELRZY M
generally ranged from one to four years. The lease H—BNF—ZmF - HEN
payments are fixed. KBETEMES -
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year #HE2025F3A31ALEFE
ended 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately CRAREERBERAOBEK
HK$9,747,000 (2024: HK$2,157,000) due to new leases 9,747,0007T (20244 : B ¥
of office properties. In additions, the weighted average 2,157,0007T) + A 1 & 9%
lessee’s incremental borrowing rates applied to the NEWERTE - 5N - 722025
relevant lease liabilities ranged from 6.16% to 7.03% FIA3MA - EARMEEEE
(2024: 5.00% to 7.56%) per annum as at 31 March BEMRE A NEFSIEEE
2025. EFFENF6.16%%£7.03%

(20244 : 5.00%E7.56%) ©
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE @
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Non-current IERE 223,999 270,675
Current e 31,293 22,567
255,292 293,242
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HESEEMNE
2025 2024
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BET T ok e
Within one year —&F RN 31,293 22,567
After one year but within —FAERFEUA
two years 29,441 26,228
After two years but within MFAERFUA
five years 102,974 96,075
After five years AEFLAE 91,584 148,372
255,292 293,242
Less: Amount due for settlement 5 : 71218 A R 2| &4
within 12 months (shown WAL ENEEE
under current liabilities) (MrshaETYR) (31,293) (22,567)
Amount due for settlement after ~ 5\12{& A 14 ZI| &5
12 months WA BN 223,999 270,675
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15. LEASES (Continued)

(ii)

144

Lease liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, included in lease liabilities was an
amount of approximately HK$1,833,000 (2024: nil) due
to a related company. The controlling shareholder of the
Company, Mr. Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin, has beneficial and
controlling interest in the related company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
entered into a number of new lease agreements in
respect of renting office properties (for its own use),
investment properties and recognised lease liabilities
of approximately HK$9,747,000 and HK$20,183,000
respectively (2024: office properties of HK$2,157,000).

Rent concessions and lease modification:

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
received rent concessions in the form of a waiver of
payment during the period of travel restriction measures
introduced to contain the spread of COVID-19.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
received rent concessions in the form of a waiver of
payment due to delay in renovation and operation in
current period.

Additionally, the Group entered into a supplementary
agreement with the lessor for certain of the leased
properties in the form of a rent reduction due to the
current recession in the PRC property market.

These rent concessions do not meet all the conditions
in HKFRS 16.46B, the changes in consideration of lease
contracts that were not part of the original terms and
conditions are accounted for as lease modification.

Accordingly, there is a reduction of the Group’s lease
liabilities of HK$35,360,000 (2024: HK$14,230,000) and
a corresponding adjustment of the same amount to the
investment properties.
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15. LEASES (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Lease liabilities (Continued)
Early termination:

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
early terminated a lease contract, carrying amount of
investment properties and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$13,617,000 (2024: nil) and approximately
HK$17,312,000 (2024: nil) are derecognised respectively,
resulting in a gain on early termination of approximately
HK$3,695,000 (2024 nil) recognised in profit or loss.

15. A€ @)

(ii)

HESE(E)
PRI

B E2025F3 8318 1t F
B AEBRERILIBES
HOREBEYERABEHLEER
13,617,0007C (20244 : /&
BT T)RHEBERBRHAER
17,312,000 (20244 : B ¥
To0) DRI R IR - B EUR
B4 U =5 49748 %5 3,695,0007T
(2024%F : BEE) REB=ENK

Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) REREIANEHE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BYET T BT T
Depreciation expense on ERAEEEDN

right-of-use assets: FrERX :

— Buildings —EF 4,567 3,609
Interest expense on lease liabilites FHE&EZFEHX 12,813 8,502
Expense relating to short-term FHREHEENRAY

leases 180 456

Others (iv) Hftb

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$26,728,000 (2024: HK$21,581,000).

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

H E2025%3A318 ILFE -
HERSRLEEARNBE
26,728,0007T (20244 : & #&
21,581,0007T) ©

HER# 2%
720254 KX2024%3A31H -
REBEARENHEHEEERNE
RSN - T & 9555 02 e N
FRRH - -HEEETBER
BEEREERM -
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REYZE
Total
et
HK$'000
BT
COST AR
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4 /818 419,235
Additions INE 17,663
Lease modification (note 75(ii) MEE R (K72 150)) (14,230)
Exchange realignment PE 5 3 & (23,581)
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 399,087
Additions NE 21,781
Derecognition due to early termination of leases [E$2 F4% |- 10 & 42 ([ #ERR
(note 15(ii) (M2 15(i) (13,617)
Lease modification (note 15(ii) HEBM (A Z150) (35,360)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 8 B (3,892)
At 31 March 2025 7202543310 367,999
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ST E LBE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2023 202354818 24,272
Charge for the year FENBR 39,839
Exchange realignment PE 5 % (1,727)
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 62,384
Charge for the year FEMR 27,650
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss REZERREEE 5,930
Exchange realignment BEE 4, =& (2,257)
At 31 March 2025 72025438310 93,707
NET CARRYING VALUES FREFE
At 31 March 2025 7202593 A31H 274,292
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 336,703
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. REYZE @)

The Group entered into a number of lease agreements in AEERRTEEREERESR
respect of renting warehouses and shopping mall in the VEHHEERZE BEHERHZE -
PRC. Under the lease agreements, the Group is permitted AEBBEKLEEMESHETMA o
to sub-lease the properties to others. These properties BHREDRERBESBEUNEELERS
are classified as investment properties as they are held for WAMmFE At ZEWMESE
generating rental income from sub-leasing in the PRC. RIREME -

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised B ZE2025F3A31HIEFE A&H
additional investment properties amounted approximately MERATILIZ E W 4075 %21,781,000
HK$21,781,000 (2024: HK$17,663,000) which representing 7C (20244 : & #17,663,0007T)
right-of-use assets and renovation costs of approximately Bl AEEE R KAD RI4E
HK$20,183,000 (2024: nil) and HK$1,598,000 (2024: #20,183,0007T (20245 : BT
HK$17,663,000) respectively. Included in the investments JC) K 7% #1,598,0007T (20244 :
properties, certain leased properties of approximately 75 #517,663,0007T) ° 20254 &
HK$55,539,000 (2024: HK$65,380,000) were under 202438310 EREWES -
development (renovation) as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. 497 %555,539,0007T (20244 : B H

65,380,0007C) &/ TE HAEMEIE
EREE (FEE) -

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 REBE KR E Y ER202543 31
March 2025 was approximately HK$329,090,000 (2024: H &) A B %) 7% #329,090,0007T
HK$347,763,000). The fair value has been arrived at based on (20244 : #%347,763,00070) ° &%
a valuation carried out by the directors of the Company. The ATFERBRBEAARESETHMR
valuation was determined by establishing the market value of BESE HEREWKEEAET Y
the properties by using income method. For income method, WmE -BEl=EE EEQFT
it estimates the value of the properties on an open market HEMR FERERKEREHER
basis by taking into the account of the current rent receivables ENENEKASCUAREENES
from the existing tenancy agreements and the vacancy rate EAHARENZEX  2ZH 0
on potential leasable areas of the investment properties by MENTIZHES AT YENEE -

reference to the market rent of comparables.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, an impairment loss of HZE202543A310ILFE AR E
HK$5,950,000 was recognised in profit or loss due to a delay h-IEREMENEE T RTER
in the completion of renovations on one of its investment T - R {E &5 18 7 %5,950,0007T B 7
properties. The valuations took into account the renovation BRAER - HEEZREERR
status, the remaining costs expected to be incurred, and the T8 HA % 22 A B9 FE) R B AN I B2 TS 7 AR
vacancy rate along the remaining lease period. RZEEE o
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of the investment properties as at 31 March 2025 are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs

used):

148

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

16. REWE (&)
TRIBHBER ORI ETE202543 731
BEEMENDAFENER FRIZ
FrfE ARG ERT REA)

Relationship of key
input and significant

Fair value Fair value as at  Valuation Significant unobservable input to
hierarchy 31 March 2025 technique unobservable input fair value
20255 EEN EATENER
3A318M FAEE WAEREEN
DFEER MFE  fEERN BAE FaUBRBAEZBE
Investment properties Level 3 Approximately  Income approach Vacancy rate The higher the vacancy
HK$329,090,000 rate, the lower the fair
(2024: value
HK$347,763,000)
REMR F=/ WEE  WRE EEX EEXEE
329,090,0007T DFEBIE
(2024% :
75 #347,763,0007T)

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

R R T B4 L AR
HRITE

Leased properties Over the lease terms of ranging from HEmE RNF10E125F
10 to 12 years &9 38 EA
17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. R—EBERT 2R
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cost of investment in an associate R—HEEE QAR 2
— unlisted REKA—I LT 44,462 44,462
Share of post-acquisition profit and DEWEEE R T &
other comprehensive income HEab2mE = 21,064 21,920
65,526 66,382
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17.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had interest in the

following associate:

17. R—REEBE QT 2R @)
20254 M2024%3A31H * AEE
SN2 ANEIEZ Z =R S

Proportion of
ownership interests
or participating shares
Countryof  Principal place ~ Class of indirectly held Proportion of voting
Name of entity Form of entity registration  of operation  shares held by the Group power indirectly held  Principal activity
ARERRRAL
fEEREASE BikE
L1 54 L1517 HRER IREENE  FRERGEH R RERLA IREH
2025 2024 2025 2024
Perfect View Incorporated ~~ HongKong ~ HongKong ~ Ordinary 40% 40% 40% 40%  Property development
Enterprises Limited ALz & BE LEk NEER
("Perfect View")
ERLZERAR
(%))

The summarised financial information prepared using HKFRS
in respect of the associate of the Group which accounted for
using equity method is set out below:

BRAARNSENE R E RIS
ABRZERBEMBRE LA RE
M ER B EEI T

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Current assets mENEE 164,122 166,787
Current liabilities mEAE (307) (833)
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
BE2025% B E2024%F
3A31H 3H31H
LFE 1EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
Revenue U 25 2,003 6,025
Loss for the year FREE (2,096) (6,202)
Other comprehensive (expense) AFEEMET (L) K=
income for the year (45) 1,441
Total comprehensive expense AERE2HEMRSER
for the year (2,141) 4,761)
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 17. R—BBE AT 2R 9
The reconciliation of the summarised financial information Ll 27 2 B E R 2 R
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in the NAZ EREENSREINOT

associate is set out below:

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Net assets of the associate B E N AEl 2 BEFE 163,815 165,954
The Group’s ownership interest in REBREERNHERE
Perfect View e % L Al 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group's REBRELRERZD
interest in Perfect View BREE 65,526 66,382
18. INTERESTS IN JOINT OPERATIONS 18. REEXB ZHER
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had interests in the 20254 &2024¢3)5]31 =IIN-S
following joint operations: RTIE SRR
Country of Principal place of  Class of shares Proportion of participating Proportion of
Name of entity Formofentity  registration operation held shares held by the Group voting power held Principal activity
{50 By BLEES IZEERE  FRROEN AEEEE 2 SRR LA REREEHA IRH
2025 2024 2025 2024
Yee Hop-Amain JV Unincorporated ~Hong Kong Hong Kong NA TR 70% 70% 66.67% 66.67%  Construction
(note) (F3F) Ee] 3 B it
Amain-CW Yee Hop IV Unincorporated ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong NA TER 2% 2% 50% 50%  Construction
F1E 3 B it
CWBKYH v Unincorporated ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong NA T ER 15% A 3% NA Construction
F1E B B HER TER  B%
Note: VT
Under the joint arrangement, all decisions on relevant activities required EETHT  IEHREBEEDNREKY A
unanimous vote among joint operation partners on its representative under EE Hﬁ% EHEBEREMHMEEESE THRRE
the board. T—BRE-
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19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19. HtFRBEE
Other non-current assets HittEREEE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Club debenture BEIES 460 460
The club debenture represents club membership in a private BEEEEHIEET S —HLAEL
club with indefinite useful life in Hong Kong and is measured RERFERFHNELBSELIE
at cost less impairment. The directors of the Company consider MABREFE - ARREETRAE
no impairment identified with reference to the second hand RBEHR WEBZEZBLEIE
market price of the club debenture as at the end of the F_F MG ERIERRE -

reporting period.

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 20. EEHEEE (AE)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets T ERERIBEE (AR DM
(liabilities) for the financial reporting purposes: LAMES #5345 g
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Deferred tax assets RIEHIBEE 7,441 7445
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEAR (2,580) (3,933)
4,861 3,512
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) RAFERBEFE BEERNE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and EREMEEE (BB RAZFHW
prior years: T

Accelerated

tax

depreciation Tax Losses Total

DR B IE AT B HiEEE FER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETIT BETIT BT IT

At 31 March 2023 7202343 H31H (5,501) 5,590 89
Credit to profit or loss (note 8) 3+ A8z (H7:£8) 1,583 1,840 3,423
At 31 March 2024 M202453HA31H (3,918) 7,430 3,512
Credit to profit or loss (note 8) 5+ A48%5 (A7748) 1,349 - 1,349
At 31 March 2025 7202593 A31H (2,569) 7,430 4,861
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20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$84,651,000 (2024:
HK$67,180,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$29,723,000 (2024: HK$29,723,000) of such
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of approximately HK$54,928,000 (2024: HK$37,457,000)

152

21.

due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in the tax losses of approximately HK$44,882,000 (2024:
HK$34,557,000) that will expire in 2030 (2024: 2029),
approximately HK$10,073,000 (2024: HK$22,839,000) that
will be expired after three years from the year of assessment to
which they relate to, the remaining tax losses of approximately
HK$29,696,000 (2024: HK$9,784,000) may be carried
forward indefinitely.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the unused tax losses
approximately HK$12,766,000 attributable to accumulated
losses of the Philippines subsidiary have been disposed of
through the disposal (note 39).

20.

EEHEBEEE (BE6) @

RMEAR AEEBEARSABE
&5 18 7% #84,651,0007T (20244 :
#67,180,0007T) 7] A 72 #K 85 K 2Rk
F o BBz EE1E4%51%29,723,000
JC (20244 : B ¥29,723,0007T)
BRELEFIBEE - AR KK R
FRE Al TR ERNE
#54,928,0007C (20244 : & #&
37,457,0007T) HEREER B & E ©
FE#% A20304F (20244 : 20294F) &
B B T B5 48 40 78 #44,882,0007T
(2024% : ##34,557,0007T) F -
#) 75 #10,073,0007T (20244 : &
#22,839,0007T) #% 7F #8 B8 &F Fi
ER=F%IE  ERFEEBEY
75 #29,696,0007T (20244 : B &
9,784,0007T) A] fE PR BRA5 85 o

HE2025F3A31BILEE - ERE
MEBARZ Rt BREAEAE AR
TH &5 18 4975 512,766,000 & i i@
HEHFBEDE (FiFE39) -

TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZRRAIE
2025 2024
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade receivables Z 5 rEWFHIE 137,369 182,337
Less: allowance for impairment loss B OBE IR (49) (1,331)
137,320 181,006

At as 31 March 2025, the gross amount of trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers amounted to
approximately HK$137,369,000 (2024: HK$182,337,000).

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

For construction services, the Group does not have a
standardised and universal credit period granted to its
customers, and the credit period of individual customer is
considered on a case-by-case basis and stipulated in the project
contract, as appropriate. The following is an aged analysis of
trade receivables, presented based on the invoice dates, at
the end of each reporting period, and net of impairment loss
recognised:

21.

B2 EWRIE @)
MREIRAS TS - A B mEe
REBMEEHETHES M5
EEMEEHMEEABRERR
RIERANFHET (WER) - B8
L ERENREEAHLTME
SREWHENRR ST R ERR
HORERIE) 1T

2025 2024

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

0 to 30 days 0£30H 41,779 69,807
31 to 60 days 31260H 75,566 47,881
61 to 90 days 61290H 10,456 37,143
91 to 180 days 912 180H 8,757 8,444
181 to 365 days 1812365H 762 11,825
Over 365 days 3658 LA - 5,906
137,320 181,006

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses
on trade receivables are estimated by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments in the segments of “Foundation and
other civil works” and “Tunneling works”, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group's different customer bases in the corresponding
segments.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting
period.

AEEZAERE2HEREERE
MEBETEE S EBUFBENERE
w-BEHRERENBHREERSR
D2EEBANBERENLR LY
B ANBRTH BRI DTET
et YRBEBANBERE &
BARERMET RN EREENR
kR E B S E A R IERR TS
DESEREN (k-

HRASENBEEEEBELRYT
AR ERHEMERTRE] R[S
TRITAZEF D BBRERDTIFE
BRI - E R A O E RS
TeE—TRAKEHEREDEA D
RAEFEZEERD

WA A R EEH
B mB -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. EZEWRIE®)
The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based & E R R R B &R P 3k IEE R
on individually significant customer or the ageing of customers BEARREFPZEERRERABEBER
collectively that are not individually significant by using a BREZSEBFEBENEHEHEE
provision matrix. [E18 -
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
R

RHERE REAE EBRER fREFE
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000

As at 31 March 2025 M202563A31H BT BET T BT
Current (not past due) BNER (R HER) 0.01% 117,345 3 117,342
Less than 3 month past due BEALR3ME A 0.01% 14,385 1 14,384
More than 3 months but less 1 HAi#2 38318 A (2
than 6 months past due L 6fE A 0.14% 4,839 7 4,832
More than 6 months but less  ##i#AiB61E A8
than 12 months past due D218 A 4.75% 800 38 762
137,369 49 137,320
Individually assessed B B F A N/ATiE A - - =
137,369 49 137,320
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. ESERFRIE @)
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
MEFH
TEHEE X RHAE R RmEFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2024 72024634318 BT T BT BT
Current (not past due) BNER (Ra@Af) 0.02% 117,709 21 117,688
Less than 3 month past due BE D R3ME A 0.05% 53,832 29 53,803
More than 3 months but less ~ #1 E#2:831E A8
than 6 months past due D6lE A 9.07% 3,969 360 3,609
175,510 410 175,100
Individually assessed BRI E1E 13.49% 6,827 921 5,906
182,337 1,331 181,006
The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of trade B o RWHRIEREBRERENES
receivables is set out below: ]ym
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
1 April 4518 1,331 1,084
Disposals of subsidiaries (note) S M B R R (B 7E) (918) -
Impairment losses (reversed) EEE (B E) R
recognised (364) 247
31 March 3A31H 49 1,331
Note: Approximately HK$918,000 loss allowance for impairment loss of Kzt - #975%918,0007T Z & 5 JiE WK 18
trade receivables is attributed to Philippines subsidiary, which was BEEBEREREFEENEA
disposed during the year ended 31 March 2025. 8 Z A A B RE £202543 831

AIEFEHE -
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156

22. INVENTORIES 22. 78
2025 2024
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Raw materials R % 105 =
Finished goods PX o 400
505 =
23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 23. EHNEEREGHNEE
LIABILITIES
(@) Contract assets (a) BHEE
2025 2024
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Analysed as current: DHBRE :
Retention receivables of BERAEDEMRES
construction contracts (note a) (i aza) 131,155 86,507
Unbilled revenue of construction BEREN 7 RBEE
contracts (note b) Wz (K7 azb) 89,028 74,271
220,183 160,778
Less: allowance for impairment loss & : J& (B E5 18 B & (135) (135)
220,048 160,643

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Retention receivables included in contract assets represent
the Group’s right to receive consideration for work
performed because the rights are conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract
assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date
of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on
the service quality of the construction work performed by the
Group. The due dates for retention receivables are usually
one to two years after the completion of construction work.

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the
Group's right to receive consideration for work completed
but not yet billed because the rights are conditional upon
the satisfaction by the customers on the construction work
completed by the Group and the work is pending for the
certification by the customers. The contract assets are
transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group
obtains the certification of the completed construction work
from the customers.
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 23. EHNEEREHNER®
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(@) Contract assets (Continued) (a) BHEE®)
Contract assets are included in current assets as EHNEERRBEENTYIEK
the Group expects to realise these within its normal REARAREEFEHRIETEE
operating cycle. BEANBRZEEE °
The estimated recovery or billing for contract assets as at 20254 K20249F3A318 -
31 March 2025 and 2024 is as follows: B %) & E /& FT U B 2k B B
T :
2025 2024
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Within one year —F R 181,591 141,055
Over one year iR —F 38,457 19,588
220,048 160,643
The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of AHEEREBEREZSDE
contract assets is set out below: FaE ¢
HK$'000
BT
1 April 2023 2023F4H1H =
Amount recognised during the year — F AR L 135
31 March 2024 202443 H31H 135

Amount recognised during the year ~ FRER S5 -

31 March 2025 20253 H31H 135
The Group measures the loss allowance for contract 20254 K20249F3H318 -
assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECL at 31 March AEBZESENEZHBEHEE
2025 and 2024. BENSHEFEANEENS

B -
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 23. EHNEEREHNEEW
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHAEE
2025 2024
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Construction services (note a) BRER (M ita) 40,057 48,043
Premises revitalisation and W EEEL R IR
enhancement 2,074 1,083
Receipts in advance TE U IE 49 -
42,180 49,126

Note: HiaE -

(@)  The excess of cumulative billings for construction work (@) REZEREREIRZFTEAR
over the cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss is BRIFRENBIEREE
recognised as contract liabilities. HEME-

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March @52025%3)% 31‘ BIEFE

2025 that was included in the contract liabilities as at HE 38 B W 3 5F AR 2024 54

AN (== N 2!

1 April 2024 is approximately HK$49,126,000 (2024: A1B®MA i’J BED 7%/% 535

HK$2,658,000). There was no revenue recognised in the 49,1 26'0097E (20244 - &8

current year that related to performance obligations that 2,658,0007T) ° A& ﬁ_fg ¥t i i

were satisfied in a prior year. mEE-—FEEEIENEL

BN -
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24. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 24 ZE - FANRERHEAME
RECEIVABLES/PLEDGED DEPOSIT WIE BIEBER
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables ®BE > ANFIERH b ERIE
The following is an analysis of deposits, prepayments and RERERK - e  BEIRER
other receivables at the end of each reporting period: E A EWRIER AT T

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Other receivables A e W kIR 10,506 7,815
Loss: allowance for impairment loss R E SR BE (195) (829)
10,311 6,986

Deposits %e 15,768 12,873
Long term deposit REEe 11,460 12,786
Prepayments for suppliers L & P O FB 1 FR0E 2,786 4,764
40,325 37,409

Amount shown under non-current A EE N

assets (11,460) (12,786)
Amount shown under current assets ~ RENEEE N4 58 28,865 24,623
The Group measures the loss allowance for deposits and other AEERHEERNREABHREES
receivables at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. There has BREBETERe &k E i &R zIE
been no change in the estimation technique or significant FEIE R o NI E R - fah ik

assumptions made during the current reporting period. (IPEDNEE I3
The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of & N E b E Uk FRIE B R (E RS 18 B
deposits and other receivables is set out below: WHESHOT
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 April 2023 72023F4 /18 918
Decrease during the year F R (89)
At 31 March 2024 7202493 A831H 829
Decrease during the year F AR A (634)
At 31 March 2025 720253 A31H 195
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24. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES/PLEDGED DEPOSIT (Continued)

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
(Continued)
Pledged deposit

Pledged deposit represents deposit pledged to borrower to
secure facilities granted to the Group. Deposit amounting
to approximately HK$39,056,000 (31 March 2024:
HK$39,286,000) have been pledged to secure long-term

160

borrowing amounting to approximately HK$39,056,000 (31
March 2024: HK$39,286,000) and are therefore classified as
non-current assets. The pledged deposit carried fixed interest
rate which range from 4.85% to 5.25% (31 March 2024:

4.85% to 5.25%) per annum.

25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates which range from 0.01% to 0.875% (2024:
0.01% to 1.00%) per annum. It also included time deposits
carry fixed interest rates which range from 2.10% to 5.19%

(2024: 1.80% to 5.70%) per annum.

26. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade and retention payables at

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24,

25.

26.

BE FBANARERHEAME
WFRIE BEBER @)
e EANNRERAEMEKRE
(%)

2EFER
EERFREERTERANE
FABAEBEESHE - OB
39,056,0007C (202493 A31H : 8
#%39,286,0007T) H 17 5k B2 1EH 8 A
Y18 4978 39,056,0007T (202443
H318 : % #39,286,0007T) ) & Hf
BE ARSBEARIRBEE -
11T A B E F T E N F4.85%
%5.25% (2024%3A31H : 4.85% =
5.25%) ©

RITEBRRERES

RITEBBRBEEARTFERAE
BEBAENFTFFE001%E
0.875% (20244F : 0.01%%1.00% )
BREA B - B BIEE B EHT
RN FEFER2.10%%E5.19% (2024
£ :1.80%%5.70%) °

EZENREARENRES®
REBEBA B HEARERE

the end of each reporting period: NRESB T :
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables 2 S EMNRIE 69,311 63,657
Retention payables ERRE® 49,139 41,595
118,450 105,252
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26. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

(Continued)

The average credit period on purchases of goods is from 30
to 60 days (2024: 30 to 60 days). The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are
settled within the credit timeframe. The following is the aged
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date
at the end of the reporting period:

26. ESENREREMRES
(&)
RESSNTFHEESHA30E60AH
(20244 : 30E60H) - " EEE 4l
A BRBREERREAERAARE
NREREEHRAEE RBRE
X ZHREMNRBERZEEE M
BEHERB AN

2025 2024

HK$°000 HK$'000

BETT BETT

0 to 90 days 0£90H 62,464 57,402
91 to 180 days 91%&180H 1,336 3,243
181 to 365 days 181%2365H 1,822 137
Over 365 days 365 A E 3,689 2,875
69,311 63,657

27. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. EETER R E MR T

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Accruals JEETE A 21,350 21,317
Other payables (Note (a)) A FE 1 3008 (B at(a) 11,332 13,070
32,682 34,387

Note: B

a) As at 31 March 2024, included in other payable of approximately
HK$6,318,000 is payable to a director of a subsidiary of the
Company, which is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand. The balance is attributed to Philippines subsidiary which
was disposed during the year ended 31 March 2025.

a)  M2024%3A318 » 475 %6,318,000
TURE fth FE N FRB BIR IR - 5t
BRERERKEBENENARA—
FMBAR —RESEMFIE - &5
REFEENBAR  ZARERE
Z2025%F3A31H L FEHE -
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28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. RITREMEE

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Bank borrowings, guaranteed (note (i) $R1TEE - B &R (H1520)) - 14,903

Other borrowings, secured (note (i) ~ EfhEE - B3I (A7 223)) 39,056 39,286
Other borrowings, unsecured HmEE - B 4 200))

(note (iii)) 53,296 42,702

Total other borrowings HihiE BB 92,352 81,988

92,352 96,891

Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on
demand clause as follows:

REBEEFBBMEATREERDH -
I 2 85 DA TR 42 2 SR E & R

E
A

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within 1 year —FR 89,135 57,767
Between 1 and 2 years —EMF 3,217 37,938
Between 2 and 5 years —ERF - 1,186
92,352 96,891
Carrying amount of bank borrowings — ZBR #&5 B R #E 5+ —
and other borrowings that are FARBEEREE
repayable within one year from the REREERBGRN
end of the reporting period and RITEBERAMEER
contain a repayment on demand ZEEEE
clause - 1,333
Carrying amount repayable within one —ERNEERTE S
year and do not contain repayment RERERERN
on demand clause REE 89,135 56,434
Carrying amount that are not BEAR—FREER
repayable within one year and do TEEREXEE
not contain repayment on demand IERAEREE
clause 3,217 39,124
92,352 96,891
Amounts shown under current RBBEETIIR
liabilities Eoje (89,135) (57,767)
Amounts shown under non-current ERBEEE TR
liabilities ot 3,217 39,124
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28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 March 2024, the bank borrowings of approximately
HK$1,333,000 were denominated in HK$ carrying interest at
variable-rate with an interest rate of 3-month Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 2.75% per annum, guaranteed by
the Company and certain subsidiaries. The balance also consists
of approximately HK$13,570,000 denominated in RMB carrying
interest at fixed-rate between 4.85% and 5.20% per annum,
guaranteed by certain subsidiaries in PRC. The bank borrowings are
also subject to the fulfillment of covenants relating to certain of the
Group's financial ratios. If the Group were to breach the covenants
the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. The
Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. As at
31 March 2025, all bank borrowings were settled by the Group.

(ii) As at 31 March 2025, other borrowings of approximately
HK$39,056,000 (equivalent to RMB36,422,000) (2024:
HK$39,286,000 (equivalent to RMB36,423,000)) are secured
by deposit of approximately HK$39,056,000 (equivalent
to RMB36,422,000) (2024: HK$39,286,000 (equivalent to
RMB36,423,000)) and carried fixed interest rate of 4% (31 March
2024: 8%) per annum. Included in the other borrowings of
approximately HK$35,839,000 (equivalent to RMB33,422,000) will
mature on 18 March 2026 and the remaining of approximately
HK$3,217,000 (equivalent to RMB3,000,000) will mature on 18
February 2027 based on the borrowing agreement.

(i)  The other borrowing from an associate of approximately
HK$53,296,000 (equivalent to GBP5,282,000) (2024:
HK$42,702,000 (equivalent to GBP4,322,000) is unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable within one year.

29. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) JOINT
OPERATIONS/A RELATED COMPANY

The amounts due from joint operations were trade nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
The Group allows an average credit period of 180 days to its
joint operations.

The amount due to a related company was non-trade nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The Group measures the loss allowance for amounts due
from joint operations at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
The management considered that the amounts due from
joint operations to be low credit risk and no recent history of
default, and thus no impairment losses recognised during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

28.

29.

RITREMEE @)

Bz

(i) HR2024F3A31H - 4978 #1,333,000
TTRRITEENEBE =
AREBRITAERE (FEBRT
BEFE]) FFENMN2.75%80F 8 7
R B HAARARETHBAR
BR - SR BIE4 813,570,000
T RAARBEE  RETEFHE
4.85%%5.20%5 B BE T B
BRAIRMEER - AEBERTEEN
BEETEHAEEETHHLEREH
BZFETE o WEAEEERILEZ
% DIRIMBE RS AERERE
B AEBTFHEAR BT ERR
KBS - 20253 A310 ' A& E
EREMARITEE -

(i) #2025%F3H31H - 4975 #39,056,000
T (HE&E N AR¥36,422,0007T)
(2024% : ##39,286,0007T (B E
WA R #36,423,0007T) ) By H &
B B #)% #39,056,0007T (HHE R
AR #36,422,0007T) (20244 :
75 39,286,000t (HHE N AR
36,423,0007T)) W15 SR AEH IR - Wik
[E E FFI %A% (20243 A31H : 8%)
TR BEREEHZ  SEEEME
R #4978 #635,839,0007T (HHE R AR
#%33,422,0007T.) 1% 7202643 5 18H
B HA - ek T 4974 %3,217,0007T (18
BN AR E3,000,0007T) #7202742
A18H B -

iy RE—EBHEARZHEMEBENS
#%53,296,0007T (48 & #5,282,0003%
&5) (20244 : ##42,702,0007T (18
& 704,322,000 £5)) A EIKIE - &
BRER—FANEE -

W () a&EXE —B
BAE 1 Rl FRIR
RUAEEBHREBBSME &
B T B RIBEREE - A%
B THAEEBHI80BNTFHEE
i

et —RERRFIAEIRE S E
B EEH - AR RIEERER

REBAHENI2E ABHEEE
BBt EERALEBTEN
BEEE TEERAE BREE
¥R HENEERREE  BEH
I AR B LR E £2025F
F2024F3A31H EFERITERER
RIEKE -
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30. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

Obligation to long service payments (“LSP") under

Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay LSP to employees in Hong
Kong under certain circumstances, subject to a minimum
of 5 years employment period, based on this formula: Last
monthly wages (before termination of employment) x
2/3 x Years of service. Last monthly wages are capped at

164

post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the
Group's Mandatory Provident Fund contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible
Offset Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable

to an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which will eventually abolish the Offsetting Arrangement. The
Amendment Ordinance will come into effect prospectively
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under the
Amendment Ordinance, the Eligible Offset Amount after the
Transition Date can only be applied to offset the pre-Transition
Date LSP obligation but no longer eligible to offset the
post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP
obligations before the Transition Date will be grandfathered
and calculated based on the last monthly wages immediately

preceding the Transition Date.

The Group has considered the accrued benefits derived
from mandatory MPF contributions that are expected to be
used to reduce the LSP payable to an employee as deemed
contributions by that employee towards the LSP. As at 31
March 2025, the LSP obligation is HK$1,570,000 (2024:

HK$1,570,000) and presented on a net basis.

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & &A% A R A 7

HK$22,500 while the amount of long service payment shall
not exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a

30. RHIREEEE

FREREA THRERKE
(REERKE£])EE
RIEE B A B E57Z CEBIEF) -
AEEEEXEETEATIMNE
HRBse FTEESREE MHEAEXE
BLRF ERBHEARFGE : (&
IHEBA &ZB—EANIE x 2/3
X RBFE - &E—BALIENS
¥22,500L & LR - MRBRSE S
S BT S B %B ¥390,0007T - %2 &
ErEABBEATEMNFEIALR -

BESN - 719954 3 i B0 CoR Bl 1E A FE
EFFEIGIDAFASE A A K E
B s B RS I REAE
fE/BE®K(GEREERIEH
T8 AEEEMNEBNRBR
e ([EERH] -

R2022F6 4178 » 2022F EE &
RIRETEDED R R HE) (BF]) &
By ([EETHRB) FIE - &R
BUBK S & BE - UERTIR B & & K
20255 A 1H ([EH B ) iRk RKiE
FSEAER - BIEUSETIRG) - I8
FIHEMEERBHESEETRAR
EHEEF AN EERESE T
MABAEERKEESBENRE
RIS EMT - LN BHIBATNE
HEBecETBEESHRE MR
BEEEESEBNRE —EANITE
ATE

AEERBEBHARRBRLENES
KRB MO H HERE S HNK
FFEEMZREREZR A%ZIEE R
REIBR T € B4R E 4 3k - 72025
F3A3MB  RERBESELA
75 1,570,000 T (20244 : B &
1,570,0007T) + EI FREE AT TR o
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30. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 30. REIRBEEE @
(Continued)
Obligation to long service payments (“LSP”) under EE(EREMD THRERKE S
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Continued) ((REREL]) EE(E)
Movement of present value of provision for long service RERBSECNREREZH N
payment obligations is as follows: T e
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At 1 April R481H 1,570 1,315
Charged to profit or loss BEENG - 255
At 31 March M3A31H 1,570 1,570
The provision represents the management’s best estimate of BEEEEENREHREAEEH
the Group's liability at the end of the reporting period. As at B EW & EMET o 120259 K&2024
31 March 2025 and 2024, the amount is calculated based on F3A318 - @ENRBETREZR
the principal assumptions stated as below: RETH
2025 2024
Salary inflation rate FE R R 5% 5%
Discount rate PR xR 2.82%-3.63%  3.52%-4.14%
The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of ATENECRENKTHBERG
the defined benefit obligation was carried out as at 31 March BEREEPEBERBR A FR2025
2025 and 2024 by Graval Consulting Limited. The present FN2024F3A31 AT - KB/
value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group was AERAEERERABEAEMLE
measured using the projected unit credit method. FERTE o
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BA&
Number of
shares Share capital
ROEAR B2
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each & IR HE &8 %0.017t Y
ZBER
Authorised ZEE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 R2023F451H ~ 20244F
and 2025 20253 H31H 1,560,000,000 15,600
Issued and fully paid EBTRHE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 FA202344F18 - 20244
and 2025 20253 AH31H 500,000,000 5,000
During the year ended 31 March 2025, 4,960,000 ordinary H E202593A31HLLFE - &
shares of the Company have been repurchased at an = NI N
aggregate cost of HK$9,483,680 held by trustee of the Share 9,483,6807T & [ 78 2 F]4,960,000/%
Award Plan until their release to the beneficiaries upon the TR BEEROEBEREBY T A
vesting of share awards (note 36). These shares are recognised (M 5E36) - s SRM N EZRTE T #E
as shares held for share award plan under equity. RAEBRMDEREFE ZRG -
32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. EXERERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other
borrowings disclosed in note 28, lease liabilities disclosed in
note 15, bank balances and cash disclosed in note 25, and
equity attributable to the owners of Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations
of the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
and new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. €@ T 82
Categories of financial instruments SRMTENDE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Financial assets cREE
At amortised cost (including bank DA S5 R AR B 7R
balances and cash) (BRERTESREER) 378,483 428,613
Financial liabilities =R
Financial liabilities stated at VA S5 K AN 51 TR Y
amortised cost TREaE 251,715 241,114
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERKREEEERBR
The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include TEENFZsHEERBERRE
pledged deposit, amounts due from joint operations, trade EHEFTER EREEEBHRIE -
receivables, deposits and other receivables, bank balances 2 5 EWHIE - ke & E b FE U
and cash, trade and retention payables, accruals and other H RTEB LR EHENK
payables, dividends payable, amount due to a related BEEMRES EHERKREAMW
company and bank and other borrowings. Details of these ENFIE - BRKRE BN —H#E
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The EARREARRITREMEER -
risks associated with these financial instruments included ZESBMITAMNFBERBBN TR
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and WE -HZEZLRTEEBENRR
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are BIET SRR (8% R R =R
set out below. The management manages and monitors these ®)  EERRERBE SRR -
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented AR Z SRR A BUR SN T o
on a timely and effective manner. EREEEERERZEAMEER R

B DAREOR BB R A B T AE T
BEREE -

Market risk e

(i) Currency risk () E%EEk
Each individual group entity has its own functional BEEENSEEEAEEE
currency. Foreign exchange risk to each individual group WL - B RS HE ER
entity arises when transactions or recognised assets or MEEXBENFERINES
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the BNEEBHER SREEER
entity’s functional currency. The Group operates mainly SELIINERR AREEE
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the Philippines. EES  HERIFEFLE
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. €@ T A s
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) s E R ()
(i) Currency risk (Continued) () EEEREE)
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency RiEBE - NEE NS F
denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are BENEEEEMNREBERT -
as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =K
2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BBTrr BETr BET
us$ ETT 900 901 - -
GBP T 36,046 74,519 (53,296) (42,702)
RMB AREE 65,081 73,223 (49,818) (60,957)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to US$, GBP and RMB.

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for US$, as HK$ is
pegged to US$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2024: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2024: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items, and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2024: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates.

A positive (negative) number below indicates an increase
(a decrease) in post-tax profit where HK$ strengthen 5%
against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of
HK$ against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

33.

E@MIA %
MEERETERERKE (&)

Market risk (Continued) B R (E)
Currency risk (Continued) () EEEEE)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BREE DT (B)
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Effect on post-tax profit EfE R el k=
GBP 7 (720) (1,328)
RMB AR (637) (512)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate lease liabilities, pledged deposits
and bank borrowings (see notes 15, 24 and 28 for
details). The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other
necessary action when significant interest rate exposure
is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowing (see notes 25 and 28 respectively). It is the
Group's policy to keep its borrowing at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group's cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR").

() FIFEERE
rEBEHEEHETCEHEES
& BEBERKETEE G
15 B M sE15 ~ 24%28) B9 A F
ENERER - AEE B 57 &
FIRE R - AT BEEE
EEE IR AR - WA TER
IR 8 KA 2 3 B By 2 e L th 4

RRE-

AEBNHEGS BIRTESR K
FERITEENRSRENEX
BB (2 B R 5E25%28) ° A
EEMNBERRFBEESEE
BEREAFEFERRE -

AEEEHRNSEAERNRR
B & L A A MR R 2 & 2 e e
EE—# - AKENRAERE
MEEREZEFREBRT
RZEFES ([EBRITERR
B AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. €@ T R

Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEEERBEK(E)

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued) B R (E)

(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) FIEER (&)
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined A TEBRE ST T ER RS
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative RFETET AN ER e
instruments at the end of the reporting period. The TE o DT TR AR A HA AR 4
analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments AXNERTARBEFE
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were AL - ERHREEZEE
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis points (2024: A B & A = 3 k2 B £ B 101
10 basis points) increase or decrease is used when E 2 (20245 - 10fEE2L) 0
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management oA DIEEREYHNEY
personnel and represents management's assessment of BB # BN E L AT -

the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2024: 10 it K & £ F /T BE101E E 25
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were (20244 - 101 &%) BT AE
held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the year HEERHITE  AAEH
ended 31 March 2025 would increase/decrease by H E2025F3A31HILEFEN
approximately HK$38,000 (2024: HK$46,000). This is BR 1% i B 38 0 OR A &9
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest 78 #38,0007T (20244 : B K&
rates on its bank balances and variable-rate bank 46,0007T) c EEEZRANRK
borrowing. SEEEEGRITARKE BIRTT

fEEM M KRR

Credit risk EERE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s maximum exposure to 202538318 » REBH R KNG
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due BERB(HBBRAEBERZSEHF
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is AEBRITEEMEKITFFIBK) KB
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised FEMBRARMASERRESH
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of BEMKR@DSE -

financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the AEEERBRRERE AEEE
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of BEEERKEBBEECEAEE
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures ERELREMEREF - LER
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue FRERIR A pE Y Bl 8 HR R 7 o BE it
debts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider ME ARAESERALAEEEE
that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced. R E R AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. R T A %)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL
on an individual basis for customer with significant balances
and/or collectively by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate.

The credit risk of other financial assets is managed through an
internal process. The Group closely monitors the outstanding
amounts of other financial assets at amortised costs and
identifies any credit risk in a timely manner in order to reduce
the risk of a credit related loss. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

HMEEREERERBEEE)

FEmE (&)

WEZERBEKARANEEMS -
AEEERBEEVHREEAE
SEHEI AR REMEREER
AEBERBEG - AKERFEEKX
EHRNEFERETRAEEER -
R/RERELEEBERERNUR
BEBAKERETENEBEBEAEMN
A 2 RE R B EREETHE -

HiemMEENEERRERAN
BFERE AEETY) EEREH
A ENEMEREENRER
IR X K B B BEAE B R
R A EERRAARIER - 3Lk
O ARREERRAKEZEER
Rk B AR -

HRRZHFRAGEREENR

BEREENREEFRRT SR
HETHEERRAR -
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

Category
F R

Description

s

BT A
BERBEEREREE (&)

FEmE (&)

72 B [ i 1 1= BB
AEERREERRERERERE
AT R :

Basis for recognising ECL

BIAAHMFEBERNEE

Performing

Rif

Doubtful

Default

[Folt
28

Write-off

For financial assets where there has low risk of
default or has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and that are
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

RELPORBRKEVAEREEERRABEERXR

BRI EERENEREE (BRAFE —BR)

For financial assets where there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but that are not credit impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)

BYAEREEERREEEREMIIFEREE

BENEMEE (BRE ZBR)

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

E-ENZHEEMHHEENMGTRARRERE

EETHZEE - eREENTMAREERE (H

RE=Z[EER)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

EORERABHABARENGTHRE - A

REE Y B RIE R F W

172 Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 A R A7)

12-month ECL

12{8 A FEREEER

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

EHEHEEER -BERRE

Lifetime ECL — credit impaired

E2HMEHEEEE - HREERE

Amount is written off

OB 2



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. R T A %)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets and contract
assets as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
by credit risk grades are disclosed in respective notes.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 49% (2024:
23%) and 80% (2024: 63%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest debtor and the five largest
debtors respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2024
100%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2025.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowing and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights within one year after the reporting date. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derive from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

HkEREERSERBEE)

FEmRE (&)

A& EE G A 1E B R B ()
REENCREENSRNEENE
EBEE ULAEEREERRS
AR B0 K 15 B | B 7 AR 8 B 5 A %
= o

HR49% (20244 : 23% ) K%80%
(2024%F : 63% ) W& 5 EW KA
BIOREKAESERAEBSAR
AARE ﬁk/\a’mlﬁvaﬁ$%%ﬁ
EREERR

AEBZMWEME S HHNEERR
EFRREE  (ER2025F3H31H
5 ENGIBAREE100% (20244 ¢
100%) °

B &L E R
EEEBRSHECRKRE  A5EE
REEFEEERARHANE S R
BELEEY UWAKEENESIE
HES VWRERSTRERIDNF
B EHEERRITERNER
W R B F B FR o

TRALKEEEHE B R IGRD
cREEIMEEABNHR TSR
HE - ZRBREBEAEEATREZRZ
Mo&xFRAPReMBEBERERER
eRERE -BEME BERT
Rl EENREBBE —FRT
8 AR - KA 2K B & RR
MRITEENHAREHEEER e
ZRBENEREATHEME ° 1
&:‘:HHX fIJ'Jﬂ:‘J /T //miﬁj/?ib%Ui
AIRBEIR S BIR B K H -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. €@ T A )
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBELERE (E)
Weighted Within Total
Average  Tyearoron Morethan  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand  1to2years  2to5years Syears  cash flows amount
(EE] FERRE
Liguiditytable nageR it A3HES #EX 12§ 185 s ikt 3 KEE
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
ERIn MR EHTn ERTn L E ERTn
At31 March 2005 R5£3A31H
Trade and retenton payables BHEMZERENRESE  NATER 118450 - - - 118450 118450
Accruals and other payables BB RRAMERHE NIATER 3,682 - - - 32,682 32,68
Amountduetoa elted ompany B -BEENFE NIA TER 6,231 - - - 6,31 6,31
Diidend payable EfRE NATER 2000 - - - 2000 2000
Bank and other borrowings BREtEE 400t0% 7.00 9,802 3581 - - 9423 92,352
254205 3581 - - 251,186 BAS
Lease iabilties HEEk 5.22107.66 am 317 130532 103,346 324,106 215529
At31 March 2024 R0uE3A31 R
Trede and etenton pajebes BARNTERENRES NATER 105,252 = - - 105252 105252
Accruals and other payables B ERRAMENA NARER 34387 = = = 34387 34387
Amountduetoa e ompany B -BEEATZE NATER 4584 = = = 4584 4,584
Bank and other borrowings BhRAMEE 4850% 800 61,182 40809 1235 - 103226 96,891
205,405 40809 1235 - 27449 21,114
Lease e L 27010788 387 3855 129435 171,757 33534 2934
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e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. €@ T A s
Financial risk management objectives and policies HMERREEEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Fair value measurement objective and policies RFETERBERKE
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are THMEEREMABBENAFEDLR
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing BAREEBEN BREEAEBEHK
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices AERBEBEMSER 5 ME B AH
or rates from observable current market transactions as input. BHARBERES M METE -
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the management ERAESE —RBASE: ER
establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for }E t A E R (A E R R A SR
fair value measurement. ATEAFME-
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying RAAREERR  REEUVB@mEK
amounts of other financial assets, and financial liabilities NIREBHA A AR At/ EE
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial RemaEnREmEaEE R FEE
statements approximate to their fair values. Ao
34. COMMITMENTS 34. EIE
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T

Capital commitments contracted for — BtLA T &IBR 4GS BITE
but not provided in the consolidated ¥z 2 5] 1B R B E Y

financial statements in respect of: B AR
— Renovation of investment —BETIR A E
properties 13,390 32,376
— Acquisition of plant and — W A B K SR A
equipment - 829

13,390 33,205
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

35.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had provided
the following guarantees:

35

RAREE
RIBEIK - AREIEH L THRR

176

36.

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Guarantees in respect of performance FtEARFNHEEZF
bonds in favor of its clients "X AER 150,819 81,452

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it was not
probable that a claim would be made against the Group under
the performance bonds guarantees.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
Equity-settled share option schemes of the
Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a written resolution of the Company
passed on 25 November 2015 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees,
and will expire on 24 November 2025. Under the Scheme,
the board of directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible employees, including directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant
share options to outside third parties for settlement in respect
of goods or services provided to the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue during any 12-month period, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders.

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 A R A7)

36.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 36. U AERBNIARS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes of the
Company (Continued)

Options may be exercised at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from
the offer date subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof, and provided that the Board may determine the
minimum period for which an option has to be held or other
restrictions before its exercise. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share option has been granted since the Scheme has been
adopted. As at 31 March 2025, there are no outstanding
share options issued under the Scheme (2024: nil).

Share Award Plan

The Share Award Plan is operated through a trustee which
is independent of the Group and has the right to, among
other conditions, in its sole discretion, determine whether the
shares are to be purchased on or off the Stock Exchange from
time to time, unless during the period at which the directors
of the Company are prohibiting by the Listing Rules or any
corresponding codes or securities dealing restrictions adopted
by the Company.

The directors would notify the trustee of the Share Award Plan
in writing upon the making of any award to any participants.
Upon the receipt of such notice, the trustee would set aside
the appropriate number of awarded shares in the pool of
shares. No new shares would be allotted and issued to satisfy
the awards made under the Share Award Plan.

As at 31 March 2025, no participant has been awarded any
share under the Share Award Plan.

(#8)
RAABHNKRESEERET S
(#&)
BEEIRESGUEEENHME
AERBETE ETSEBRRLY
BHRE R+ F (AT EGSUR AT
1) ANEESrEERREET
R A7 558 B0 5 72 HA R S L R I -
TEERARRESFEE AT E
BERAT&EE : (AR RBRNDRE
HEHKHE: (D REER
th B # AT R A& X B &Py WmiE
R (i) B BAD O E{E -

ERAE O s g 3
20253 8318 © RIEZT S &
BB T MR TTE 2 BB R4 (20244 -

F) -

IR 17 B at &

Bin 2R EEE — EBLR AR
BEA%E (HE+ %) aTRER N
TERBIMEER BRIERRARAF
EEREBELEMRUMARARAZ
R A8 & /0 <7 B X B B 78 55 O R
ZILEERND) XFEAERE -

EEREM2EEFLEREK &
LA m 2R AR ) 2R By et B Ay 2
A ZEAREZBHR Kt
Bt 4 & o B HE E 2 A /Y R AR
0 o B1 1~ & 3 B 17 22 B &t S 4F i /Y
BR RN AC B SR BT RIANAD ©

M2025F3A310 @ E 2 EERE
R 17 B2 B 5t 2 E AT A %D ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BB AR B
(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial (a) B4 HRERNEMM 5

statements, during the year, the Group entered into
transactions with related parties as follows:

BEI AEERFRNERBER
HEIML NS

Related party Relationship Nature of transaction 2025 2024

B 2fEA REME

HK$°000 HK$'000
BETR BETT

Hong Kong Qing Chuang Limited Note | Loan interest income

BEEBRIBRAA Bt EECIISUON

Windmill Street Development Limited ~ Associate Service income
/N AR YA

Yee Hop — Amain JV Joint operation  Service income
REEH PRESWA

Pioneer National Development Limited  Note i Rental payment

HEZREBEAA Bt XS

Note:

The above transaction was conducted at terms determined
on a basis mutually agreed between the Group and the
related parties. The directors of the Company have control
and direct beneficial interest in the above mentioned related
parties.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b)

The directors of the Company consider that they and
one employee are the key management personnel of the
Group. Other than remuneration paid to the directors
of the Company as disclosed in note 10, the Group paid
compensation to one key management personnel during
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, details of
which are disclosed in note 11.
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e M RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

38. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 38. EIRE RIS

Defined contribution plans RAEMKEE

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees TEEBRREEMBEEARKERR
in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately VoREEE A FEEEREAE
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of BESHBFE BIFEAZEGNE
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, CEE ASEHZEBEIEXEH
capped at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which 5% (LR &S A% %1,5007T) M58
the contribution is matched by employees. BestEEHER - MEENER

e 2 AR AR ©

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in the BREFHEHEERMAT  ~&5E
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this country participate RSB B A B2 EEE BT R
in respective government retirement benefit schemes (the KBTS (&) - &t WE
“Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to ARIAMGEER REEKESR
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of BRARBFIREES - TEIHRTY
the eligible employees. Contribution made to the Schemes is 1R 3% B 2 SROPT R RE B9 3 PR 3 B K
calculated based on the certain percentages of the applicable AHETEALFE - KEEHF
payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements in the g —EERBEEINFHE
PRC. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the PR

Schemes is to pay the ongoing required contribution under the

Schemes.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in BEGEREEBRERMNMEE A&
the Philippines, the subsidiary of the Group in this country ERABEMNKEBAR2EEELEE
participates in respective Social Security System (the “System”) REBX(BRD Bt -WBELQ
whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the RIARBRER  REERKREEDN
System to fund the social security benefits of the eligible HEREBRREHES BRHX
employees. Contribution made to the System is calculated TIRIBSERE E KRR T HE R F
based on the certain percentages of the applicable payroll M AMETEDLETE - ANEE
costs as stipulated under the requirements in the Philippines. HEZNE—STEBRBEERI(N
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the System is FEFTE AR o

to pay the ongoing required contribution under the System.

The total cost charged to profit or loss amounted to H E202543A31BILFE - Ri8
approximately HK$7,998,000 (2024: HK$7,710,000) for z FBR B9 48 A 78 4976 6 7,998,0007T
the year ended 31 March 2025. The payment represents (20244 : & #7,710,0007T) ° % &
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in FIB A& B 5 A2 5 B E RN Z
respect of the current accounting period. ZETEIR MR -

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group RELE20254F &2024F3 318 IEF
has no forfeited contributions from the pension schemes B AEBWERBRAKEETER
(i.e. contributions processed by the employees who leave the B HER (BIR T2 mB & 2 Al
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contribution) available BFFTEIMEEMEENET) ATA
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future RBLDERKRKFERRAKSEE
years. e
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e VIR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEMELQF

Disposal of Furen Asia Ltd and its subsidiaries HERETMNERATRENE
NG

On 28 March 2025, the Group entered into a sales and M2025F3728H  AEFEH—F
purchase agreement with an independent third party to BYE=FFVEEHHE LB
dispose of the 100% equity interests in Furen Asia Ltd and S RES XLLE 10,0007 &=
its subsidiaries, Full Tech Equipment and Machinery Inc., at EDMNBRA R REME R AR
cash consideration of an aggregate amount approximately Tech Equipment and Machinery Inc.2
of HK$10,000 and the amounts due to the group companies 100%& # - i A ST H E & 2 7
of approximately HK$37,037,000 were waived by the Group % AEBEREENESEQARZR
upon completion of the disposal of subsidiaries. The disposal T8 49 7 37,037,000 - B EE R
was completed on 28 March 2025. 20253 H28H 7T/ ©
The net liabilities of the disposal group at the date of disposal HESERHEEHNEEFEDN
were as follows: T 8
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: KEEGIEZEERBED T

28 March 2025

202543 H28H
HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment L E - S 4,275
Bank balances and cash MITRBR KRR S 171
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables B - FARTRIE R H b & W KIE 61
Trade payables 2 5 FE IE (2,397)
Other payables H fth FE A /I8 (6,318)
Amount due to fellow subsidiaries B R RH B A RIFIA (37,037)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEaEFH (41,245)
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eV RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=202543A31HIEFE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Disposal of Furen Asia Ltd and its subsidiaries

(Continued)

39. HEMEB QT (&)
HERETHERATREME

~ A (&)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HE B ARz Y
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration RERE 10
Waiver of amount due to fellow subsidiaries e X NN =N Oz (37,037)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBEFE 41,245
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of ~ HEM B AT EH S EH
the net assets of the subsidiaries reclassified MEBAREEFENRR
upon disposal of subsidiary R 76
4,294
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HERESNIRES T EFE
HK$'000
T T
Cash consideration RERE 10
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances B BRekBeEEYAREE
disposal of 171)
(161)
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. 71 7MY B IS AR R 3R
THE COMPANY

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—FEBARMNIEE 14,808 14,808
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NN S
(note a) (Kiita) 108,449 112,059
Prepayments B RIE 130 133
Other receivables H b W 308 492 -
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB NI S 2,260 371
111,331 112,563
Current liability nEEE
Other payables and accruals H b IE K e & A 605 625
Dividends payable FERTAR B 2,000 -
2,605 625
Net current assets REBEEZFE 108,726 111,938
Net assets EEFE 123,534 126,746
Capital and reserve EAXR#E
Share capital R AR 5,000 5,000
Reserves (note b) s (B 7tb) 118,534 121,746
Total equity SR 123,534 126,746
Notes: Kzt -
(@)  The amounts are unsecured, non-interesting bearing and repayable (a) BHEZIEAEEE 8 RIRERE
on demand. BiE -
(b) Movements in reserves (b) R
Retained
Shares held earnings
Share Merger for share  (Accumulated
premium reserve award plan losses) Total
RRPEETE RERF
RAEE X BEZRB  (RiER) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BETL BETT BETTT BETTT

As at 1 April 2023 #2023F4A18 112,583 14,808 - (5,515) 121,876
Loss and total comprehensive FRABERZEMI

expense for the year ek - = = (130) (130)
As at 31 March 2024 R2024%3A31H 112,583 14,808 - (5,645) 121,746
Profit and total comprehensive FREFRZERX

expense for the year ek - - - 56,272 56,272
Dividend recognised as distribution ~ HE:RAEEE R B

(Note 12) (Hiz#12) - - - (50,000) (50,000)
Purchase of shares under share RERG 2B E

award scheme (Note 31) BERG (Wi231) - - (9,484) = (9,484)
As at 31 March 2025 ®202543A318 112,583 14,808 (9,484) 627 118,534
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z2025F3 831 H IEFE

41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. XRRIEEHE A A
COMPANY
Place of Percentage of equity interest and
incorporation/ Place of Issued and fully paid voting power attributable
Name of subsidiaries gﬁ%sﬁlyent operation share capital/registered capital to the Company Principal activities
WEARER AufeE Seud BERARARRA/ERER ARREFRERRARR AL 34
2025 2024 2025 2024

Direct  Indirect  Direct Indirect

B B ER MR

Yee Hop Engineering HongKong ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100% Engineering and
Company Limited HK$14,800,001 HK$14,800,001 construction
FAIERRAA B B ERREY LERES - 100% - 100% IRREE
14,800,017 14,800,001
Yee Hop Construction Company ~ HongKong ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100% Construction
Limited HK$1,000 HK$1,000 contrating
AREARAA Bk B ERRER000T  ERIER1,0007 - 100% - 100% BEES
Y. H. Foundations Limited HongKong ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100% Engineering and
HK$1,000 HK$1,000 construction
ZoMERRAA B 30 ERRER000T  ERIER1,0007T - 100% - 100% IRREE
Absolute Pure EnvirSci Limited HongKong ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 65% - 65% Research and
HKS$1 HKS$1 development
of speciality
biochemical
and biomedical
products
Absolute Pure EnviroSciLimited & Bk sERARIT  BRREBIT - 6% - 6% ﬁﬂ%f;fﬁ%é%g%
RENEEER
YH Qing Chuang Limited ("YHQC") HongKong ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 70% - 70%  Investment holding
HKS$1 HKS 1
AFHERAD(B4FEM) FE Bk BRREEIT  BRREMIT - 0% - 0% RERR
Full Tech Equipment and Philippines Philippines Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - - - 100% Provision of logstic
Machinery Inc. (Note 39) PHP21,250,000 PHP21,250,000 services to
construction and
mining sites
Full Tech Equipment and Machinery 2% ez LEH21250000 21,250,000 - 100% - 100% MEERFEME
Inc. (#39) FRENER FRENR AR
Guangzhou Qingchuang Heaven ~ PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 RMB20,000,000 - 63% - 63%  Premises
and earth Commercial Operation revitalisation and
Management Co., Ltd.* enhancement in
ENEEIRHAREEER the PRC
R 1ote o) ) ) \
ENBERMERERER PE i AK820,0000007C AKE20,000,0007 - 6% - 6% RPEMRREL
BRARWHa) Rt
Guangzhou Qingchuang ideal PRC PRC RMB15,000,000 RMB15,000,000 - 70% - 70%  Premises
Commercial Operation revitalisation and
Management Co,, Ltd * enhancement in
ENEEREAzEEER the PRC
BB A (ote 3) . o ~
ENEAEEARERER  4E E AEH15,0000007 AR15,0000007 - 0% - T0% RYEMRE
ERRAWe) R
Guangzhou QingChuang Wangdi ~ PRC PRC RMB7,000,000 RMB7,000,000 - 63% - 63%  Premises
Commercial Operation Management revitalisation and
Co,, Ltd* enhancementin
EMEEtEE the PRC
BEERERDA note () N ~ \ .
EMEEM AR ERER R hE AR%7,0000007  ARH7,0000007C - 6% - 63% RPEZNEEL
ERAR (W) R
Guangzhou Yihe QingChuang PRC PRC RMB3,500,000 RMB3,500,000 - 70% - 70%  Premises
Commercial Operation Co., Ltd.* revitalisation and
%ﬂ\“\%{ﬁﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁ% RAH er?hancementin
note (g the PRC
f%%%é%éﬂﬁ-ﬁ%%@%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ hE hE ARH#35000007  ARH35000007 - 70% - 0% m;%m%m
1), £
*  Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only. * R AEEEEMSE -
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

(@  These entities are registered as a private limited company under the
PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To

184

give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other
subsidiaries that are not individually material to the Group. The
principal activities of these subsidiaries are investment holding
and inactive. A summary of these subsidiaries are set out as
follows:

41. AATFTEME QT (&)

Hiaz

() “%EERBRETBEEFZZLA/LA
BROQA -

ARREERR  ERINEAKE
MHBRAREIEZFEAKBNEE
KEERAB - ARAESFRAR
REEMHBARNFBESEEF
BILE -

RBEHR  AKEEHEEHAKE
M= @B TERNEMMBAR -
ZEMBRAAMIEXEB /KR ER
BETER ZEWNBARMER
FIaw

Number of subsidiaries

MEARHE
Principal activity Principal place of
FTEEK business TEEEii 2025 2024
Investment holding - Hong Kong — &5 4 4
— The British Virgin —HBRTEHS
Islands (the “BVI") ((XBEZHEE] 8 8
Inactive - Hong Kong —&E 5 4
—The PRC — 2 1
~The BVI —HBEXEE 1 1
- Vietnam — i - 1
- Macau — B 1 1
21 20

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
subsisting at the end of both years or at any time during both
years.
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group that has non-controlling interests that are
material to the Group:

41. XATEEME AT (&)

TRITHAUAEET=BEA
7 SRR S 0 7R 5 L 3E 2 A Y B
NCFAIE

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Proportion of ownership  Proportion of voting power

principal place of interest held by held by non-controlling Loss attributable to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests interests non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
AR/ A FERERHEN FERERREN
HEAREHE REEEXME FfEZRELA REELA FEREREGER 2t FERER
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
% % % % HK$'000 HKS'000 ~ HKS‘000 HK$000
E¥Tn A%t BETR B%Tr
YHQC Hong Kong 30% 30% 30% 30% (9,384) (9356)  (7346)  (1819)
258 Bk
Individually subsidiaries with
immaterial non-controlling
interests (6,197) (1,625) (7.823) (1,625)
FERERNEAM B
HEBAT

(15,581) (10,981) (35,169) (19.819)

BEHASEBEAFERERN
EREENBRARNMBEERRE
(Rt EERARIBEHE) -

The summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that
are material to the Group, before intragroup eliminations:

YHQC and its subsidiaries EERIREHWB AR

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Non-current assets FEMBEE 293,210 356,998
Current assets BN & E 53,865 61,411
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (253,969) (309,116)
Current liabilities mEE & (182,274) (172,416)

Equity attributable to owners RNTHEB AEGERE

of the Company (61,822) (44,929)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R E = (27,346) (18,194)
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41, ZARTER BT @)
COMPANY
YHQC and its subsidiaries (Continued) EFRIRENE AR (&)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

HZ2025% BZE20245F

3A31BALLEE 3A3ALFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

Revenue & 27,963 15,122

Expenses F% (55,398) (38,685)

Loss for the year FRNEE (27,435) (23,563)

Loss attributable to owners of the Company AR A AEIEER (18,051) (14,207)

Loss attributable to non-controlling interests — FE¥EAXE i B (5 512 (9,384) (9,356)

Loss for the year FNEE (27.,435) (23,563)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) RRBIEBEAEGHEMER

attributable to owners of the Company WA (FX) 1,158 (1,634)

Other comprehensive income (expenses) FEEREREOEMER

attributable to non-controlling interests WA () 232 (1,332)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) REEEME2EBA (FX)

for the year 1,390 (2,966)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable ARARBEEANEEZERX

to owners of the Company k] (16,893) (15,841)

Total comprehensive expenses attributable SEERE R 2 E A Y

to non-controlling interests Fiak (9,152) (10,688)

Total comprehensive income for the year FAETEBALE (26,045) (26,529)

Net cash inflows from operating activities REEBMERERATE 23,519 18,966

Net cash outflows used in investing activities & /ESFTAE & F L F4E (24,475) (20,715)

Net cash outflows from financing activities BMEEHMERES ML FE (5,699) (1,005)

Net cash outflows Remd 58 (6,655) (2,754)
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.

42. MEEFHELE Z2REHK

TR AEERERHELEZE
EEBHHE BRRERERSE
HRMETDELECABERBERX
HERNBERRGEERERERR
BERRELTBRERNZETAE -

For the year ended 31 March 2025: B E2025F3A31HLLFE :
Non-cash changes
#7898
Termination
Financing ~ Finance costs oflease  New lease lease  Disposal of Exchange
1142004 cash flows incurred ~ arrangements  arrangements  modification  subsidiary  realignment  31/3/2025
WUE FELHE  ALEE 20055

4318 RERESRE A LE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
BRTR BT RWTR ARt

FRERE  HEER HEWELE Eia 38318
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BRI AR RWTR BT RWTn

Bank and other ROREMES

borrowings (note 28 (#28) 96,891 (5411) - - - - - 872 92,352
Interest payable EABEGIAE
(included in Acruals BB RAEME
and other payables)  1308) 1417 (3422) 4,360 - - - - - 235
Amount due to R —EREAR
adirector of a —LEENHE
subsidiary (incuded ~ (;f AEZFER
inAcruals and other AL M E)
payables) 6,318 - - - - - (6,318) - -
Amount due to a Eft-EEEAH
related company B 4,584 1,647 - - - - - - 6,231
Lease liabilities HEAR 293,242 (26,548) 12813 (17,312) 29,930 (35,360) - (1473) 255,292
402,452 (33,734) 171713 (17312) 29,930 (35,360) (6,318) (601) 356,230
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 2 MEFTHELEZEGHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued) (%)
For the year ended 31 March 2024: B E2024F3A31HLLFE :
Non-cash changes
FReEH
Financing Finance New lease Early Exchange
11412023 cash flows  costsincurred  arrangements  termination  realignment 31/32024
2023 FMELRE 2024
1R RERLRE KA HEERE REKIL BB 3A31A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BRI BETT BETT BETTT BETT
Bank and other borrowings 17 R E M EE
(note 28) (Hr7228) 122,259 (22,957) - - - .411) 96,891
Interest payable (included ~ FEFH RS (G ATERH
in Accruals and other ERRA MR
payables) HIA) 479 (4,955) 5,893 - - - 1417
Amount due to a director of  [Eff— M B AT
asubsidiary (includedin ~ —ZEZHZE
Accruals and other GIABERR
payables) HibfEfRz08) 6,597 (279) - - - - 6,318
Amountdueto arelated  [Ef—FEEEAR
company 2B 3,49 1,090 - - - - 4,584
Lease liabilities HE&RE 336,470 (21,125) 8,502 2,157 (14,230) (18,532) 293,242
469,299 (48,226) 14,395 2,157 (14,230) (20,943) 402,452
43. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 43. TEFRER S

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group entered
into new arrangements in respect of office properties.
Right-of-use assets, investment properties and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$9,747,000 (2024: HK$2,157,000),
HK$21,781,000 (2024: nil) and HK$29,930,000 (2024:
HK$2,157,000) respectively were recognised at the
commencement of the lease.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group early
terminated a lease agreement in respect of investment
properties and lease liabilities of approximately HK$13,617,000
(2024: nil) and HK$17,312,000 (2024: nil) respectively were
derecognised as at termination date.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group entered
into a supplementary agreement with the lessor in the form
of a rent reduction and received rent concessions in the form
of a waiver of payment on certain lease premises. There is a
reduction of the Group's lease liabilities of HK$35,360,000
(2024: HK$14,230,000) and a corresponding adjustment of
the same amount to the investment properties.
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFHBEESE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS RE¥E
For the year ended 31 March HE3IANBILFE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BB BB EBTT
(Re-presented)
(EFZ)
Continuing operations FEREEY
Revenue Iz 1,108,472 832,054 707,799 736,003 863,865
Cost of revenue e ® (971,428) (738,831) (631,589) (632,069) (764,088)
Gross profit e 137,044 93,223 76,210 103,934 99,777
Other income and gain Hp A R Mz 18,231 20,133 26,128 9,597 40,829
Administrative and other expenses 7Bt E B (95,067) (76,231) (75,321) (66,087) (68,592)
Selling and distribution expenses & k2 #5H & (3,742) (1,493) (928) (223) -
Reversal of impairment loss SREERDEE
(impairment loss) of financial EECREESE)
assets 998 302 511 (2,437) (559)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN BRI 4,294 - - - =
Impairment loss on investment RENERERE
properties (5,930) - - - =
Share of result of an associate NME—FABEATEE (838) (2,481) 1,739 3,574 19,024
Finance costs AR (17,173) (14,395) (27,057) (7,101) (4,804)
Profit before taxation BR AT AT A A 37,817 19,058 1,282 41,257 85,675
Income tax (expense) credit R (ELHES (13,552) (7,967) 2,611 (8,251) (7,012)
24,265 11,091 3,893 33,006 78,781
Discontinued operations BAILER
Loss for the year from BRIEEBZEN
discontinued operation B8 - - - (16,141) (40,511)
Profit for the year R 24,265 11,091 3,893 16,865 38,270
Other comprehensive income FRNEMZERE
(expense) for the year (%) 1,619 (4,748) (5,839) 90 17,815
Total comprehensive (expense) FR2E D) HE
income for the year k] 25,884 6,343 (1,946) 16,955 56,085
As at 31 March M3H31R8
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI T EETT BT BETT BETT
Non-current assets FRBEE 451,921 527,862 603,941 486,640 505,172
Current assets MEAE 551,840 547,741 452,041 391,231 460,793
Current liabilities MEEE (326,725) (280,955) (193,035) (149,467) (328,957)
Net current assets mBEETE 225,115 266,786 259,006 241,764 131,836
Total assets less current liabilities & Z&E & ZE )
afE 677,036 794,648 862,947 728,404 637,008
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (231,366) (315,302) (389,944) (254,226) (193,199)
Net assets EEFE 445,670 479,346 473,003 474178 443,809
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In this annual report (other than the Independent Auditor’s Report
and Financial Information), unless the context otherwise requires,
the following expression shall have the following meanings:

“2025 Financial Year”

“2024 Corresponding
Year”

“"AGM"

“Articles”

“Birmingham Property
Project”

“Board”
"BV
“CG Code”

"Company”

“connected person(s)”

“Controlling
Shareholder(s)”

“Directors”
“GBP"
"Group”

HHK$H

190

for the year ended 31 March 2025

for the year ended 31 March 2024

Annual general meeting of the Company

the Articles of Association of the
Company, as amended from time to time

a project for the development of a
residential property which consists 304
apartments situated at Windmill Street,
Birmingham, the United Kingdom

the board of Directors of the Company
the British Virgin Islands

the Corporate Governance Code

Yee Hop Holdings Limited, an exempted
company incorporated in Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the shares of which

are listed on the Stock Exchange

has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules

has the meaning ascribed thereto under
the Listing Rules and, in the context of
the Company, means each of Mr. Jim,
Mr. Chui and JJ1318

the director(s) of the Company

British Pound, the lawful currency of UK

the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong
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EHAE
“Hong Kong” or “HK"

“JJ1318"

“Listing”
“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”
“Mr. Chui”

“Mr. Jim"”

“pHP”
“PRC”
"Prospectus”
"RMB”

"SEQ”

“Share Award Plan”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

JJ1318 Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI, is wholly
owned by Mr. Jim and is a Controlling
Shareholder

the listing of the Shares on the Main
Board on 18 December 2015

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

the main board of the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming (R ELRA), an Executive
Director and a Controlling Shareholder

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin (E#Ef), an
Executive Director and a Controlling

Shareholder

Philippines Peso, the lawful currency of
the Republic of Philippines

The People’s Republic of China

the prospectus in relation to the Shares
Offer of the Company dated 8 December
2015

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong)

the share award plan adopted by the
Company on 17 April 2024

(&%)

[11318]

[£7]

[EmARA

EW

[ A]

(R

(B4

[FFRERR]

(B

[ARER]

(AR

(&5 LB A

[Btn =t 3]

FEEERAITHE

J1318 Holdings Limited * %
HERZESTMBEIHA
A mELEEREHBYA
ERBRR

W R2015F12 8188 £ £
sl

BRmER LmHRA

B ER

IHBETAESETESFR
HHREST A

RERARLE BRTEER
ERER

EREAL RUTESR
BRRAR

FE AR
ANFBHHA2015F1288
BEBERMBEENARER
FEAEERARE

BEREDENEES RS

1B

ARERN2024E45178 1
RV 1D 2B T 2
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“Share Option Scheme”

"Shareholder(s)"”

“Shares”

“Shares Offer”

“Stock Exchange”

“Yee Hop
Construction”

“Yee Hop Engineering”

the share option scheme adopted by
the Company pursuant to the written
resolutions of the Shareholders of the
Company passed on 25 November 2015

holder(s) of the Shares of the Company
from time to time

Shares issued by the Company, with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each

the public offer and placing of totalling
125,000,000 new Shares of the Company
at the offer price of HK$1.00 under the
Prospectus

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Yee Hop Construction Company
Limited (EAEZEABR AT, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company

Yee Hop Engineering Company Limited
(EATREBMRAA), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company
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